ON RECONSTRUCTION THEOREMS IN NONCOMMUTATIVE RIEMANNIAN GEOMETRY

Thesis by Branimir Josip Ćaćić

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements $\mbox{for the Degree of}$ $\mbox{Doctor of Philosophy}$



California Institute of Technology Pasadena, California 2013 (Defended May 17, 2013)

MOJOJ OBITELJI.

Acknowledgements

I would like to begin by thanking Matilde Marcolli, my advisor and, dare I say, my friend, who who has been a source of incalculable help and support (and Job-like patience!) during my time as her student, both in far-away Bonn and here in Pasadena. Let me also thank the two men who set me on my long road to Matilde: Stephen Jacobs, my high school physics teacher, who ultimately caused me to become a mathematical physicist, and George Elliott, my undergraduate mentor, who made a noncommutative geometer out of me.

In addition, I would like to thank the friends and colleagues from whom I have learned so much in the course of my doctoral work, namely my *Doktorbrüder* Tobias Fritz, Nikolay Ivankov, Bram Mesland, Kevin Teh, Rafael Torres, and Dapeng Zhang, as well as my friendly neighbourhood postdocs Susama Agarwala, Helge Krüger, Alan Lai, and Jan Jitse Venselaar. Without them, my adventures in noncommutative geometry would have been much less fruitful and much less fun.

Outside of the office, I owe an enormous debt of gratitude to the soaks and singers and other assorted sinners and misfits I have had the inestimable privilege of knowing and calling "friend." You know who you are and into which of those categories you fall; know, my Torontonians and Bonners, that I miss you dreadfully, and know, my fellow Techers (both *sensu stricto* and otherwise), that I will miss you dreadfully.

Last but most certainly not least, let me thank my family, whose boundless love and support has made everything possible: my sister, Ivana, my parents, Jadranka and Ivan, my maternal grandparents, baka Ana and my late dida Vicko, and my paternal grandparents, baka Anka and my late dida Marko. It is to them that I dedicate this work, a hopelessly insufficient and imperfect token of my love and my deepest gratitude.

Abstract

We present a novel account of the theory of commutative spectral triples and their two closest noncommutative generalisations, almost-commutative spectral triples and toric noncommutative manifolds, with a focus on reconstruction theorems, viz, abstract, functional-analytic characterisations of global-analytically defined classes of spectral triples. We begin by reinterpreting Connes's reconstruction theorem for commutative spectral triples as a complete noncommutative-geometric characterisation of Dirac-type operators on compact oriented Riemannian manifolds, and in the process clarify folklore concerning stability of properties of spectral triples under suitable perturbation of the Dirac operator. Next, we apply this reinterpretation of the commutative reconstruction theorem to obtain a reconstruction theorem for almost-commutative spectral triples. In particular, we propose a revised, manifestly global-analytic definition of almost-commutative spectral triple, and, as an application of this global-analytic perspective, obtain a general result relating the spectral action on the total space of a finite normal compact oriented Riemannian cover to that on the base space. Throughout, we discuss the relevant refinements of these definitions and results to the case of real commutative and almost-commutative spectral triples. Finally, we outline progess towards a reconstruction theorem for toric noncommutative manifolds.

Contents

Acknowledgements					
Abstract					
1	Introduction				
2	Diff	erential-geometric preliminaries	7		
	2.1	Clifford modules and Dirac-type operators	7		
	2.2	$\mathrm{Spin}^{\mathbb{C}}$ and spin manifolds	9		
3	Noncommutative-geometric preliminaries				
	3.1	Noncommutative topology	12		
	3.2	Noncommutative vector bundles	14		
	3.3	Noncommutative de Rham complexes	16		
	3.4	Noncommutative integration	17		
4	Commutative and Dirac-type spectral triples				
	4.1	Commutative spectral triples	20		
	4.2	Connes's reconstruction theorem	23		
	4.3	Real structures	25		
	4.4	Dirac-type spectral triples	29		
5	Stability results				
	5.1	Spectral triple; metric dimension	38		
	5.2	Finiteness	39		
	5.3	Regularity and strong regularity	41		
	5.4	Absolute continuity	42		
6	Almost-commutative spectral triples				
	6.1	Concrete definitions	45		
	6.2	A reconstruction theorem	48		

	6.3	Real structures	52
	6.4	Twistings	56
	6.5	Applications to the spectral action	61
7	Tor	ic noncommutative manifolds	68
	7.1	Strict deformation quantisation	68
	7.2	Connes–Landi deformations	77
	7.3	Toric noncommutative manifolds	79
Bi	bliog	graphy	83

Chapter 1

Introduction

I tell them that if they will occupy themselves with the study of mathematics, they will find in it the best remedy against the lusts of the flesh.

— T. Mann apud M. Reed and B. Simon, Methods of

Mathematical Physics I

Vetustam fecit pellem meam et carnem meam; contriuit ossa mea.

— Lamentations 3:4 (Vulgate)

The starting point of operator-algebraic noncommutative geometry is Gel'fand's observation that the continuous complex-valued functions on a compact Hausdorff space X form a commutative unital C^* -algebra C(X); Gel'fand- $Naĭmark\ duality$ then establishes that the assignment $X \mapsto C(X)$ defines a contravariant equivalence of categories between the category of compact Hausdorff spaces and continuous maps and the category of commutative unital C^* -algebras and unital *-homomorphisms. This, together with related results such as the Serre-Swan theorem on vector bundles and Rieffel's theory of strong Morita equivalence and noncommutative quotients, has motivated the functorial identification in operator-algebraic noncommutative geometry of C^* -algebra theory as a theory of noncommutative topology.

Given such a theory of noncommutative topology, one can seek to refine it into a theory of noncommutative differential geometry, especially in light of possible applications to theoretical physics. With the Atiyah–Singer index theorem in mind, Connes proposed a candidate notion of noncommutative manifold in the form of a spectral triple, that is, a triple (A, H, D) where A is a unital pre- C^* -algebra, H is a Hilbert space admitting a faithful unital *-representation of A by bounded operators, and D is an essentially self-adjoint operator on H with compact resolvent, such that [D, a]is bounded for all $a \in A$. The archetypal example of a spectral triple is $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{S}), \not D)$ for X a compact spin manifold, $\mathcal{S} \to X$ the spinor bundle, and $\not D$ the Dirac operator on \mathcal{S} . To justify an identification of the theory of spectral triples as a theory of noncommutative differential geometry, one would need an analogue of Gel'fand–Naĭmark for suitable spectral triples. Indeed, at the level of objects, Connes [27] has defined a notion of commutative spectral triple, motivated by the spectral triple of a compact spin manifold, and proved the reconstruction theorem, which shows that a commutative unital Fréchet pre- C^* -algebra A is isomorphic to $C^{\infty}(X)$ for some compact oriented manifold X if and only if there exists a commutative spectral triple of the form (A, H, D) with the same algebra A. The primary goal of this thesis is to obtain analogous reconstruction theorems for the two classes of spectral triples closest to the commutative case, almost-commutative spectral triples and toric noncommutative manifolds.

We begin in Chapters 2 and 3 with a telegraphic review of necessary differential- and noncommutative-geometric background for the theory of spectral triples. In particular, Section 2.3, which has been adapted from [10, § 2.1], provides the differential-geometric motivation for the notion of real spectral triple from the perspective of Plymen's noncommutative-geometric characterisation of spin^{\mathbb{C}} and spin manifolds.

Next, Chapter 4, which incorporates the material related to commutative spectral triples from [9, 10], mostly consists of an account of the theory of commutative spectral triples from an emphatically Riemannian perspective. In particular, we propose a weakening of the orientability condition in the definition of commutative spectral triple to accommodate Dirac-type operators in full generality, and provide the following re-interpretation of Connes's reconstruction theorem as precisely a complete noncommutative-geometric characterisation of Dirac-type operators on compact oriented Riemannian manifolds:

Corollary ([9, Cor. 2.19]). Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional commutative spectral triple. Then there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X and a Hermitian vector bundle $\mathcal{E} \to X$ such that $(A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, where D is identified with an essentially self-adjoint Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

We conclude the chapter by proposing and discussing the following conservative noncommutative generalisation of the definition of commutative spectral triple, for later use in our discussion of toric noncommutative manifolds:

Definition. Let (A, H, D) be a spectral triple; we call (A, H, D) two-sided spectral triple if H admits a faithful unital *-representation of the opposite algebra A^o making H into an A-bimodule, and

$$AH^{\infty} \subset H^{\infty}, \quad H^{\infty}A \subset H^{\infty}.$$

We then call (A, H, D) a p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple for $p \in \mathbb{N}$ if it is two-sided and if the following conditions hold:

- 1. **Dimension**: The spectral triple (A, H, D) has metric dimension p.
- 2. Order one: For any $a, b \in A$, $[[D, a], b^o] = 0$.
- 3. Finiteness: The right A-module H^{∞} is finitely generated projective.
- 4. Strong regularity: One has that $\operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^\infty) \subset \cap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k$.
- 5. Orientability: There exists an antisymmetric Hochschild p-cycle $c \in Z_p(A, A)$ such that $\chi = \pi_D(c)$ is a self-adjoint unitary on \mathcal{H} , satisfying $a\chi = \chi a$ and $[D, a]\chi = (-1)^{p+1}\chi[D, a]$ for all $a \in A$.
- 6. **Absolute continuity**: The right A-module H^{∞} admits a Hermitian structure $(\cdot, \cdot)_A$, satisfying $\langle \xi, \eta \rangle_A = \int (\xi, \eta)_A (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2}$ for $\xi, \eta \in H^{\infty}$.

In Chapter 5, which incorporates the results of [9, Appendix A], we provide the necessary machinery that allows us to weaken the orientability hypothesis in Connes's reconstruction theorem. This consists of establishing the stability of various properties of spectral triples under suitable perturbation of the Dirac operator; whilst some of these questions have already been explicitly considered by Chakraborty–Mathai [14], the others have been folkloric results at best. In short, what we prove is the following:

Theorem ([9, Appendix A]). Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple (v. supra), and let M be a self-adjoint element of $\operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^\infty)$ for $H^\infty := \cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k$, such that

$$[(D+M)^2 - D^2, T] \in \mathcal{D}(\text{End}_{A^o}(H^\infty), D^2)_{k+1}$$

for all $T \in \mathcal{D}(\operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^{\infty}), D^2)_k$ (cf. Chapter 5). Then $D_M := D + M$ extends to an essentially self-adjoint operator on H with smooth core H^{∞} , making (A, H, D_M) into a p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple satisfying the following:

- 1. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\operatorname{Dom} D_M^k = \operatorname{Dom} D^k$, and hence $\cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D_M^k = H^{\infty}$;
- 2. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D_M|\right)^k = \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D|\right)^k \subset B(H),$$

and hence

$$\bigcap_{k} \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D_{M}|\right)^{k} = \bigcap_{k} \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D|\right)^{k}.$$

3. For all ξ , $\eta \in H^{\infty}$,

$$f(\xi, \eta) (D_M^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = f(\xi, \eta) (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = \langle \xi, \eta \rangle.$$

In Chapter 6, which incorporates the relevant material from [9, 10], we finally turn to almost-commutative spectral triples, which we present from the perspective first proposed in [9]. These were first proposed by Connes [23, 24] to provide semi-classical spacetimes for high energy physics models, morally constructed as the Cartesian products of classical (Euclidean) spacetimes with 0-dimensional noncommutative "internal" space. More precisely, an almost-commutative spectral triple is conventionally defined as the Cartesian product of the canonical spectral triple of a compact spin manifold, the classical spacetime, with a *finite* spectral triple, namely, a spectral triple with finite-dimensional Hilbert space (see [8,46,55] for the general theory, and [40–44] for classification results). The application of almost-commutative spectral triples to high energy physics is epitomised by the project of reformulating the classical field theory of the Standard Model in noncommutative-geometric terms, which culminated in 2006 with the near-simultaneous papers by Barrett [1] and by Chamsedinne–Connes–Marcolli [18] (see also [25,30]).

Our first goal is to motivate and then translate into noncommutative-geometric terms the following modified definition of almost-commutative spectral triple:

Definition ([9, Def. 2.3]). A concrete almost-commutative spectral triple is a spectral triple of the form $(C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, where X is a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, $\mathcal{A} \to X$ is an algebra bundle, $\mathcal{E} \to X$ is a Clifford \mathcal{A} -module, and D is a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

This expanded definition still encompasses the original definition and still allows for the use of exactly the same heat-theoretic tools in computations related to applications to high energy physics. On the other hand, the new definition turns out to be stable under inner fluctuations of the metric, unlike the old one, and encompasses a number of global-analytically defined spectral triples already considered in the literature, for instance, by Zhang [70] and by Boeijink–Van Suijlekom [5]. Most importantly, because of its manifestly global-analytic nature, this definition lends itself immediately to the statement and proof of a suitable reconstruction theorem:

Theorem ([9, Thm. 2.17]). Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional abstract almost-commutative spectral triple with base B, so that B is a central unital *-subalgebra of A such that (B, H, D) is a p-dimensional Dirac-type commutative spectral triple and A is a finitely generated projective unital B-module-*-subalgebra of $\operatorname{End}_B(\cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k)$ satisfying [[D,b],a]=0 for $a \in A$, $b \in B$. Then (A, H, D) is unitarily equivalent to a concrete almost-commutative spectral triple, that is, there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X, an algebra bundle $A \to X$, a Clifford A-module $\mathcal{E} \to X$, such that

$$(A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D),$$

where D is identified with a symmetric Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

In Sections 6.4-5, consisting of the main content of [10], we consider the implications of these re-

vised definitions of commutative and almost-commutative spectral triples for *real* almost-commutative spectral triples [10]. In particular, the correct abstract definition of real almost-commutative spectral triple turns out to have the following form:

Definition ([10, Def. 2.29]). A real almost-commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ and metric dimension p is a real spectral triple (A, H, D, J) of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, such that (A, H, D) is a p-dimensional (abstract) almost-commutative spectral triple with base

$$\tilde{A}_J := \{ a \in A \mid Ja^*J^* = a \}.$$

The significance of this definition is that a real almost-commutative spectral triple automatically comes with a canonical commutative algebra encoding the base manifold; in the general case, by contrast, such a commutative algebra must be specified separately. This is a feature that had been observed in all the real almost-commutative spectral triples appearing in the literature on applications to high energy physics, but only on a case-by-case basis.

In Section 6.5, which incorporates the author's contribution to [11], we then apply this emphatically global-analytic perspective on almost-commutative spectral triples to provide a general explanation for the relationship between the spectral action on S^3 and the spectral action on the quotients of S^3 by the various finite subgroups of SU(2) that had been observed by Teh in the course of explicit computations using explicit Dirac spectra and the Poisson summation formula [11,50,51,65]. By applying general heat kernel estimates, we are able to prove the following, together with a slight generalisation:

Theorem ([11, Thm. 3.6, cf. Thm. 3.10]). Let $\widetilde{X} \to X$ be a finite normal Riemannian covering with \widetilde{X} and X compact, connected and oriented, and let Γ be the deck group of the covering. Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}} \to \widetilde{X}$ be a Γ -equivariant Clifford module, and let \widetilde{D} be a Γ -invariant symmetric Dirac-type operator on $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$. Let $\mathcal{E} := \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}/\Gamma \to \widetilde{X}/\Gamma =: X$, and let D be the pushforward of \widetilde{D} to D. Finally, let $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be of the form $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(0,\infty)$. Then for $\Lambda > 0$,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D/\Lambda)\right) = \frac{1}{\#\Gamma}\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(\widetilde{D}/\Lambda)\right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}), \quad as \ \Lambda \to +\infty.$$

In particular, this is likely one of the very first general qualitative results concerning the spectral action on almost-commutative spectral triples anywhere in the literature.

Finally, in Chapter 7, we describe progress towards a reconstruction theorem for toric noncommutative manifolds. In Sections 7.1-2 we generalise Yamashita's noncommutative generalisation [69] of Connes-Landi's original construction [29] of toric noncommutative manifolds, to accommodate \mathbb{T}^N -actions for $N \geq 2$. Then, in Section 7.3, we consider toric noncommutative manifolds specifically. First, we check that toric noncommutative manifolds satisfy the following proposed abstract

definition:

Definition. Let (A, H, D) be a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple, and let $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(N)$. We call (A, H, D) a p-dimensional toric noncommutative manifold with deformation parameter θ if

$$\forall a \in A, \quad a^o := \lambda_{-2\theta}(a).$$

Remark. The condition that the right A-action on H by given by $a^o := \lambda_{-2\theta}(a)$ is equivalent to requiring that the undeformed algebra $A_{-\theta}$ be commutative and that for any $a_{-\theta} \in A_{-\theta}$, $a^o := \lambda_{\theta}(a_{\theta})^o = \lambda_{-\theta}(a_{\theta})$, which is precisely what holds in the concrete case.

Then, we describe our progress to date towards a reconstruction theorem, which takes the following form:

Theorem. Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional toric noncommutative manifold with deformation parameter $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(N)$. Suppose, moreover, that the orientation cycle $c \in Z_p(A, A)$ corresponds to a \mathbb{T}^N -invariant antisymmetric cycle $c_{\theta} \in Z_p(A_{-\theta}, A_{-\theta})$ such that $\pi_D(c) = \pi_D(c_{\theta})$. Then there exists a concrete \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant commutative spectral triple such that

$$(A_{-\theta}, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D), \quad (A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), L^2(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E}), D),$$

 $i.e.,\ (A,H,D)$ is unitarily equivalent to a concrete p-dimensional toric noncommutative manifold.

Whilst this is already a reconstruction theorem for toric noncommutative manifolds insofar as it provides a complete noncommutative-geometric characterisation thereof, a genuinely satisfactory reconstruction theorem would be obtained only after removal of the awkward and artificial additional orientability-related hypothesis.

Chapter 2

Differential-geometric preliminaries

J'ai de sérieuses raisons de croire que la planète d'où venait le petit prince est l'astéroïde B 612. Cet astéroïde n'a été aperçu qu'une fois au télescope, en 1909, par un astronome turc. Il avait fait alors une grande démonstration de sa découverte à un Congrès International d'Astronomie. Mais personne ne l'avait cru à cause de son costume...

— A. de Saint-Exupéry, Le Petit Prince

In this brief section, we recall some relevant differential-geometric background for the theory of spectral triples, particularly commutative spectral triples, almost-commutative spectral triples, and toric noncommutative manifolds.

2.1 Clifford modules and Dirac-type operators

Let us first recall a few definitions and facts from the theory of Dirac-type operators, mostly to establish notation and terminology; for a full account, see [2, §§ 3.1–3; 36, Chapter 5, §§ 9.1–3]. Throughout, we shall use the conventions of super-linear algebra [2, § 1.3]. Thus, if H is a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded vector bundle, we consider $\operatorname{End}(H)$ as \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded as well, and we shall consider the \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded tensor product of \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded vector bundles and operators on them, which we denote by $\widehat{\otimes}$. If a vector bundle is not explicitly \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded, as shall often be the case, we consider it as trivially \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded.

Let us first recall the notion of Clifford module:

Definition 2.1.1. Let X be a Riemannian manifold with Riemannian metric g. A Clifford module over X is a Hermitian vector bundle $\mathcal{E} \to X$ together with a bundle morphism $c: T^*X \to \operatorname{End}(X)$, the Clifford action, satisfying the following:

1. for all
$$\xi$$
, $\eta \in \Omega^1(X)$, $c(\xi)c(\eta) + c(\eta)c(\xi) = -g^{-1}(\xi, \eta)$;

2. for all $\xi \in \Omega^1(X)$, $c(\xi)^* = -c(\xi)$.

If, moreover, \mathcal{E} is \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded, then we require $c(\xi)$ to be odd for all $\xi \in \Omega^1(X)$.

Example 2.1.2. If X is spin, then the spinor bundle $S \to X$ is a Clifford module. More generally, $\wedge T^*X \to X$ is a Clifford module with Clifford action $c(\xi)\eta := \xi \wedge \eta - i_{\xi}\eta$ for $\eta \in \Omega(X)$, $\xi \in \Omega^1(X)$.

Let us now recall the central differential-geometric definition of this thesis:

Definition 2.1.3. Let \mathcal{E} be a Clifford module bundle over a Riemannian manifold (X, g). A *Diractype operator* on \mathcal{E} is a first-order differential operator on \mathcal{E} such that

$$[D, f] = c(df), \quad f \in C^{\infty}(X),$$

where $c: Cl(X) \to End(E)$ denotes the Clifford action on E.

Example 2.1.4. If X is spin, then the Dirac operator is a Dirac-type operator. More generally, $d + d^*$ defined a Dirac-type operator on $\wedge T^*X$.

An immediate consequence of this definition is that if D is Dirac-type, then D^2 is a generalised Laplacian, that is, a second order differential operator such that in local coordinates,

$$D^2 = -g^{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} + \text{lower order terms.}$$

The basic analytic properties of a Dirac-type operator are summarised as follows:

Proposition 2.1.5. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, let $\mathcal{E} \to X$ be a Clifford module, and let D be a symmetric Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

- 1. D is essentially self-adjoint with smooth core $C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E}) = \bigcap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k$, and for each k, $\operatorname{Dom} D^k$ yields the k-th Sobolev space $H^k(X, \mathcal{E})$ of $\mathcal{E} \to X$.
- 2. D is elliptic as a partial differential operator.
- 3. D has compact resolvent, namely, $(D^2 + 1)^{-1/2}$ is a compact operator. In particular, D has pure point spectrum, and the eigenvalues of D have finite multiplicity and accumulate only at infinity.

Much deeper is the following, the relevant version of Weyl's famous result:

Theorem 2.1.6 (Weyl's law for Dirac-type operators). Let X be a compact oriented p-Riemannian manifold, let $\mathcal{E} \to X$ be a Clifford module, and let D be a symmetric Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} . Let λ_k denote the k-th eigenvalue of the positive operator D^2 in increasing order, counted with multiplicity. Then

$$\sum_k e^{-t\lambda_k} = (4\pi t)^{-p/2} \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{E}) \operatorname{vol}(M) + O(t^{-p/2+1}), \quad t \to +\infty.$$

In particular, $\lambda_k = O(k^{-2/p})$ as $k \to +\infty$.

For more on Dirac-type operators, see the monographs by Roe [61] and by Berline, Getzler and Vergne [2], as well as the notes by Roepstorff and Vehns [62, 63]. Note that [2] and [62, 63] consider only odd Dirac-type operators on \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded Clifford module bundles, a restriction that is unnecessary for our purposes.

2.2 $\operatorname{Spin}^{\mathbb{C}}$ and spin manifolds

We now recall Plymen's noncommutative-geometric characterisation of spin and $\operatorname{spin}^{\mathbb{C}}$ manifolds in differential geometric language. To state it, we shall need the following definition:

Definition 2.2.1. Let X be a compact manifold.

- 1. A finite rank Azumaya bundle is a bundle $\mathcal{C} \to X$ with fibre $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ and structure group PU(n) for some n, where the projective unitary group PU(n) acts on $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ by $([u], a) \mapsto uau^*$ for $[u] \in PU(n)$ and $a \in M_n(\mathbb{C})$.
- 2. Let $\mathcal{C} \to X$ be a finite rank Azumaya bundle. Then a Hermitian vector bundle $\mathcal{E} \to X$ is called an *irreducible* \mathcal{C} -module if $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}) \cong \mathcal{C}$, where the isomorphism is given fibrewise by an adjoint-preserving algebra automorphism of $M_n(\mathbb{C})$.

Now, recall that if X is a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, we may define a finite rank Azumaya bundle $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X) \to X$ by

$$\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X) := \begin{cases} \mathbb{C}l(X), & \text{if dim } X \text{ is even,} \\ \mathbb{C}l^+(X), & \text{if dim } X \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

where $\mathbb{C}l(X)$ is the Clifford bundle of X, formed from the cotangent bundle T^*X . The bundle $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$ admits a canonical \mathbb{C} -linear anti-involution τ defined by

$$\tau(\xi_1 \cdots \xi_m) := (-1)^m \xi_m \cdots \xi_1, \quad m \in \begin{cases} \mathbb{N}, & \text{if dim } X \text{ is even,} \\ 2\mathbb{N}, & \text{if dim } X \text{ is odd,} \end{cases} \quad \xi_i \in \Omega^1(X),$$

so that if \mathcal{E} is a $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$ -module with $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$ -action denoted by

$$c: \mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X) \to \mathrm{End}(\mathcal{E}),$$

then the dual bundle \mathcal{E}^{\vee} is also a $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$ -module with $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$ -action given by

$$c^\vee(\omega) := c(\tau(\omega))^T, \quad \omega \in C^\infty(X, \mathbb{C}\mathrm{l}^{(+)}(X)).$$

Plymen's characterisation then takes the following form:

Theorem 2.2.2 (Plymen [54, \S 2]). Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold.

- 1. X is $spin^{\mathbb{C}}$ if and only if there exists an irreducible $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$ -module, which is precisely a $spin^{\mathbb{C}}$ spinor bundle.
- 2. X is spin if and only if there exists an irreducible $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$ -module S such that $S \cong S^{\vee}$ as irreducible $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$ -modules, in which case the choice of isomorphism class of such an S corresponds to a choice of spin structure, for which S is the spinor bundle.

Now, for $\varepsilon' = \pm 1$, define a \mathbb{C} -linear anti-involution $\tau_{\varepsilon'}$ on $\mathbb{C}l(X)$ by

$$\tau_{\varepsilon'}|_{\Omega^1(X)} = -\varepsilon' \operatorname{Id}_{\Omega^1(X)};$$

by construction, $\tau_{\varepsilon'}$ defines an extension to $\mathbb{C}l(X)$ of τ on $\mathbb{C}l^{(+)}(X)$. Since for a Hermitian vector bundle \mathcal{E} , the dual bundle \mathcal{E}^{\vee} is canonically isomorphic to the conjugate bundle $\overline{\mathcal{E}}$, it is traditional in the noncommutative-geometric literature to reformulate Plymen's characterisation of spin manifolds as follows:

Corollary 2.2.3 (cf. [36, Thms. 9.6, 9.20]). Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian n-manifold. Then X is spin if and only if there exists an irreducible Clifford module S together with an antiunitary bundle endomorphism C on S satisfying

- 1. $C^2 = \varepsilon \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{S}}$,
- 2. $Cc(\omega^*)C^* = c(\tau_{\varepsilon'}(\omega))$ for all $\omega \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{C}l(X))$,
- 3. $C\chi = \varepsilon''\chi C$ for $\chi \in C^{\infty}(X,\mathbb{C}l(X))$ the chirality element, when n is even,

where $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon', \varepsilon'') := (\varepsilon(n), \varepsilon'(n), \varepsilon''(n)) \in \{\pm 1\}^3$ are determined by $n \mod 8$ as follows (with $\varepsilon'' \equiv 1$ is suppressed for $n \mod 3$:

The above folkloric result is the origin of Connes's notion of real structures on spectral triples, to be discussed in \S 4.3 and, in particular, the above table is the origin of the notion of the KO-dimension of a real spectral triple.

Remark 2.2.4. Condition (2) in the above result can be viewed as specifying the compatibility of C with the Clifford action on S, for C, a priori, defines a \mathbb{C} -linear anti-involution $T \mapsto CT^*C^*$ on $\mathrm{End}(S)$.

Finally, suppose that X is a compact spin n-manifold for n even, and that \mathcal{S} and C are as given in the above corollary; in particular, we necessarily have that $\varepsilon' = 1$. Let $C_- = C\chi$. Then C_- is an antiunitary bundle automorphism on \mathcal{S} satisfying

- 1. $C_{-}^2 = \varepsilon_{-} \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{S}},$
- 2. $C_{-}c(\omega^{*})C_{-}^{*} = c(\tau_{\varepsilon'}(\omega))$ for all $\omega \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{C}l(X)),$
- 3. $C_{-}\chi = \varepsilon''_{-}C_{-}\chi$, when n is even,

for $(\varepsilon_-, \varepsilon'_-, \varepsilon''_-) := (\varepsilon \varepsilon'', -1, \varepsilon'')$. Thus, as Dąbrowski–Dossena first observed, one could readily expand the above table to

where for n even, n_+ and n_- denote the two (interchangeable!) possibilities, namely n_+ the "conventional" KO-dimension and n_- the new "exotic" KO-dimension. Since replacing C with $C\chi$ takes us reversibly between n_+ and n_- [32, § 2.3], the "exotic" KO-dimensions would seem to offer nothing more than additional notational flexibility. However, as Dąbrowski–Dossena show, we will need to consider both possibilities simultaneously in order to define consistently products of real spectral triples in Section 6.3.

Chapter 3

Noncommutative-geometric preliminaries

... Heureusement pour la réputation de l'astéroïde B 612, un dictateur turc imposa à son peuple, sous peine de mort, de s'habiller à l'Européenne.

L'astronome refit sa démonstration en 1920, dans un habit très élégant. Et cette fois-ci tout le monde fut de son avis.

— A. de Saint-Exupéry, Le Petit Prince

We now review the noncommutative-geometric background for the description and discussion of our work. Gracia-Bondía–Várilly–Figueroa [36] is still the standard reference, though Khalkhali's recent introductory text [38] provides a more focussed and accessible account.

3.1 Noncommutative topology

Let us begin by recalling some basic definitions from the theory of C^* -algebras, so that we can state Gel'fand–Naĭmark duality, the starting point for functional-analytic noncommutative geometry.

The basic notion is that of a C^* -algebra, which, we shall soon see, can be interpreted as a noncommutative topological space.

Definition 3.1.1. A C^* -algebra if a \mathbb{C} -algebra A together with:

- 1. a norm $\|\cdot\|$ on A making $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ into a Banach space, such that for all $a, b \in A$, $\|ab\| \le \|a\| \|b\|$;
- 2. a conjugate-linear map (involution) $*: A \to A$, such that $*^2 = \mathrm{Id}_A$ and, for all $a, b \in A$, $(ab)^* = b^*a^*$;

such that for all $a \in A$, $||a^*a|| = ||a||^2$.

A Fréchet pre- C^* -algebra is a dense *-closed subalgebra A^{∞} of a C^* -algebra A equipped with a family of submultiplicative seminorms making A^{∞} into a nuclear Fréchet space such that the multiplication, involution, and the inclusion $A^{\infty} \hookrightarrow A$ are all continuous on A^{∞} as a Fréchet space. One usually requires a Fréchet pre- C^* -algebra to be closed under the holomorphic functional calculus, a condition equivalent to requiring that $a \in A^{\infty}$ be invertible in A^{∞} whenever it is invertible in A, with the same inverse.

Remark 3.1.2. In the absence of a norm, we shall call such an algebra simply a *-algebra.

Remark 3.1.3. In addition to complex *-algebras, one also encounters real *-algebras in the noncommutative-geometric literature, especially in applications to theoretical high energy physics, e.g., [18]. Everything we do can be made to accommodate real *-algebras, though for simplicity of exposition, we shall only consider complex *-algebras.

For our purposes, the following is the canonical example of a C^* -algebra:

Example 3.1.4. Let X be a compact Hausdorff space, and let C(X) be the \mathbb{C} -algebra of continuous complex-valued functions on X. Then C(X) is a commutative unital C^* -algebra for the supremum norm

$$||f|| := \sup_{x \in X} |f(x)|, \quad f \in C(X),$$

the involution

$$f^* := \left(x \mapsto \overline{f(x)}\right), \quad f \in C(X),$$

and the unit

$$1_{C(X)} := (x \mapsto 1)$$
.

Moreover, if X is a smooth manifold, then $C^{\infty}(X)$ is a Fréchet pre- C^* -algebra in C(X), for instance, with submultiplicative seminorms given by the Sobolev norms on the Sobolev spaces $H^k(X) \supset C^{\infty}(X)$.

From a more general, noncommutative-geometric standpoint, the following is the quintessential example of a noncommutative C^* -algebra:

Example 3.1.5. Let H be a Hilbert space, and let B(H) be the \mathbb{C} -algebra of continuous linear operators $H \to H$. Then B(H) is a unital C^* -algebra for the operator norm

$$||A|| := \sup_{0 \neq \xi \in H} \frac{||A\xi||}{||\xi||}, \quad A \in B(H),$$

the involution * given by taking the adjoint of an operator, and the unit $1_{B(H)} := Id_H$.

Remark 3.1.6. By the (i.e., another) Gel'fand–Naĭmark theorem [34], any abstract C^* -algebra can be realised, up to isomorphism, as a C^* -subalgebra (viz, norm-closed, *-closed subalgebra) of B(H)

for some Hilbert space H.

The following, then, turns out to be the correct notion of morphism for C^* -algebras.

Definition 3.1.7. Let A and B be unital C^* -algebras. A unital \mathbb{C} -algebra homomorphism $\phi: A \to B$ is called an *-homomorphism if for any $a \in A$, $\phi(a^*) = \phi(a)^*$; if A and B are unital, we require that $\phi(1) = 1$.

Example 3.1.8. Let X and Y be compact Hausdorff spaces, and let $f: Y \to X$ be continuous. Then $C(f): C(X) \to C(Y)$ defined by $C(f)(a) := a \circ f$ is a *-homomorphism.

Examples 3.1.4 and 3.1.8 are highly suggestive of a relation between the category of compact Hausdorff spaces and continuous maps and the category of commutative unital C^* -algebras and *-homomorphisms. The relation, which is as strong as could possibly be hoped for, is given by Gel'fand-Naĭmark duality:

Theorem 3.1.9 (Gel'fand–Naĭmark [34]). Let CpctHaus denote the category of compact Hausdorff spaces and continuous maps, and let CommC*Alg₁ denote the category of commutative unital C^* -algebras and *-homomorphisms. Then the cofunctor C: CpctHaus \rightarrow CommC*Alg₁ defined by

$$X \mapsto C(X), \quad (f: Y \to Z) \mapsto (C(f): C(Z) \to C(Y))$$

is a contravariant equivalence of categories.

From this, we see that the category of C^* -algebras can be cofunctorially identified with a category of noncommutative topological spaces. Operator-algebraic noncommutative geometry, in general, can be considered as an attempt to expand this $Gel'fand-Naumark\ paradigm$ to cover as much of topology and geometry as possible.

3.2 Noncommutative vector bundles

In this section, we recall how to extend the Gel'fand–Naĭmark paradigm to accomodate vector bundles. The key observation is that for $\mathcal{E} \to X$ a vector bundle over a compact Hausdorff space X, the vector space of $C(X,\mathcal{E})$ is a finitely-generated projective module over C(X). One way to see this is to recall that $\mathcal{E} \to X$ is necessarily a direct summand of some globally trivial vector space $X \times V$, which implies that $C(X,\mathcal{E})$ is a direct summand, as a C(X)-module, of $C(X,X\times V) \cong C(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V$, which is manifestly free. Moreover, a bundle map $\phi: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{F}$ covering Id_X immediately defines a C(X)-linear map of C(X)-modules by

$$C(X, \mathcal{E}) \ni \xi \mapsto C(X, \phi)\xi := (x \mapsto \phi(\xi(x))).$$

In a manner directly analogous to Gel'fand–Naĭmark, these observations motivate the following result of Swan, adapting to the topological context an algebro-geometric result of Serre:

Theorem 3.2.1 (Serre–Swan [64]). Let X be a compact Hausdorff space, let $\mathsf{CVect}(X)$ be the category of continuous vector bundles over X and bundle maps covering Id_X , and let $\mathsf{FGPMod}(C(X))$ be the category of finitely generated projective C(X)-modules and C(X)-linear maps. Then the functor $C(X,\cdot):\mathsf{CVect}(X)\to\mathsf{FGPMod}(C(X))$ defined by

$$\mathcal{E} \mapsto C(X, \mathcal{E}), \quad (\phi : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{F}) \mapsto (C(X, \phi) : C(X, \mathcal{E}) \to C(X, \mathcal{F}))$$

is an equivalence of categories.

Suppose, moreover, that X is a smooth manifold. Let $\mathsf{Vect}(X)$ be the category of smooth vector bundles over X and smooth bundle maps covering Id_X , and let $\mathsf{FGPMod}(C^\infty(X))$ be the category of finitely generated projective $C^\infty(X)$ -modules and $C^\infty(X)$ -linear maps. Then the functor $C^\infty(X,\cdot)$: $\mathsf{Vect}(X) \to \mathsf{FGPMod}(C^\infty(X))$ defined by

$$\mathcal{E} \mapsto C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E}), \quad (\phi : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{F}) \mapsto (C^{\infty}(X, \phi) : C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E}) \to C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{F}))$$

is an equivalence of categories.

Of particular importance are Hermitian vector bundles; the following definition will provide the correct noncommutative-geometric analogue thereof.

Definition 3.2.2. Let A be a *-algebra. Then a pre-Hilbert A-module is a finitely generated projective right A-module E together with a Hermitian metric, a sesquilinear map $(\cdot, \cdot): E \times E \to A$ such that:

- 1. for all ξ , $\eta \in E$, $a \in A$, $(\xi, \eta a) = (\xi, \eta) a$,
- 2. for all $\xi, \eta \in E, (\xi, \eta) = (\eta, \xi)^*,$
- 3. for all $\xi \in E$, $(\eta, \eta) > 0$ is positive (i.e., takes the form b^*b for some $b \in A$);

we use the mathematical physics convention that (\cdot, \cdot) , like our inner products, is linear in the second argument and conjugate-linear in the first.

Moreover, if A is a C^* -algebra and E is complete in the norm $E \ni \xi \mapsto \sqrt{\|(\xi,\xi)\|}$, then E is called a *Hilbert A-module*.

For instance, if $\mathcal{E} \to X$ is a Hermitian vector bundle, then the Hermitian metric on $C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{E})$ is given by

$$\forall \xi, \eta \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E}), \quad (\xi, \eta) := (x \mapsto (\xi_x, \eta_x)_x).$$

The appropriate refinement of Serre–Swan, therefore, is as follows:

Corollary 3.2.3. Let X be a compact Hausdorff space, let $\mathsf{CHVect}(X)$ be the category of continuous Hermitian vector bundles over X and bundle maps covering Id_X , and let $\mathsf{Hilb}(C(X))$ be the category of Hilbert C(X)-modules and C(X)-linear maps. Then the functor $C(X,\cdot):\mathsf{CHVect}(X)\to$ $\mathsf{Hilb}(C(X))$ defined by

$$\mathcal{E} \mapsto C(X, \mathcal{E}), \quad (\phi : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{F}) \mapsto (C(X, \phi) : C(X, \mathcal{E}) \to C(X, \mathcal{F}))$$

is an equivalence of categories.

Suppose, moreover, that X is a smooth manifold. Let $\mathsf{HVect}(X)$ be the category of smooth Hermitian vector bundles over X and smooth bundle maps covering Id_X , and let $\mathsf{PreHilb}(C^\infty(X))$ be the category of pre-Hilbert $C^\infty(X)$ -modules and $C^\infty(X)$ -linear maps. Then the functor $C^\infty(X,\cdot)$: $\mathsf{HVect}(X) \to \mathsf{PreHilb}(C^\infty(X))$ defined by

$$\mathcal{E} \mapsto C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E}), \quad (\phi : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{F}) \mapsto (C^{\infty}(X, \phi) : C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E}) \to C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{F}))$$

is an equivalence of categories.

3.3 Noncommutative de Rham complexes

Now we recall what will turn out to be the relevant way to generalise the de Rham complex of a manifold in noncommutative geometry. The main definition is the following, adapted by Connes from the corresponding definition in commutative algebra:

Definition 3.3.1. Let A be an algebra. Then the *Hochschild complex* of A is the chain complex $(C_{\bullet}(A, A), b)$ defined as follows:

- For $n \ge 0$, $C_n(A, A) := A^{\otimes (n+1)}$.
- One has that $b_0: C_0(A, A) \to 0$ is the zero map, whilst for n > 0, $b_n: C_n(A, A) \to C_{n-1}(A, A)$ is given by

$$b(a_0 \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n) := a_0 a_1 \otimes a_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} a_0 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_k a_{k+1} \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n + (-1)^n a_n a_0 \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_{n-1}.$$

The Hochschild homology $HH_{\bullet}(A)$ is therefore the homology of this chain complex; in particular, $Z_n(A, A) = \text{Ker } b_n$ is the space of Hochschild n-cycles. If A is a Fréchet pre-C*-algebra, we take the $A^{\otimes p}$ to be topological tensor products of nuclear Fréchet spaces.

Theorem 3.3.2 (Hochschild–Kostant–Rosenberg–Connes [20]). Let X be a compact manifold. Then the maps $\mu_n: C^{\infty}(X)^{\otimes (n+1)} \to \Omega^n(X)$ defined by

$$\mu_n(a_0 \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n) := a_0 da_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge da_n, \quad a_k \in C^{\infty}(X),$$

define a morphism of complexes $\mu: (Z_{\bullet}(C^{\infty}(X), C^{\infty}(X)), b) \to (\Omega^{\bullet}(X), 0)$ that descends to an isomorphism $HH_{\bullet}(C^{\infty}(X)) \cong \Omega^{\bullet}(X)$.

Remark 3.3.3. In order to recover the de Rham cohomology of a manifold X from the Hochschild homology of $C^{\infty}(X)$, one needs to pass to a refinement of Hochschild homology called periodic cyclic homology.

Finally, for future reference, we shall record the following definition:

Definition 3.3.4. A *p*-cycle $c := \sum_{i=1}^n a_{i,0} \otimes a_{i,1} \otimes \cdots \otimes a_{i,p} \in Z_p(A,A)$ is antisymmetric if for all permutations $\sigma \in S_p$ on *p* elements, $\pi(c) := \sum_{i=1}^n a_{i,0} \otimes a_{i,\sigma(1)} \otimes \cdots \otimes a_{i,\sigma(p)}$ satisfies $\pi(c) = (-1)^{\pi}c$.

3.4 Noncommutative integration

Finally, we recall what will turn out to be the relevant way to generalise integration on a manifold. In short, we shall define a distinguished ideal of noncommutative "integrands," within the ideal of compact operators on a Hilbert space and containing all the trace-class operators, and then define a notion of "integration" of such "integrands" by defining a class of traces on this ideal that vanish on trace-class operators.

Before continuing, let us recall the following standard definition from functional analysis:

Definition 3.4.1. Let H be a Hilbert space, and let 0 . Then the Schatten <math>p-class $\mathcal{L}^p(H)$ is the ideal in B(H) of all $T \in \mathcal{K}(H)$, the ideal of all compact operators on H, such that $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sigma_k(T)^p < \infty$, where $\sigma_k(T)$ denotes the k-th singular value of T in decreasing order, counted with multiplicity. In particular, if $p \geq 1$, then $\mathcal{L}^p(X)$ is a Banach space with norm $||T|| := \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sigma_k(T)^p\right)^{1/p}$ for $T \in \mathcal{L}^p(H)$.

Example 3.4.2. One has that $\mathcal{L}^1(H)$ is the ideal of all trace-class operators with $||T||_1 := \text{Tr} |T|$ for all $T \in \mathcal{L}^1(H)$, and that $\mathcal{L}^2(H)$ is the ideal of all Hilbert–Schmidt operators, with $||T||_2 = \text{Tr} T^*T$ for all $T \in \mathcal{L}^2(H)$.

The Schatten ideals were originally defined as a sort of proto-noncommutative-geometric analogue of L^p spaces. Indeed, as befits such an analogue, the relevant analogue of Hölder's inequality applies:

Proposition 3.4.3 (Hölder's inequality). Let α , r, s > 0 with $r^{-1} + s^{-1} = \alpha^{-1}$. Then for all $A \in \mathcal{L}^r(H)$ and $B \in \mathcal{L}^s(H)$, $AB \in \mathcal{L}^\alpha(H)$, and if α , r, s > 1, then $||AB||_{\alpha} \leq ||A||_r ||A||_s$. Moreover, if $A \in \mathcal{L}^1(H)$ and $B \in B(H)$, then $||AB|| \leq ||A||_1 ||B||$.

A key technical result related to Schatten ideals that we shall need later is the so-called BKS inequality, part of which is quoted below:

Theorem 3.4.4 (Birman–Koplienko–Solomjak [3, Thm. 1]). Let A and $B \in B(H)$ be positive with A - B compact. Then for any $0 < \alpha < 1$, and $p \ge 1$, if $|A - B|^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{L}^p(H)$ then $A^{\alpha} - B^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{L}^p(H)$.

As it turns out, however, none of the Schatten ideals provide us with the ideal of noncommutative "integrands" that we want. The correct definition turns out to be as follows:

Definition 3.4.5. Let H be a Hilbert space. Then the Dixmier ideal $\mathcal{L}^{1+}(H)$ is the ideal in B(H) of all $T \in \mathcal{K}(H)$ such that

$$||T||_{1+} := \sup_{k>2} \frac{\sigma_k(T)}{\log k} < \infty;$$

equivalently, $T \in \mathcal{L}^{1+}(H)$ if

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \sigma_k(T) = O(\log n), \quad n \to +\infty.$$

In particular, $T \mapsto ||T||_{1+}$ defines a norm making $\mathcal{L}^{1+}(H)$ into a Banach space.

Example 3.4.6. If $A \in \mathcal{K}(H)$ satisfies $\sigma_k(A) = O(k^{-1})$ as $k \to +\infty$, then $A \in \mathcal{L}^{1+}(H)$.

Remark 3.4.7. For all $1 , one has inclusions <math>\mathcal{L}^1(H) \subset \mathcal{L}^{1+}(H) \subset \mathcal{L}^p(H) \subset \mathcal{L}^q(H)$.

We can now define the notion of noncommutative integration that we shall use:

Definition 3.4.8. Let ω be a dilation-invariant state on ℓ^{∞} , viz, a positive linear functional, such that

- 1. $\omega(a) = c$ if $\lim_{n \to \infty} a_n = c$,
- 2. $\omega \circ \sigma = \omega$, where $\sigma \in B(\ell^{\infty})$ is the dilation $\sigma(a) := (a_1, a_1, a_2, a_2, \dots)$.

For $T \in \mathcal{L}^{1+}(H)$ positive, set

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\omega}(T) := \omega \left(\left\{ \frac{1}{\log(n)} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \lambda_k(T) \right\}_{n=2}^{\infty} \right).$$

Then $T \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{\omega}(T)$ extends to a unitarily invariant positive linear functional on $\mathcal{L}^{1+}(H)$, vanishing on $\mathcal{L}^{1}(H)$, called the *Dixmier trace* induced by ω .

In what follows, we shall fix a single dilation-invariant state ω on ℓ^{∞} , and we shall denote $\operatorname{Tr}_{\omega}(T)$ by f T.

Remark 3.4.9. Let $T \in \mathcal{K}(H)$, and suppose that T is measurable, that is, $\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{\sigma_k(T)}{\log n}$ exists. Then, not only is $T \in \mathcal{L}^{1+}(H)$, but necessarily $\operatorname{Tr}_{\omega}(T) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{\sigma_k(T)}{\log k}$ for all dilation-invariant states ω on ℓ^{∞} . In the sequel, virtually every operator in $\mathcal{L}^{1+}(H)$ of interest will be measurable, at least a posteriori.

The justification for our identification of the theory of Dixmier traces as a theory of noncommutative integration is provided by the following result, a special case of a more general result, the so-called Connes trace formula:

Theorem 3.4.10 (Connes [21], cf. [37, Thm. 3.23]). Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold and let D be a symmetric Dirac-type operator on a Clifford module $\mathcal{E} \to X$. Then for any $B \in C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}))$, $B(D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} \in \mathcal{L}^{1+}(L^2(X, \mathcal{E}))$ is measurable, and

$$\int B(D^2+1)^{-p/2} = \frac{1}{(2\sqrt{\pi})^n \Gamma(\frac{n}{2}+1)} \int_M \text{tr}(B(x)) d \operatorname{vol}(x),$$

where $\operatorname{tr}(B(x))$ denotes the trace of $B(x) \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{E}_x)$.

Chapter 4

Commutative and Dirac-type spectral triples

O wear your tribulations like a rose.

— W. H. Auden, Anthem for St. Cecilia's Day

In this section, we introduce *spectral triples*, Connes's proposal for a notion of noncommutative smooth manifold, with an emphasis on commutative spectral triples. In particular, we recall Connes's *reconstruction theorem*, which we shall recognise as providing precisely a (not yet functorial) noncommutative-geometric characterisation of compact oriented Riemannian manifolds together with a Dirac-type operator. Then we shall introduce real structures on spectral triples, again with an emphasis on commutative spectral triples, and then finally we shall propose a close noncommutative generalisation of the definition of commutative spectral triple, which we shall later see is applicable to toric noncommutative manifolds.

Recommended references for the basic theory of spectral triples, especially in relation to Diractype operators, are the detailed lecture notes of Várilly [67,68] and Landsman [47], and the excellent expository article of Carey-Phillips-Rennie [13].

4.1 Commutative spectral triples

Let us begin by introducing the basic definitions of the theory of spectral triples. The starting point is the following definition, which encapsulates the analytic behaviour of Dirac-type operators:

Definition 4.1.1. A spectral triple is a triple (A, H, D), where A is a unital *-algebra faithfully represented on a Hilbert space H, and D, the Dirac operator, is an essentially self-adjoint operator with compact resolvent on H, such that $[D, a] \in B(H)$ for all $a \in A$. Moreover:

• (A, H, D) is called *even* if there exists a self-adjoint unitary $\gamma \in B(H)$ such that $a\gamma = \gamma a$ for all $a \in A$ and $D\gamma = -\gamma D$;

- (A, H, D) is said to have metric dimension p > 0 if $\lambda_k((D^2 + 1)^{-1/2}) = O(k^{-1/p})$ as $k \to +\infty$, where $\lambda_k(T)$ denotes the k-th eigenvalue in decreasing order, counted with multiplicity, of a positive compact operator T;
- (A, H, D) is said to be pre-regular if for $H^{\infty} := \bigcap_k \text{Dom } D^k, AH^{\infty} \subset H^{\infty}$;
- (A, H, D) is said to be regular if $A + [D, A] \subset \cap_k \text{Dom}(\text{ad } |D|)^k$.

Finally, two spectral triples (A_1, H_1, H_1) and (A_2, H_2, D_2) are said to be unitarily equivalent (written $(A_1, H_1, D_1) \cong (A_2, H_2, D_2)$) if there exists a unitary isomorphism $U: H_1 \to H_2$ such that $UD_1U^* = D_2$ and $a \mapsto UaU^*$ defines an isomorphism $A_1 \to A_2$ of C^* -algebras.

Remark 4.1.2. It follows from the definition of unitary equivalence that unitarily equivalent spectral triples share all qualitative behaviour.

An essential point in the sequel is that a spectral triple (A, H, D) gives rise, for each p, to a representation $\pi_D: Z_p(A, A) \to \cap_k \mathrm{Dom}(\mathrm{ad}\,|D|)^k \subset B(H)$ of Hochschild p-cycles on H by

$$\pi_D(a_0 \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots a_n) := a_0[D, a_1] \cdots [D, a_n], \quad a_k \in A.$$

Now, in the case of a compact oriented Riemannian manifold X, a Clifford module $\mathcal{E} \to X$, and a symmetric Dirac-type operator D, $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is a spectral triple, since D is essentially self-adjoint with compact resolvent, and since for all $a \in A$, [D, a] = c(da) is a bundle endomorphism of \mathcal{E} , and hence, in particular, a bounded operator on $L^2(X, \mathcal{E})$. However, Connes observed almost immediately [24], the concrete commutative spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ contains a great deal more structure than that of a spectral triple simpliciter. The following is our slight modification (cf. [9, Def. 2.7]) of Connes's original notion of commutative spectral triple [24, 27]:

Definition 4.1.3. Let (A, H, D) be a pre-regular spectral triple. We call (A, H, D) a p-dimensional commutative spectral triple for $p \in \mathbb{N}$ if A is commutative and the following conditions hold:

- 1. **Dimension**: The spectral triple (A, H, D) has metric dimension p.
- 2. Order one: For any $a, b \in A$, [[D, a], b] = 0.
- 3. Finiteness: The A-module H^{∞} is finitely generated projective.
- 4. Strong regularity: One has that $\operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty}) \subset \cap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k$.
- 5. Orientability: There exists an antisymmetric Hochschild p-cycle $c \in Z_p(A, A)$ such that $\chi = \pi_D(c)$ is a self-adjoint unitary on H satisfying $a\chi = \chi a$ and $[D, a]\chi = (-1)^{p+1}\chi[D, a]$ for all $a \in A$.

6. Absolute continuity: The A-module H^{∞} admits a Hermitian structure (\cdot, \cdot) satisfying $\langle \xi, \eta \rangle = \int a(\xi, \eta) (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2}$ for $\xi, \eta \in H^{\infty}$.

If, in addition, $\chi D + D\chi = 0$ if p is even and $\chi = 1$ if p is odd, then we call (A, H, D) strongly orientable.

Remark 4.1.4. What we call "strong orientability" is the orientability condition originally proposed by Connes, which models commutative spectral triples specifically on the Dirac operator D of a compact spin manifold; the orientability condition above was first proposed in the final arXiv version of [9], in order to accommodate correctly general Dirac-type operators on compact oriented Riemannian manifolds. Note that the orientability condition proposed in the published version of [9] is insufficiently general in the odd-dimensional case, for it only accommodates Clifford modules that are locally twisted spinor bundles.

That a concrete commutative spectral triple is indeed a commutative spectral triple in this abstract sense is then guaranteed by the following standard, indeed folkloric, result:

Proposition 4.1.5 (cf. Gracia-Bondía–Várilly–Figueroa [36, Thm. 11.1], Connes [27, Thm. 11.4]). Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold, let $\mathcal{E} \to X$ be a Hermitian vector bundle, and let D be a symmetric Dirac-type operator. Then $(C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is a p-dimensional commutative spectral triple.

Let us briefly sketch out the main points of the proof:

- 1. That $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ has metric dimension p is simply Weyl's law applied to the generalised Laplacian D^2 .
- 2. The order one condition follows precisely since D is a first-order differential operator.
- 3. Finiteness follows since $\cap_k \text{Dom } D^k = C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E})$, which in turn follows from the Sobolev theory applied to the elliptic operator D.
- 4. Strong regularity is a consequence of the Sobolev theory of the elliptic operator D on the compact manifold X; the point is that $\operatorname{Dom} D^k = \operatorname{Dom} |D|^k = H^k(X, \mathcal{E})$, the k-th Sobolev space of sections of \mathcal{E} , and that if $T \in C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}))$, then $T \in B(H^k(X, \mathcal{E}))$, and hence $T \in \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad} |D|)^k$.
- 5. Orientability follows from [27, proof of Thm. 11.4], where the Hochschild cycle c is constructed from the volume form on X, and thus acts as the chirality operator.
- 6. Absolute continuity follows from the Connes trace formula, Theorem 3.4.10, applied to pseudodifferential operators on the Hermitian vector bundle H of the form $a(D^2 + 1)^{-p/2}$, where $a \in C^{\infty}(X)$ (see [36, § 9.4; 61, Chapter 8] for details).

In general, then, any Dirac-type operator on a compact oriented Riemannian manifold gives rise to a commutative spectral triple. Let us single out two examples of particular significance:

Example 4.1.6. Let X be a compact spin manifold with fixed spinor structure, let $S \to X$ be the spinor bundle, and let $\not \!\!\!D$ be the Dirac operator on S. Then $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, S), \not \!\!\!D)$ is the canonical commutative spectral triple of X.

Example 4.1.7 (cf. [27, Proof of Thm. 11.4]). Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. Then $\wedge T^*X \to X$ is a Clifford module for the Clifford action

$$c(\xi)\eta:=\xi\wedge\eta-i_\xi\eta,\quad \xi\in\Omega^1(X),\;\eta\in\Omega(X),$$

and $d + d^*$ is a symmetric Dirac-type operator on $\wedge T^*X$; the resulting commutative spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \wedge T^*X), D)$ is called the $Hodge-de\ Rham$ spectral triple of X.

4.2 Connes's reconstruction theorem

Let us now see how spectral triples can be used to adapt the Gel'fand–Naĭmark paradigm to compact oriented Riemannian manifolds.

Indeed, already in 1996, Connes conjectured [24] that one could recover a commutative manifold from a commutative spectral triple, just as one can recover a topological space from a commutative C^* -algebra via Gel'fand–Naĭmark. Connes finally proved his conjecture, now called the reconstruction theorem for commutative spectral triples, in 2008 [27], following a substantial attempt by Rennie–Várilly in 2006 [59]:

Theorem 4.2.1 (Connes [27, Thm. 1.1]). Let (A, H, D) be a strongly orientable p-dimensional commutative spectral triple. Then there exists a compact oriented manifold X such that $A \cong C^{\infty}(X)$.

Once one has reconstructed the manifold itself, one can proceed to reconstruct the Hermitian vector bundle too, and realise the operator D as an elliptic first-order differential operator:

Theorem 4.2.2 (Connes [24], Gracia-Bondía-Várilly-Figueroa [36, Thm. 11.2]). Let (A, H, D) be a strongly orientable p-dimensional commutative spectral triple with $A \cong C^{\infty}(X)$ for some compact orientable manifold X. Then there exists a Hermitian vector bundle $\mathcal{E} \to X$ such that $(A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, where D is identified with an essentially self-adjoint elliptic first-order differential operator on \mathcal{E} .

In fact, this last result was stated and proved in the context of reconstructing spin manifolds with spin Dirac operators. The following result of Connes' gives a concise characterisation of spin^{\mathbb{C}} manifolds and spin^{\mathbb{C}} Dirac operators, possibly with torsion; we shall later recall Plymen's characterisation of spin manifolds amongst spin^{\mathbb{C}} manifolds and the resulting theory of real spectral triples.

Corollary 4.2.3 (Connes [27, Thm. 1.2]). If, moreover, A'' acts on H with multiplicity $2^{\lfloor p/2 \rfloor}$ (but without needing to assume strong regularity), then X is $spin^{\mathbb{C}}$, $\mathcal{E} \to X$ is a spinor bundle, and D is a Dirac-type operator.

However, the conclusion of Theorem 4.2.2 can be strengthened by means of the following essential technical lemma, which appears merely as an off-hand observation within Connes's proof of the reconstruction theorem¹:

Lemma 4.2.4 ([27, p. 28]). Let (A, H, D) be a strongly orientable p-dimensional commutative spectral triple. Then for any $a \in A$, $[D, a]^2 \in A$.

Remark 4.2.5. This lemma makes redundant the Dirac-type condition proposed by the author in [9, Def. 2.9], namely, that $[D, a]^2 \in A$ for all $a \in A$, as well as the irreducibility condition proposed by Gracia-Bondía–Várilly–Figueroa [36, Def. 11.2], insofar as they used it to reconstruct the Riemannian metric on the reconstructed manifold.

Incorporating this into the proof of Theorem 4.2.2 then allows one to conclude that

$$df \mapsto -[D, f]^2, \quad f \in A \cong C^{\infty}(X)$$

defines a Riemannian metric on X, and hence that D is indeed a Dirac-type operator on $\mathcal{E} \to X$. In particular, D will be a Dirac-type operator inducing a Clifford action on \mathcal{E} such that $D\chi + \chi D = 0$ if X is even-dimensional and $\chi = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{E}}$ if X is odd-dimensional, where χ denotes the chirality operator on \mathcal{E} as a Clifford module. This condition, however, fails for general Dirac-type operators:

Example 4.2.6. Let X be an even-dimensional compact spin manifold with spinor bundle $\mathcal{S} \to X$ and Dirac operator $\not \mathbb{D}$, let \mathcal{E} be a non-trivially \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded Hermitian vector bundle over N, and let $\not \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{E}}$ be the twisted Dirac operator on $\mathcal{S} \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{E}$ corresponding to any self-adjoint (super)connection on E. Then $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{S} \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{E}), \not \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{E}})$ is not strongly orientable, for any Hochschild p-cycle will act on $\mathcal{S} \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{E}$ by a bundle endomorphism of the form

$$T \widehat{\otimes} 1 \in C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{S})) \widehat{\otimes} C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E})) \cong C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{S} \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{E}))$$

with T even, so that it cannot distinguish between $\mathcal{S}\widehat{\otimes}\mathcal{E}^+$ and $\mathcal{S}\widehat{\otimes}\mathcal{E}^-$, and thus cannot act as the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading on $S\widehat{\otimes}\mathcal{E}$.

In the case of an odd-dimensional compact oriented Riemannian manifold X, one can also readily construct Clifford modules $\mathcal{E} \to X$ such that the chirality operator defines a non-trivial \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading on \mathcal{E} [48, § II.5; 56, § 8].

¹The author thanks Jan Jitse Venselaar for pointing out Connes's observation.

The lesson, then, is that Connes's reconstruction theorem as stated is tantalisingly close to a precise noncommutative-geometric characterisation of compact oriented Riemannian manifolds and Dirac-type operators, but just fails to be sufficiently general. Moreover, Example 4.2.6 will have the additional upshot that the reconstruction theorem, as stated, cannot be readily applied in the context of almost-commutative spectral triples. However, as we shall prove in the next chapter, one can indeed drop the strong orientability hypothesis:

Corollary 4.2.7 ([9, Cor. 2.19]). Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional commutative spectral triple. Then there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X and a Hermitian vector bundle $\mathcal{E} \to X$ such that $(A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, where D is identified with an essentially self-adjoint Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

Thus, Connes's reconstruction theorem, with the strong orientability hypothesis dropped, really is a precise (if not obviously functorial) noncommutative-geometric characterisation of compact oriented Riemannian manifolds and symmetric Dirac-type operators, just as Gel'fand–Naĭmark duality really is a precise (and robustly functorial) noncommutative-geometric characterisation of compact Hausdorff spaces.

4.3 Real structures

Let us now consider the implications of the reconstruction theorem for *real* commutative spectral triples. Before continuing, let us recall the definition of real spectral triple, which generalises the example of $(C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{S}), \not \mathbb{D}, C)$ for X a compact spin manifold with spinor bundle $\mathcal{S} \to X$, Dirac operator $\not \mathbb{D}$, and charge conjugation C.

Definition 4.3.1. A real spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ is a spectral triple (A, H, D), even with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading γ if n is even, together with an antiunitary J on H satisfying:

- 1. $J^2 = \varepsilon \operatorname{Id}_H$,
- 2. $DJ = \varepsilon' JD$,
- 3. $J\gamma = \varepsilon''\gamma J$ (if *n* is even),

 $\text{for } (\varepsilon,\varepsilon',\varepsilon''):=(\varepsilon(n),\varepsilon'(n),\varepsilon''(n))\in \left\{\pm 1\right\}^3 \text{ depending on } n \bmod 8 \text{ according to Table 2.2.1.}$

Before continuing on to examples, it is worth mentioning that a real spectral triple (A, H, D, J) defines, in particular, a canonical central unital *-subalgebra of A, a fact that will be key to our discussion of real commutative and almost-commutative spectral triples:

Lemma 4.3.2 (cf. [18, Prop. 3.1]). Let (A, H, D, J) be a real spectral triple. Then

$$\tilde{A}_J := \{ a \in A \mid Ja^*J^* = a \}$$

defines a central unital *-subalgebra of A.

As mentioned above, by Section 2.2, a compact spin p-manifold X with spinor bundle S, charge conjugation C, and Dirac operator D gives rise to a real spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, S), D, C)$ of KO-dimension p mod S, the canonical, motivating example of a real spectral triple. Indeed, we have the following well-known consequence of the reconstruction theorem for commutative spectral triples, the original form of Theorem 4.2.2:

Corollary 4.3.3 (Connes [24], Gracia-Bondía-Várilly-Figueroa [36, Thm. 11.2]). Let (A, H, D) be a strongly orientable p-dimensional commutative spectral triple, such that A'' acts on H with multiplicity $2^{\lfloor p/2 \rfloor}$, so that $(A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, S), D)$ for X a compact $spin^{\mathbb{C}}$ p-manifold and $S \to X$ a spinor bundle, with D identified with an essentially self-adjoint Dirac-type operator on S. If, in addition, there exists an antiunitary J making (A, H, D, J) a real spectral triple of KO-dimension $p \mod 8$, with $JaJ^* = a^*$ for $a \in A \cong C^{\infty}(X)$, then X is spin, S is the spinor bundle on X, J is the charge conjugation on S, and D = D + M for D the Dirac operator on X and M a suitable symmetric bundle endomorphism on S.

Now, just as in Section 2.2, in the case that n is even, we can go reversibly from the "conventional" KO-dimension n_+ to the "exotic" KO-dimension n_- by replacing J with $J\gamma$, so that we can expand Table 2.2.1 to Table 2.2.2 for free. By abuse of notation and terminology, then, we shall say that (A, H, D, γ, J) is of KO-dimension n_+ mod 8 if $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon', \varepsilon'')$ is given by n_+ in the above table, and that it is of KO-dimension n_- mod 8 if $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon', \varepsilon'')$ is given by n_- instead. Indeed, we shall find the following definition convenient:

Definition 4.3.4. Let (A, H, D, γ, J) be a real spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ for n even, and let $\beta \in \{\pm 1\}$.

- If $\beta = 1$, then J_{β} is the element of $\{J, J\gamma\}$ such that (A, H, D, γ, J_1) has KO-dimension $n_+ \mod 8$;
- If $\beta = -1$, then J_{-} is the element of $\{J, J\gamma\}$ such that $(A, H, D, \gamma, J_{-1})$ has KO-dimension $n_{-} \mod 8$.

Thus, we are free to identify a real spectral triple (A, H, D, γ, J) of even KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ simultaneously with the real spectral triple (A, H, D, γ, J_1) of KO-dimension $n_+ \mod 8$ and the real spectral triple $(A, H, D, \gamma, J_{-1})$ of KO-dimension $n_- \mod 8$.

Let us now consider the case of real commutative spectral triples. We have already seen the example of the canonical real spectral triple of a compact spin manifold with fixed spin structure. However, the canonical spectral triple of a compact oriented Riemannian manifold (v. supra) immediately gives rise to a canonical real spectral triple of KO-dimension 0 mod 8, a seemingly trivial example that shall prove quite instructive indeed:

Example 4.3.5. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. Since the operators $d+d^*$ and $(-1)^{|\cdot|}$ on $\wedge T^*_{\mathbb{C}}X$ are simply straightforward \mathbb{C} -linear extensions of operators on the real exterior bundle $\wedge T^*X$, we can realise the Hodge-de Rham spectral triple of X as a real triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \wedge T^*_{\mathbb{C}}X), d+d^*, (-1)^{|\cdot|}, K)$ of KO-dimension 0 mod 8, where K is the complex conjugation operator on $\wedge T^*_{\mathbb{C}}X$ qua complexification of the real vector bundle $\wedge T^*X$.

In light of this last example, we already see that a generalisation of the "charge conjugation" operator of Cor. 2.2.3 can be usefully defined on more general Clifford modules:

Definition 4.3.6. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, let $\mathcal{E} \to X$ be a Clifford module, which may or may not be \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded. Let J be an antiunitary bundle automorphism on \mathcal{E} , and let $n \in \mathbb{Z}_8$. We call (\mathcal{E}, J) a real Clifford module of KO-dimension n mod n if n is even, and n is even, and n satisfies the following:

- 1. $J^2 = \varepsilon \operatorname{Id}_{\varepsilon}$
- 2. $Jc(\omega^*)J^* = c(\tau_{\varepsilon'}(\omega))$ for all $\omega \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{C}l(X))$,
- 3. $J\gamma = \varepsilon''\gamma J$ if n is even,

where $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon', \varepsilon'') \in \{\pm 1\}^3$ is determined by $n \mod 8$ according Table 2.2.1.

Remark 4.3.7. Just as in the spinor case, if n is even, then we can replace J with $J\gamma$ to go reversibly between the "conventional" KO-dimension n_+ and the "exotic" KO-dimension n_- .

In both examples, we have a real triple of the form $(C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$, where X is a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, (\mathcal{E}, J) is a real Clifford module, and D is a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} compatible with J in the following sense:

Definition 4.3.8. Let (\mathcal{E}, J) be a real Clifford module of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ over a compact oriented Riemannian manifold X. Let D be a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} . We shall call D J-compatible if $DJ = \varepsilon' JD$.

Thus, if (\mathcal{E}, J) is a real Clifford module of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ over X, and D is a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} , then $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$ is a real spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ if and only if D is J-compatible—let us call such a real spectral triple a concrete real commutative spectral triple. One can therefore ask if a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} is necessarily J-compatible. As it turns out, the answer is yes, up to perturbation by a symmetric bundle endomorphism:

Proposition 4.3.9. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, let (\mathcal{E}, J) be a real Clifford module on X of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, and let D be a symmetric Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} . Then there exists a unique symmetric bundle endomorphism M on \mathcal{E} such that D-M is a J-compatible Dirac-type operator, and $MJ = -\varepsilon'JM$.

Proof. For any $f \in C^{\infty}(X,\mathbb{R})$, $J[D,f]J^* = Jc(df)J^* = \varepsilon'c(df) = \varepsilon'[D,f]$, and hence $[D-\varepsilon'JDJ^*,f]=0$. Thus, $M=\frac{1}{2}(D-\varepsilon'JDJ^*)$ is a symmetric bundle endomorphism, so that $D-M=\frac{1}{2}(D+\varepsilon'JDJ^*)$ is a symmetric Dirac-type operator; if n is even, so that \mathcal{E} is \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded, then D-M is odd since D is, and since $J^2=\varepsilon$ commutes with D and with M, $J(D-M)=\varepsilon'(D-M)J$ and $JM=-\varepsilon'MJ$, as required.

Finally, suppose that N is another symmetric bundle endomorphism on \mathcal{E} such that $(D-N)J = \varepsilon'J(D-N)$ and $NJ = -\varepsilon'JN$. Then (D-M)-(D-N) = N-M both commutes and anticommutes with J, and thus must vanish.

Finally, let us show that a real commutative spectral triple, in the appropriate abstract sense, necessarily arises from a real Clifford module together with a compatible Dirac-type operator.

Consider a concrete real commutative spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$. On the one hand, $C^{\infty}(X)$ is already commutative, while on the other, by Lem. 4.3.2, $C^{\infty}(X)$ contains a canonical central unital *-subalgebra

$$\widetilde{C^{\infty}(X)}_I := \{ a \in C^{\infty}(X) : Ja^*J^* = a \};$$

that J is an anti-linear bundle endomorphism on \mathcal{E} is precisely equivalent to the fact that $\widetilde{C^{\infty}(X)}_J = C^{\infty}(X)$. This, then, motivates the following:

Definition 4.3.10. Let (A, H, D, J) be a real spectral triple. We call (A, H, D, J) a real commutative spectral triple if the following hold:

- 1. $A = \tilde{A}_J$, or equivalently, $JaJ^* = a^*$ for all $a \in A$;
- 2. (A, H, D) is a commutative spectral triple.

In particular, then, a concrete real commutative spectral triple is automatically a real commutative spectral triple in this abstract sense.

Remark 4.3.11. If one wants A to correspond to $C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{R})$ instead of $C^{\infty}(X) = C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{C})$, then one should take A to be a real (Fréchet) pre- C^* -algebra with trivial *-operation, in which case, condition (1) corresponds simply to the commutation of J with A.

The relevant refinement of the reconstruction theorem for commutative spectral triples is, thus, the claim that a real spectral triple is real commutative, if and only if it is unitarily equivalent to a concrete real commutative spectral triple: **Proposition 4.3.12.** Let (A, H, D, J) be a real commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension n mod 8 and metric dimension p. Then there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X and a self-adjoint Clifford module $\mathcal{E} \to X$, such that $(A, H, D, J) \cong (C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$, where D, viewed as an operator on $L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E})$, is an essentially self-adjoint Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} , and where J, viewed as an operator on $L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E})$, makes (\mathcal{E}, J) a real Clifford module of KO-dimension n mod 8 such that D is J-compatible.

Proof. Suppose that (A, H, D, J) is a real commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ and metric dimension p. In particular, (A, H, D) is a Dirac-type commutative spectral triple of metric dimension p, so that by Thm. 4.2.7, there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X and a Hermitian vector bundle $\mathcal{E} \to X$, such that $(A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, where D, viewed as an operator on $L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E})$, defines an essentially self-adjoint Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} . In particular, then, D makes \mathcal{E} into a Clifford module, so that it suffices to prove that J, viewed as an operator on $L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E})$, is an anitunitary bundle automorphism on \mathcal{E} , making (\mathcal{E}, J) a real Clifford module of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$.

First, since $JaJ^*=a^*$ for all $a\in C^\infty(X)$, J can be viewed as a unitary $C^\infty(X)$ -linear morphism $C^\infty(X,\mathcal{E})\to \overline{C^\infty(X,\mathcal{E})}=C^\infty(X,\overline{\mathcal{E}})$, where $\overline{C^\infty(X,\mathcal{E})}$ is the conjugate $C^\infty(X)$ -module to $C^\infty(X,\mathcal{E})$, and $\overline{\mathcal{E}}$ is the conjugate bundle to \mathcal{E} . Hence, J defines a unitary bundle isomorphism $\mathcal{E}\cong\overline{\mathcal{E}}$, that is, an antiunitary bundle automorphism on \mathcal{E} . The rest then follows from the fact that $(C^\infty(X),L^2(X,\mathcal{E}),D,J)$ is a real spectral triple of KO-dimension n mod 8; in particular, since $DJ=\varepsilon'JD,\,Jc(df)J^*=J[D,f]J^*=\varepsilon'[D,f]=\varepsilon'c(df)$ for $f\in C^\infty(X,\mathbb{R})$, as required.

Remark 4.3.13. One may ask which KO-dimensions are possible for real commutative spectral triples over a given compact oriented Riemannian manifold X. We shall soon see how to use the spectral triple of Ex. 4.3.5 to construct real commutative spectral triples over X of any KO-dimension.

4.4 Dirac-type spectral triples

We now propose a straightforward generalisation of the precise definition of commutative spectral triple to accommodate a noncommutative algebra:

Definition 4.4.1. Let (A, H, D) be a spectral triple; we call (A, H, D) two-sided spectral triple if H admits a faithful unital *-representation of the opposite algebra A^o making H into an A-bimodule, and

$$AH^{\infty} \subset H^{\infty}, \quad H^{\infty}A \subset H^{\infty}.$$

We then call (A, H, D) a p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple for $p \in \mathbb{N}$, if it is two-sided and the following conditions hold:

- 1. **Dimension**: The spectral triple (A, H, D) has metric dimension p.
- 2. Order one: For any $a, b \in A$, $[[D, a], b^o] = 0$.
- 3. Finiteness: The right A-module H^{∞} is finitely generated projective.
- 4. Strong regularity: One has that $\operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^{\infty}) \subset \cap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k$.
- 5. Orientability: There exists an antisymmetric Hochschild p-cycle $c \in Z_p(A, A)$, such that $\chi = \pi_D(c)$ is a self-adjoint unitary on H, satisfying $a\chi = \chi a$ and $[D, a]\chi = (-1)^{p+1}\chi[D, a]$ for all $a \in A$.
- 6. **Absolute continuity**: The right A-module H^{∞} admits a Hermitian structure $(\cdot, \cdot)_A$, satisfying $\langle \xi, \eta \rangle_A = f(\xi, \eta)_A (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2}$ for $\xi, \eta \in H^{\infty}$.

Remark 4.4.2. This definition can be considered as a generalisation of the traditional notion of noncommutative spin geometry (see, e.g., [36, § 10.5]) to the case where no real structure is available. In particular, a noncommutative spin geometry with antisymmetric orientation cycle in $Z_p(A, A)$ and satisfying strong regularity and absolute continuity will be a Dirac-type spectral triple.

Of course, a Dirac-type spectral triple with commutative algebra is precisely a commutative spectral triple. Our discussion of toric noncommutative manifolds in Chapter 7, on the other hand, will offer a very wide range of genuinely noncommutative examples. In the meantime, however, let us establish the relation between this proposed definition and two closely related definitions recently proposed by Lord–Rennie–Várilly [49].

Now, for (A, H, D) a spectral triple, let $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$ denote the unital *-subalgebra of B(H) generated by A + [D, A], and recall that $H^{\infty} := \bigcap_k \text{Dom } D^k$. Lord-Rennie-Várilly's first definition, modelled on the spectral triple of a spin^{\mathbb{C}} Dirac operator on a spin^{\mathbb{C}} manifold, takes the following form:

Definition 4.4.3 ([49, Def. 4.8]). A p-dimensional noncommutative oriented spin^{\mathbb{C}} manifold, with $p \in \mathbb{N}$, is a spectral triple (A, H, D) together with a Hochschild p-cycle $c \in Z_p(A, A)$, satisfying the following conditions:

- 1. **Dimension**: The operator $(D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} \in B(H)$ lies in the Dixmier ideal, so that for any dilation-invariant state ω on ℓ^{∞} , $\psi_{\omega} : T \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{\omega}(T(D^2 + 1)^{-p/2})$ defines a positive linear functional on $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$.
- 2. **Regularity**: One has that $A + [D, A] \subset \cap_k \text{Dom}(\text{ad } |D|)^k$.
- 3. Finiteness and absolute continuity: One has that H^{∞} is a finitely generated projective left $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$ -module, and the functional ψ_{ω} on $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$ is faithful with $H = L^2(H^{\infty}, \psi_{\omega})$.
- 4. **Orientability**: One has that $\chi = \pi_D(c)$ is a self-adjoint unitary on H satisfying $a\chi = \chi a$ for all $a \in A$ and $D\chi = (-1)^{p+1}\chi D$.

5. **Spin**^{\mathbb{C}}: The dense subspace H^{∞} of H is a pre-Morita equivalence bimodule between $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$ and A, i.e., $\mathcal{C}_D(A) = \operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^{\infty})$.

If, in addition, there exists an orthogonal family of central projections $p_1, \ldots, p_n \in A$ with $\sum_k p_k = 1$, such that for any $a \in A$, [D, a] = 0 if and only if $a \in \text{span}\{p_k\}$, then (A, H, D, c) is said to satisfy connectivity.

The relation between this definition and ours is established by the following result:

Proposition 4.4.4. Let (A, H, D, c) be a p-dimensional noncommutative oriented spin^{\mathbb{C}} manifold. Suppose that it has metric dimension p, that it satisfies connectivity, and that c is antisymmetric. Then (A, H, D) is Dirac-type.

Before proceeding to the proof, we recall the following technical result from [49]:

Lemma 4.4.5 ([49, Prop. 4.10]). Let (A, H, D, c) be a p-dimensional noncommutative oriented spin^{\mathbb{C}} manifold satisfying connectivity. Then H^{∞} is finitely generated projective as a right A-module and $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$ is finitely generated projective as a left or as a right A-module. Moreover,

$$\forall \xi, \eta \in H^{\infty}, \quad \langle \eta, \xi \rangle = \psi_{\omega}((\xi, \eta)_A) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\omega} \left((\xi, \eta)_A (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} \right)$$

Proof of Proposition 4.4.4. First, observe that by regularity, (A, H, D) is pre-regular, whilst by the spin^{\mathbb{C}} condition, it is two-sided. Let us now check the conditions for a Dirac-type spectral triple one by one:

- 1. By hypothesis, (A, H, D) has metric dimension p.
- 2. By the spin^{\mathbb{C}} condition, $A^0 \subset \mathcal{C}_D(A)'$, and hence $[[D,a],b^o]=0$ for all $a,b\in A$.
- 3. By the spin^{\mathbb{C}} condition, H^{∞} is a pre-Morita equivalence bimodule between $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$ and A, and hence, in particular, H^{∞} is a finitely generated projective right A-module.
- 4. By this last observation, $\operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^\infty) = \mathcal{C}_D(A)$, so that strong regularity immediately follows from regularity.
- 5. Orientability immediately follows from orientability as a noncommutative oriented spin^{\mathbb{C}} manifold and the hypothesis that c is antisymmetric.
- 6. By the spin^{\mathbb{C}} condition, H^{∞} is, in fact, a finitely generated projective right Hermitian A-module. Then, by the connectivity hypothesis, we can apply Lemma 4.4.5 to conclude that, indeed,

$$\forall \xi, \ \eta \in H^{\infty}, \quad \langle \eta, \xi \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}_{\omega} \left((\eta, \xi)_A (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} \right).$$

Thus, (A, H, D) is Dirac-type, as was claimed.

Let us now recall Lord–Rennie–Várilly's second definition, modelled on the Hodge–de Rham spectral triple of a compact oriented Riemannian manifold:

Definition 4.4.6 ([49, Def. 4.11]). A p-dimensional noncommutative oriented Riemannian manifold, with $p \in \mathbb{N}$, is a spectral triple (A, H, D), together with a Hochschild p-cycle $c \in Z_p(A, A)$ and a vector $\Phi \in H^{\infty}$, satisfying the following conditions:

- 1. **Dimension**: The operator $(D^2+1)^{-p/2} \in B(H)$ lies in the Dixmier ideal, so that for any dilation-invariant state ω on ℓ^{∞} , $\psi_{\omega}: T \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{\omega}(T(D^2+1)^{-p/2})$ defines a positive linear functional on $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$.
- 2. **Regularity**: One has that $A + [D, A] \subset \cap_k \text{Dom}(\text{ad } |D|)^k$.
- 3. Finiteness and absolute continuity: One has that H^{∞} is a finitely generated projective left $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$ -module, and the functional ψ_{ω} on $\mathcal{C}_D(A)$ is faithful with $H = L^2(H^{\infty}, \psi_{\omega})$.
- 4. **Orientability**: One has that $\chi = \pi_D(c)$ is a self-adjoint unitary on H satisfying $a\chi = \chi a$ for all $a \in A$ and $D\chi = (-1)^{p+1}\chi D$.
- 5. **Riemannian**: The dense subspace H^{∞} of H contains a cyclic and separating vector Φ for the action of $\mathcal{C} := \mathcal{C}_D(A)$ in the algebraic sense, so that $H^{\infty} = \mathcal{C}\Phi$ and w = 0 in \mathcal{C} if and only if $w\Phi$ in H^{∞} ; in particular, then, $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{C}\Phi$ is a free left \mathcal{C} -module. Moreover, there exists a Hermitian metric $\mathcal{C}(\cdot,\cdot)$ on H^{∞} such that

$$\forall \eta, \ \xi \in \mathcal{C}, \quad \langle \eta, \xi \rangle = \psi_{\omega} \left(_{\mathcal{C}} (\eta, \xi)\right) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\omega} \left(_{\mathcal{C}} (\eta, \xi) (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2}\right),$$

and $_{\mathcal{C}}(\Phi,\Phi)$ is a strictly positive central element of \mathcal{C} ; without loss of generality, take $\|\Phi\|=1$. Finally, one requires that H^{∞} be finite projective as a left A-module, and that there exist a grading operator ϵ on H, making (A,H,D,ϵ) an even spectral triple.

Now, let (A, H, D, c, Φ) be a noncommutative oriented Riemannian manifold. By the remarks on [49, p. 1630], the Tomita–Takesaki theory implies the existence of an antiunitary operator J_{Φ} on H with $J_{\Phi}^2 = 1$, such that $\omega \mapsto J_{\Phi}\omega^*J_{\Phi}$ defines an anti-isomorphism $\mathcal{C}'' \to \mathcal{C}'$. Moreover, by [49, Lemma 4.18], it follows that $a \mapsto a^o := Ja^*J$ defines a right action of A on H, making (A, H, D) into a two-sided spectral triple. The connection between this definition and ours is established by the following result:

Proposition 4.4.7. Let (A, H, D, c, Φ) be a p-dimensional noncommutative oriented Riemannian manifold. Suppose that it has metric dimension p, that c is antisymmetric, and that $J \operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty}) J \subset \bigcap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k$. Then (A, H, D) is Dirac-type.

Before proceeding to the proof, let us recall the following technical result from [49]:

Lemma 4.4.8 ([49, Cor. 4.20]). Suppose that (A, H, D) satisfies conditions (1), (2), and (5) of the definition of noncommutative oriented Riemannian manifold. Then (A, H, D) satisfies condition (3), if and only if the following both hold:

- 1. $C_D(A)$ is a finitely generated projective left A-module,
- 2. there exists an operator-valued weight $\Psi: \mathcal{C}_D(A) \to A$ such that $\psi_\omega = \psi_\omega \circ \Psi$ for all dilation-invariant states ω on ℓ^∞ .

Proof of Proposition 4.4.7. Let us check the conditions for a Dirac-type spectral triple one by one:

- 1. By hypothesis, (A, H, D) has metric dimension p.
- 2. By construction, $A^0 = JAJ \subset \mathcal{C}_D(A)'$, and hence $[[D, a], b^o] = 0$ for all $a, b \in A$.
- 3. By Lemma 4.4.8, H^{∞} is a finitely generated projective left A-module, so that we have an isomorphism of left A-modules $\phi: H^{\infty} \cong A^n q$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$ a projection $q \in M_n(A)$. Then $\tilde{\phi}: H^{\infty} \to qA^n$ given by $\tilde{\phi}(\xi) := \phi(J\xi)^*$ is the desired isomorphism of right A-modules.
- 4. By hypothesis, $J \operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty}) J \subset \cap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k$; since $\operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^{\infty}) = J \operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty}) J$, strong regularity therefore follows.
- 5. Orientability immediately follows from orientability as a noncommutative oriented Riemannian manifold and the hypothesis that c is antisymmetric.
- 6. By the proof of Lemma 4.4.8, there is an operator-valued weight $\Psi: \mathcal{C}_D(A) \to A$ such that

$$_{A}(\xi,\eta) := \Psi\left(_{C}(\xi,\eta)\right), \quad \xi,\eta \in H^{\infty}$$

defines a Hermitian metric on ${}_AH^\infty$, and such that $\psi_\omega = \psi_\omega \circ \Psi$ for all Dixmier limits ω . In this light, $\phi: H^\infty \cong A^n q$ is taken to be an isomorphism of Hermitian left A-modules, yielding $\tilde{\phi}: H^\infty \cong qA^n$ as an isomorphism of Hermitian right A-modules, where

$$(\eta, \xi)_A := {}_A (J\xi, J\eta), \quad \xi, \eta \in H^{\infty}.$$

It therefore follows that for $\psi_{\omega}: T \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}\left(T(D^2+1)^{-p/2}\right)$,

$$\forall \xi, \eta \in H^{\infty}, \quad \psi_{\omega}\left((\eta, \xi)_{A}\right) = \psi_{\omega}\left(_{A}\left(J\xi, J\eta\right)\right) = \psi_{\omega}\left(_{C}\left(J\xi, J\eta\right)\right) = \langle J\xi, J\eta \rangle = \langle \xi, \eta \rangle,$$

as required.

Thus, (A, H, D) is indeed Dirac-type, as was claimed.

Chapter 5

Stability results

Conclusit uias meas lapidibus quadris; semitas meas subuertit.

— Lamentations 3:9 (Vulgate)

In this chapter, we finally prove that the orientability hypothesis can be dropped from Connes's reconstruction theorem to yield the full generality of Corollary 4.2.7. This will depend on the non-trivial result that a Dirac-type spectral triple remains a Dirac-type spectral triple with the same qualitative features, under suitable perturbation of the Dirac operator. To state it, we shall need the following definition, adapted from Higson [37]:

Definition 5.0.9. Let Δ be a self-adjoint operator with compact resolvent on a separable Hilbert space H, and let C be a subset of B(H) that leaves $H^{\infty} := \bigcap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k$ invariant. Then the algebra of differential operators generated by C with respect to Δ is the smallest filtered algebra $\mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)$ of linear operators on H^{∞} that contains C and is closed under the operator $T \mapsto [\Delta, T]$; this algebra is defined and filtered inductively as follows:

- (a) $\mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_0$ is the unital algebra generated by C itself.
- (b) $\mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_1 := \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_0 [\Delta, \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_0] \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_0.$

(c)
$$\mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_k := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_j \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_{k-j} + \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_0 \left[\Delta, \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_{k-1}\right] \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_0.$$

Moreover, we shall call $(\mathcal{D}(C,\Delta),\Delta)$ a differential pair if for every $X \in \mathcal{D}(C,\Delta)_k$, there exists some $\epsilon > 0$, such that for all $\xi \in H^{\infty}$, $\|\Delta^{k/2}\xi\| + \|\xi\| \ge \epsilon \|X\xi\|$.

Example 5.0.10. In the case of a concrete commutative spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, one has that $\mathcal{D} := \mathcal{D}(C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}), D^2))$ is is indeed an algebra of differential operators on H; that (\mathcal{D}, D^2) is a differential pair follows from the Gårding estimates of elliptic regularity theory [61, Chapter 5].

The key technical tool is, thus, the following theorem, collating the technical lemmas of [9, Appendix A], which in turn consist both of generalisations of folkloric results proved by Chakraborty—Mathai [14] and Iochum—Levy—Vassilevich [39], as well as folkloric results hitherto unproved in the literature.

Theorem 5.0.11. Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple, and let M be a self-adjoint element of $\operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^\infty)$ for $H^\infty := \cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k$, such that

$$[(D+M)^2 - D^2, T] \in \mathcal{D}(\text{End}_{A^o}(H^\infty), D^2)_{k+1}$$

for all $T \in \mathcal{D}(\operatorname{End}_{A^{\circ}}(H^{\infty}), D^{2})_{k}$. Then $D_{M} := D + M$ extends to an essentially self-adjoint operator on H with smooth core H^{∞} , making (A, H, D_{M}) into a p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple, satisfying the following:

- 1. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\operatorname{Dom} D_M^k = \operatorname{Dom} D^k$, and hence $\cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D_M^k = H^{\infty}$;
- 2. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$Dom (ad |D_M|)^k = Dom (ad |D|)^k \subset B(H),$$

and hence

$$\bigcap_{k} \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D_{M}|\right)^{k} = \bigcap_{k} \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D|\right)^{k}.$$

3. For all ξ , $\eta \in H^{\infty}$,

$$f(\xi, \eta) (D_M^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = f(\xi, \eta) (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = \langle \xi, \eta \rangle.$$

Remark 5.0.12. If (A, H, D) is commutative, and $M \in \operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty})$ is self-adjoint and satisfies

$$\forall a \in A, M[D, a] = -[D, a]M,$$

then $D_M^2 - D^2 = MD + DM \in \text{End}_A(H^{\infty})$, and, hence, M satisfies the hypothesis of Theorem 5.0.11.

The essence of the proof of Corollary 4.2.7 is, then, contained in the following corollary of Theorem 5.0.11:

Corollary 5.0.13. Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional commutative spectral triple with chirality operator χ and Hermitian metric (\cdot, \cdot) on $H^{\infty} := \bigcap_k \text{Dom } D^k$, satisfying

$$\forall \xi, \eta \in H^{\infty}, \ \langle \xi, \eta \rangle = \int (\xi, \eta) (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2}.$$

Define an operator D_0 on H^{∞} by

$$D_0 = \frac{1}{2} \chi^p (D - (-1)^p \chi D \chi).$$

Then D_0 extends to an essentially self-adjoint operator on H, making (A, H, D_0) into a strongly orientable p-dimensional commutative spectral triple that satisfies the following:

- 1. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\text{Dom } D_0^k = \text{Dom } D^k$, and hence $\cap_k \text{Dom } D_0^k = H^{\infty}$;
- 2. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$Dom (ad |D_0|)^k = Dom (ad |D|)^k \subset B(H),$$

and hence

$$\bigcap_{k} \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D_{0}|\right)^{k} = \bigcap_{k} \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D|\right)^{k}.$$

3. For all ξ , $\eta \in H^{\infty}$,

$$f(\xi, \eta) (D_0^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = f(\xi, \eta) (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = \langle \xi, \eta \rangle.$$

In particular, $M := D - \chi^p D_0$ extends to a self-adjoint element of $\operatorname{End}_B(H^\infty) \subset B(H)$ such that M restricts to an element of $B(\operatorname{Dom} D^k)$ for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Let us begin, rather, by defining M on H^{∞} by

$$M := \frac{1}{2} \left(D + (-1)^p \chi D \chi \right).$$

Recalling that $a\chi=\chi a$ and $[D,a]\chi=(-1)^{p+1}\chi[D,a]$ for all $a\in A,$ we have that

$$\forall a \in A, \ [M, a] = \frac{1}{2} ([D, a] + (-1)^p \chi[D, a] \chi) = 0,$$

so that $M \in \operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty})$. Since $\operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty}) \subset B(H)$ by strong regularity, M is bounded, whilst by construction, M is symmetric on $H^{\infty} \subset H$ and hence self-adjoint as an element of B(H). Moreover, since

$$D_{-M} := D - M = \frac{1}{2} (D - (-1)^p \chi D \chi),$$

it follows that

$$(D_{-M}^2 - D^2) = -MD_{-M} - D_{-M}M = \chi D^2 \chi - D^2.$$

Hence, by construction of $\mathcal{D}(\operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty}), D^2)$, for any $T \in \mathcal{D}(\operatorname{End}_A(H^{\infty}), D^2)_k$,

$$[D^2_{-M} - D^2, T] = [\chi D^2 \chi - D^2, T] = \chi[D^2, T] \chi - [D^2, T] \in \mathcal{D}(\mathrm{End}_A(H^\infty), D^2)_{k+1}.$$

Thus, we can apply Theorem 5.0.11 to conclude that (A, H, D_{-M}) is a p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple satisfying:

- 1. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\text{Dom } D_{-M}^k = \text{Dom } D^k$, and hence $\cap_k \text{Dom } D_{-M}^k = H^{\infty}$;
- 2. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D_{-M}|\right)^k = \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D|\right)^k \subset B(H),$$

and hence

$$\bigcap_{k} \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D_{-M}| \right)^{k} = \bigcap_{k} \operatorname{Dom} \left(\operatorname{ad} |D| \right)^{k}.$$

3. For all ξ , $\eta \in H^{\infty}$,

$$f(\xi, \eta) (D_{-M}^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = f(\xi, \eta) (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = \langle \xi, \eta \rangle.$$

In particular, observe that by construction $D_{-M}\chi=(-1)^{p+1}\chi D_{-M}.$

Now, set

$$D_0 = \chi^p D_{-M} = \frac{1}{2} \chi^p (D - (-1)^p \chi D \chi).$$

Since $D_0^2 = D_{-M}^2$, it therefore follows that that (A, H, D_0) is again a p-dimensional commutative spectral triple, satisfying

- 1. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, Dom $D_0^k = \text{Dom } D^k$, and hence $\cap_k \text{Dom } D_0^k = H^{\infty}$;
- 2. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$Dom (ad |D_0|)^k = Dom (ad |D|)^k \subset B(H),$$

and hence

$$\cap_k \operatorname{Dom} (\operatorname{ad} |D_0|)^k = \cap_k \operatorname{Dom} (\operatorname{ad} |D|)^k$$
.

3. For all ξ , $\eta \in H^{\infty}$,

$$f(\xi, \eta) (D_0^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = f(\xi, \eta) (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = \langle \xi, \eta \rangle.$$

If p is even, then $D_0 = D_{-M}$, and hence $D\chi = -\chi D$, so that (A, H, D_0) is strongly orientable. If p is odd, then if

$$c = \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_{k,0} \otimes a_{k,1} \otimes \cdots \otimes a_{k,p}$$

is the orientation cycle of (A, H, D), then, since

$$\forall a \in A, [D_0, a] = [\chi^p(D - M), a] = \chi^p[D, a],$$

one has that

$$\pi_{D_0}(c) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_{k,0}[D_0, a_{k,1}] \cdots [D_0, a_{k,p}] = \chi^{p^2} \chi = 1,$$

as required.

The rest of the chapter amounts to a step-by-step proof of Theorem 5.0.11.

5.1 Spectral triple; metric dimension

We begin by showing that perturbing the Dirac operator of a spectral triple by a bounded self-adjoint operator still results in a spectral triple.

Lemma 5.1.1 ([14, Lemma 2.1, Proposition 2.2]). Let (A, H, D) be a spectral triple, let $M \in B(H)$ be self-adjoint, and set $D_M := D + M$. Then (A, H, D_M) is a spectral triple.

Proof. First, by the Kato-Rellich theorem, D_M is self-adjoint on $\mathrm{Dom}\,D_M = \mathrm{Dom}\,D$ and essentially self-adjoint on any core of D. Next, since D has compact resolvent, for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$,

$$(D_M - \lambda)^{-1} = (D - \lambda)^{-1} - (D_M - \lambda)^{-1} M(D - \lambda)^{-1} \in \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{H}),$$

so that D_M too has compact resolvent. Finally, for any $a \in A$, since $[D, a] \in B(H)$ and since $M \in B(H)$,

$$[D_M, a] = [D, a] + [M, a] \in B(H).$$

Thus, (A, H, D_M) is indeed a spectral triple.

Let us now consider stability of metric dimension.

Lemma 5.1.2. Let (A, H, D) be a spectral triple, let $M \in B(H)$ be self-adjoint, and set $D_M := D + M$. If (A, H, D) has metric dimension p > 0, then so too does (A, H, D_M) .

To prove this, we shall need the following technical lemma from the literature:

Lemma 5.1.3 (Carey-Phillips [12, Lemma B.6]). If D is an unbounded self-adjoint operator on a Hilbert space H, and $M \in B(H)$ is self-adjoint, then for $D_M := D + M$,

$$(D_M^2 + 1)^{-1} \le f(||M||) (D^2 + 1)^{-1},$$

where $f(x) := 1 + \frac{1}{2}x^2 + \frac{1}{2}x\sqrt{x^2 + 4}$.

Proof of Lemma 5.1.2. By Lemma 5.1.3 one has that

$$\frac{1}{f(\|M\|)}(D^2+1)^{-1} \le (D_M^2+1)^{-1} \le f(\|M\|)(D^2+1)^{-1},$$

where $f(x) := 1 + \frac{1}{2}x^2 + \frac{1}{2}x\sqrt{x^2 + 4}$, so that by [58, Lemma on p. 270], if $\lambda_n(C)$ denotes the *n*-th eigenvalue of the positive compact operator $C \in B(\mathcal{H})$, in decreasing order, then

$$\frac{1}{f(\|M\|)}\lambda_k((D^2+1)^{-1}) \le \lambda_k((D_M^2+1)^{-1}) \le f(\|M\|)\lambda_k((D^2+1)^{-1})$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $\lambda_k((D^2+1)^{-1}) = O(k^{-2/p})$, it therefore follows that

$$\lambda_k((D_M^2+1)^{-1}) = O(k^{-2/p}).$$

Thus, (A, \mathcal{H}, D_M) has metric dimension p, as was claimed.

Now, in the context of Theorem 5.0.11, since M is bounded and self-adjoint, it immediately follows that (A, H, D_M) is a spectral triple of metric dimension p.

5.2 Finiteness

The following lemma will suffice to establish stability of finiteness in the proof of Theorem 5.0.11, and will also be necessary for our discussion below of [strong] regularity and absolute continuity; we shall follow the proof by Iochum–Levy–Vassilevich.

Lemma 5.2.1 (Iochum–Lévy–Vassilevich [39, Lemma 2.3]). For $k \in \mathbb{N}$, let $H^k := \text{Dom } D^k$ with the Sobolev inner product

$$\langle \xi, \eta \rangle_k := \left\langle D^k \xi, D^k \eta \right\rangle + \left\langle \xi, \eta \right\rangle,$$

and similarly let $H_M^k := \text{Dom } D_M^k$ with the Sobolev inner product

$$\langle \xi, \eta \rangle_{M,k} := \left\langle D_M^k \xi, D_M^k \eta \right\rangle + \left\langle \xi, \eta \right\rangle.$$

Suppose now that M restricts to an element of $B(H^k)$ for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $H^k = H_M^k$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with equivalent norms, and thus, in particular, $\cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k = \cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k_M$.

Proof. Let us first prove equality of vector spaces. We proceed by induction on k. First, by the Kato-Rellich theorem [57, Theorem X.12], D_M is self-adjoint on $D_M = D_M =$

$$\operatorname{Dom} D_M^{m+1} = \{ \xi \in \operatorname{Dom} D_M^m \mid D_M \xi \in \operatorname{Dom} D_M^m \}$$
$$= \{ \xi \in \operatorname{Dom} D^m \mid (D+M)\xi \in \operatorname{Dom} D^m \}$$
$$= \{ \xi \in \operatorname{Dom} D^m \mid D\xi \in \operatorname{Dom} D^m \}$$

$$= \operatorname{Dom} D^{m+1},$$

as required.

Let us now prove equivalence of the Sobolev norms. Before continuing, we will find it convenient to replace $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_k$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{M,k}$ with $(\cdot, \cdot)_k$ and $(\cdot, \cdot)_{M,k}$, respectively, where

$$\begin{split} (\xi,\eta)_k &:= \left\langle (D+i)^k \xi, (D+i)^k \eta \right\rangle + \left\langle \xi, \eta \right\rangle, \\ (\xi,\eta)_{M,k} &:= \left\langle (D_M+i)^k \xi, (D_M+i)^k \eta \right\rangle + \left\langle \xi, \eta \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

Indeed, let us show, for instance, that $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_k$ and $(\cdot, \cdot)_k$ define equivalent norms. On the one hand, for $\xi \in H^k$,

$$\|(D+i)^k \xi\| = \left\| \sum_{m=0}^k i^m D^{k-m} \xi \right\| \le \sum_{m=0}^k \|D^{k-m} \xi\|,$$

so that by continuity of the inclusions $H^k \hookrightarrow H^{k-m}$ for the $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_n$, there exists some C > 0, independent of ξ , such that

$$\|(D+i)^k \xi\|^2 + \|\xi\|^2 \le C (\|D^k \xi\|^2 + \|\xi\|^2).$$

On the other hand since the $(\cdot,\cdot)_k$ is also simply the k-th Sobolev inner product for $\sqrt{D^2+1}$, the inclusions $H^k \hookrightarrow H^{k-m}$ are also continuous for the $(\cdot,\cdot)_n$, and hence, since

$$||D^k \xi|| = ||((D+i)-i)^k \xi|| = ||\sum_{m=0}^k (-i)^m (D+i)^{k-m} \xi|| \le \sum_{m=0}^k ||(D+i)^{k-m} \xi||,$$

there exists some C', independent of ξ , such that

$$||D^k \xi||^2 + ||\xi||^2 \le C' \left(||(D+i)^k \xi||^2 + ||\xi||^2 \right).$$

Thus, $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_k$ and $(\cdot,\cdot)_k$ do indeed define equivalent norms.

Now, fix $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and consider the linear map $B = (D_M - i)^k (D - i)^{-k}$ on \mathcal{H} ; we claim that B is, in fact, bounded on \mathcal{H} . First, one has that on $\text{Dom } D^k = \text{Dom } D^k_M$,

$$(D_M - i)^k = ((D - i) + M)^k = (D - i)^k + \sum_{m=1}^k T_m,$$

where for each m, T_m is a product of k operators, each of which is either (D-i) or M. By our assumption on M, then, each T_m therefore defines a continuous map $H_k \to H_1$, so that, since

 $(D-i)^k: \mathcal{H}_k \to \mathcal{H} \text{ and } (D-i)^{-k}: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_k \text{ are continuous},$

$$B = (D_M - i)^k (D - i)^{-k} = \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{H}} + \sum_{m=1}^k T_m (D - i)^k$$

defines a bounded operator on \mathcal{H} . Since B is bijective, it therefore follows by the bounded inverse theorem that B has a bounded inverse. Thus, for $\xi \in \text{Dom } D^k = \text{Dom } D^k$, since $(D_M - i)^k = B(D - i)^k$ and $(D - i)^k = B^{-1}(D_M - i)^k$,

$$(\xi,\xi)_{M,k} \leq \max\left\{1,\left\|B\right\|^2\right\}(\xi,\xi)_k\,,\quad (\xi,\xi)_k \leq \max\left\{1,\left\|B^{-1}\right\|^2\right\}(\xi,\xi)_{M,k}\,,$$

which implies, by our earlier observation, that $\|\cdot\|_k$ and $\|\cdot\|_{M,k}$ are equivalent, as required.

5.3 Regularity and strong regularity

We shall now use Higson's characterisation of regularity, first to allow us to apply Lemma 5.2.1 in context, and then to generalise a result on stability of regularity due to Chakraborty–Mathai [14].

We have already stated our adaptation of Higson's definition of abstract algebra of differential operators; the relevant stability result therefore is as follows:

Lemma 5.3.1 ([14, Proposition 4.2]). Let (A, H, D) be a spectral triple, and let

$$C \subset \cap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k \subset B(H).$$

Let $M \in \mathcal{D}(C, D^2)$ be self-adjoint, set $D_M := D + M$, and suppose that $[D_M^2 - D^2, T] \in \mathcal{D}(C, D^2)_{k+1}$ for $T \in \mathcal{D}(C, D^2)_k$. Then $C \subset \cap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D_M|)^k \subset B(H)$.

In the case that C = A + [D, A], we get a sufficient condition for stability of regularity, and in the case that $C = \text{End}_{A^o}(H^\infty)$, we get a sufficient condition for stability of strong regularity.

Remark 5.3.2. If M is an inner fluctuation of the metric, that is, if

$$M = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i [D, b_i]$$

for some a_i , $b_i \in \mathcal{A}$, then the condition that $[D_M^2 - D^2, T] \in \mathcal{D}_{k+1}$ for $T \in \mathcal{D}_k$ is automatically satisfied.

As was first observed by Chakraborty–Mathai, the essential tool is Higson's characterisation of regularity, stated here in the full generality actually provided for by Higson's proof:

Theorem 5.3.3 (Higson [37, Theorem 4.26]). Let D be a self-adjoint operator with compact resolvent on a separable Hilbert space H, and let $H^{\infty} = \bigcap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k$. Let C be a subalgebra of B(H) that leaves H^{∞} invariant. Then $C \subset \bigcap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k$ if and only if $(\mathcal{D}(C, \Delta), D^2)$ is a differential pair.

The tool that will allow us to use Lemma 5.2.1 is the following lemma of Higson's:

Lemma 5.3.4 (Higson [37, Lemma 4.7]). Let Δ be a self-adjoint operator with compact resolvent on a separable Hilbert space H. Let C be a subalgebra of B(H) that leaves $H^{\infty} = \cap_k \text{Dom } D^k$ invariant, and let $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}(C, \Delta)$. If (\mathcal{D}, D^2) is a differential pair, then for any $T \in \mathcal{D}_k$, T extends to a bounded operator $H^{k+m} \to H^m$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

Finally, with Theorem 5.3.3 and Lemma 5.3.4 at our disposal, we can finally prove our stability result:

Proof of Lemma 5.3.1. For simplicity, let $\mathcal{D} := \mathcal{D}(C, D^2)$, and let $\mathcal{D}_M := \mathcal{D}(C, D_M^2)$. By our hypothesis on $D_M^2 - D^2$, there is a filtered inclusion $\mathcal{D}_M \subset \mathcal{D}$ of filtered algebras, so that by our hypothesis on C and Theorem 5.3.3, (\mathcal{D}_M, D^2) is a differential pair, in the sense that for every $X \in (\mathcal{D}_M)_k$, there exists some $\epsilon > 0$, such that for all $\xi \in H^\infty$, $\||D|^k \xi\| + \|\xi\| \ge \epsilon \|X\xi\|$. Thus, fix $X \in \mathcal{D}_M$ of order $\le k$, so that there exists some $\epsilon > 0$, such that for all $\xi \in H^\infty := \cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k = \cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k_M$,

$$||D^k \xi|| + ||\xi|| \ge \epsilon ||X\xi||.$$

Then, since $\operatorname{Dom} D^k = \operatorname{Dom} D^k_M$ with equivalent Sobolev norms by Lemmas 5.3.4 and 5.2.1, it follows that that D^k is bounded as an operator from $\operatorname{Dom} D^k_M$ endowed with the Sobolev k-norm for D_M , to H, implying that $\|D^k\xi\| \le \alpha \|D^k_M\xi\| + \beta \|\xi\|$ for some $\alpha, \beta > 0$ independent of ξ , and hence that

$$\left\|D_{M}^{k}\xi\right\|+\left\|\xi\right\|\geq\epsilon'\left\|X\xi\right\|$$

for some $\epsilon' > 0$ independent of ξ . Thus, (\mathcal{D}_M, D_M^2) is a differential pair, so that by Theorem 5.3.3, $C \subset \cap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D_M|)^k$, as required.

Now, let us apply these results to the proof of Theorem 5.0.11. First, by Theorem 5.3.3 and Lemma 5.3.4, M restricts to a bounded operator on $\operatorname{Dom} D^k$ with the relevant Sobolev norm, for each k. Hence, by Lemma 5.2.1, $\operatorname{Dom} D^k_M = \operatorname{Dom} D^k$ with equivalent Sobolev norms for each k, and thus, in particular, $\cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k_M = \cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k = H^{\infty}$, proving pre-regularity and finiteness for (A, H, D_M) . Then, by Lemma 5.3.1 applied to $C = \operatorname{End}_{A^o}(H^{\infty})$, we can conclude that (A, H, D_M) is strongly regular.

5.4 Absolute continuity

Finally, we consider stability of absolute continuity, which shall depend essentially on the BKS inequality, Theorem 3.4.4.

Lemma 5.4.1. Let (A, H, D) be a spectral triple of metric dimension p, and let $M \in \cap_k B(H^k)$ be self-adjoint, where $H^k := \text{Dom } D^k$ with the Sobolev inner product

$$\langle \xi, \eta \rangle_k := \langle D^k \xi, D^k \eta \rangle + \langle \xi, \eta \rangle.$$

Let $D_M := D + M$. Then

$$\forall T \in B(H), \ \int T(D_M^2 + 1)^{-p/2} = \int T(D^2 + 1)^{-p/2}.$$

Proof. Let

$$n = \begin{cases} \frac{p}{2} & \text{if } p \text{ is even,} \\ \frac{p+1}{2} & \text{if } p \text{ is odd,} \end{cases} \qquad \alpha = \frac{p}{2n} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p \text{ is even,} \\ \frac{p}{p+1} & \text{if } p \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$

First, we have that

$$\begin{split} &(D_M^2+1)^{-n}-(D^2+1)^{-n}\\ &=(D^2+1)^{-n}\left((D^2+1)^n-(D_M^2+1)^n\right)(D_M^2+1)^{-n}\\ &=(D^2+1)^{-n}\left(\sum_{i=0}^n\sum_{j=0}^{2i-1}\binom{n}{i}D^jMD_M^{2i-1-j}\right)(D_M^2+1)^{-n}\\ &=\sum_{i=0}^n\sum_{j=0}^{2i-1}\binom{n}{i}(D^2+1)^{-n+\frac{j}{2}}\left[D(D^2+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right]^jM\left[D_M(D_M^2+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right]^{2i-1-j}(D_M^2+1)^{-n+i-\frac{j+1}{2}}, \end{split}$$

which by Lemma 5.2.1 can be checked on the common core H^{∞} of D and D_M .

Now, consider the term

$$(D^2+1)^{-n+\frac{j}{2}} \left[D(D^2+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right]^j M \left[D_M (D_M^2+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right]^{2i-1-j} (D_M^2+1)^{-n+i-\frac{j+1}{2}},$$

where $0 \le i \le n$ and $0 \le j \le 2i - 1$. Since (A, H, D) is of metric dimension p, so too is (A, H, D_M) by Lemma 5.1.2, so that

$$(D^2+1)^{-p/2}, (D_M^2+1)^{-p/2} \in \mathcal{L}^{1+}(\mathcal{H}),$$

and hence, for all $\epsilon > 0$,

$$(D^2+1)^{-1}, (D_M^2+1)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}^{\alpha n + \epsilon}(\mathcal{H}).$$

Setting $\epsilon = \alpha(n-i+\frac{1}{2})$, we therefore find that

$$(D^2+1)^{-n+\frac{j}{2}} \in \mathcal{L}^r(\mathcal{H}),$$

$$\left[D(D^2+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right]^j M \left[D_M(D_M^2+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right]^{2i-1-j} (D_M^2+1)^{-n+i-\frac{j+1}{2}} \in \mathcal{L}^s(H),$$

for

$$r = \frac{\alpha n + \epsilon}{n - \frac{j}{2}}, \quad s = \frac{\alpha n + \epsilon}{n - i + \frac{j+1}{2}},$$

which satisfy $r^{-1} + s^{-1} = \alpha^{-1}$. Hence, by Hölder's inequality for Schatten ideals,

$$(D^2+1)^{-n+\frac{j}{2}} \left[D(D^2+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right]^j M \left[D_M (D_M^2+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right]^{2i-1-j} (D_M^2+1)^{-n+i-\frac{j+1}{2}} \in \mathcal{L}^{\alpha}(\mathcal{H});$$

since this is true for all i and j, it therefore follows that $(D_M^2 + 1)^{-n} - (D^2 + 1)^{-n} \in \mathcal{L}^{\alpha}(\mathcal{H})$. If p is even, then $\alpha = 1$ and $(D_M^2 + 1)^{-n} - (D^2 + 1)^{-n}$ is already trace-class; if p is odd, then since

$$(D_M^2 + 1)^{-p/2\alpha} - (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2\alpha} = (D_M^2 + 1)^{-n} - (D^2 + 1)^{-n} \in \mathcal{L}^{\alpha}(H)$$

for $0 < \alpha < 1$, we can apply the BKS inequality (Theorem 3.4.4) to

$$\left| (D_M^2 + 1)^{-p/2\alpha} - (D^2 + 1)^{-p/2\alpha} \right|^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{L}^1(H)$$

to conclude that $(D_M^2+1)^{-p/2}-(D^2+1)^{-p/2}$ is indeed trace-class.

Let us now conclude the proof of Theorem 5.0.11. By Theorem 5.3.3 and Lemma 5.3.4, we have that $M \in \cap_k B(H^k)$, and we have likewise already seen that pre-regularity and finiteness are preserved. We can therefore apply Lemma 5.4.1 to conclude that (A, H, D) and (A, H, D_M) have the same noncommutative integration, and, hence, absolute continuity is preserved.

Chapter 6

Almost-commutative spectral triples

Nigdar ni tak bilo da ni nekak bilo, pak ni vezda ne bu da nam nekak ne bu.

— M. Krleža, Khevenhiller

In the following, we shall motivate and propose both concrete (viz, global-analytic) and abstract (viz, noncommutative-geometric) definitions of almost-commutative spectral triples, and then state and prove a reconstruction theorem for almost-commutative spectral triples, thereby establishing the equivalence of the concrete and abstract definitions.

6.1 Concrete definitions

In order to motivate our new definitions, let us recall the conventional definition of almost-commutative spectral triple, or, for convenience, *Cartesian almost-commutative spectral triples*. In order to do so, however, we must recall the following definition:

Definition 6.1.1. Let $X_1 = (A_1, H_1, D_1)$ and $X_2 = (A_2, H_2, D_2)$ be spectral triples. Then the product $X_1 \times X_2$ of X_1 and X_2 is the spectral triple defined as follows:

1. If X_1 and X_2 are both even with \mathbb{Z}_2 -gradings γ_1 and γ_2 respectively, then

$$X_1 \times X_2 := (A_1 \otimes A_2, H_1 \otimes H_2, D_1 \otimes 1 + \gamma_1 \otimes D_2, \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_2).$$

2. If X_1 is even with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading γ_1 and X_2 is odd, then

$$X_1 \times X_2 := (A_1 \otimes A_2, H_1 \otimes H_2, D_1 \otimes 1 + \gamma_1 \otimes D_2).$$

3. If X_1 is odd and X_2 is even with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading γ_2 , then

$$X_1 \times X_2 := (A_1 \otimes A_2, H_1 \otimes H_2, D_1 \otimes \gamma_2 + 1 \otimes D_2).$$

4. If X_1 and X_2 are odd, then

$$X_1 \times X_2 := (A_1 \otimes A_2, H_1 \otimes H_2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2, D_1 \otimes 1 \otimes \sigma_1 + 1 \otimes D_2 \otimes \sigma_2, 1 \otimes 1 \otimes \sigma_3),$$

where the σ_k are the Pauli sigma matrices:

$$\sigma_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Remark 6.1.2. In the case where both X_1 and X_2 are even, one could alternatively construct the Dirac operator of $X_1 \times X_2$ as $D_1 \otimes \gamma_2 + 1 \otimes D_2$; the resulting spectral triple is, then, unitarily equivalent to $X_1 \times X_2$ as constructed above.

That the product of spectral triples is indeed a spectral triple does require verification—see [32,53] for details. In particular, Otgonbayar proves that the product of regular spectral triples is again regular [53, Prop. 3.1.32].

The conventional definition of almost-commutative spectral triple then reads as follows:

Definition 6.1.3. A Cartesian almost-commutative spectral triple is a spectral triple of the form $X \times F$, where X is a compact spin manifold with fixed spin structure, identified, by abuse of notation, with its canonical commutative spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{S}), \cancel{D})$, and F is a finite spectral triple.

Remark 6.1.4. Note that this definition is not stable under inner fluctuations of the metric, for if $M = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i[D, b_i]$ for non-constant $a_i, b_i \in C^{\infty}(X) \otimes \mathcal{A}_F$, then M is generally not of the form $1 \widehat{\otimes} T$ for some constant $T \in B(H_F)$.

Now, for simplicity, let X be an even-dimensional compact spin manifold with fixed spinor bundle $S \to X$ and corresponding Dirac operator D, and let $F = (A_F, H_F, D_F)$ be an even finite spectral triple. Then, by the above definition,

$$X \times F := (C^{\infty}(X) \widehat{\otimes} A_F, L^2(X, \mathcal{S}) \widehat{\otimes} H_F, \not \mathbb{D} \widehat{\otimes} 1 + 1 \widehat{\otimes} D_F).$$

Let us now make some observations:

1. $L^2(X,\mathcal{S})\widehat{\otimes}H_F=L^2(X,\mathcal{E})$, where $\mathcal{E}:=\mathcal{S}\otimes(X\times H_F)$ is a twisted spinor bundle, and hence, in particular, a Clifford module.

- 2. \mathcal{A} is a locally trivial bundle of finite-dimensional C^* -algebras, and that the inclusion $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E})$ is a morphism of local trivial bundles of finite-dimensional C^* -algebras, and sections of \mathcal{A} act on \mathcal{E} as even bundle endomorphisms that commute with the Clifford action on \mathcal{E} .
- 3. $\cancel{D} \widehat{\otimes} 1$ is the twisted Dirac operator on the twisted spinor bundle $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{S} \otimes (X \times H_F)$ arising from the trivial connection on $X \times H_F$ and $1 \widehat{\otimes} D_F$ is a symmetric bundle endomorphism, so that $D := \cancel{D} \widehat{\otimes} 1 + 1 \widehat{\otimes} D_F$ is a symmetric Dirac-type operator on the Clifford module \mathcal{E} .

It is on the basis of these observations, then, that we shall propose our manifestly global-analytic definition of almost-commutative spectral triple.

First, let us characterise the datum $\mathcal{A} := X \times A_F$:

Definition 6.1.5. Let X be a compact manifold. We define an algebra bundle to be a locally trivial bundle of finite-dimensional C^* -algebras. We also define a representation of an algebra bundle $\mathcal{A} \to X$ on a Hermitian vector bundle $\mathcal{E} \to X$ to be an injective morphism $\mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E})$ of locally-trivial bundles of algebra bundles, in which case we call $\mathcal{E} \to X$ an \mathcal{A} -module.

Next, let us characterise the datum $\mathcal{E} := \mathcal{S} \otimes (X \times H_F)$ and its relation to \mathcal{A} :

Definition 6.1.6. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, and let $\mathcal{A} \to X$ be a bundle of algebras. We define a *Clifford* \mathcal{A} -module to be a Clifford module $\mathcal{E} \to X$ together with a faithful *-representation of \mathcal{A} , commuting with the Clifford action; if \mathcal{E} is \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded, we require sections of \mathcal{A} to act as even operators on \mathcal{E} .

With these definitions in place, let us finally give our proposed definition:

Definition 6.1.7. A concrete almost-commutative spectral triple is a spectral triple of the form $(C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{A}), L^2(X,\mathcal{E}), D)$, where X is a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, $\mathcal{A} \to X$ is a bundle of algebras, $\mathcal{E} \to X$ is a Clifford \mathcal{A} -module, and D is a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

Remark 6.1.8. This definition is stable under inner fluctuation of the metric, for a perturbation of a symmetric Dirac-type operator by a symmetric bundle endomorphism is a symmetric Dirac-type operator, inducing the same Clifford action.

Of course, one should check that our definition does indeed give rise to a spectral triple. Suppose that X is a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, A is an algebra bundle, \mathcal{E} is a Clifford A-bundle, and D is a symmetric Dirac-type operator on H. Then by standard analytic results about Dirac-type operators [37, Theorem 3.23], together with the fact that sections of A act as even bundle endomorphisms supercommuting with the Clifford action H, so that [D,a] is a bundle endomorphism for all $a \in C^{\infty}(X,A)$, $(C^{\infty}(M,A),L^2(M,H),D)$ is indeed a spectral triple of metric dimension dim X.

Now, since the square of a Dirac-type operator is a generalised Laplacian, this definition manifestly lends itself to perturbative computation of the spectral action [15] via heat kernel methods [35] (see [33] for a comprehensive account for product almost-commutative spectral triples). Another feature of this definition is that it encompasses non-trivial "fibrations" in the following sense:

Lemma 6.1.9. Let X be a compact spin manifold with spinor bundle $S \to X$ and Dirac operator D, and let $F = (A_F, H_F, D_F)$ be a finite spectral triple. Let G be a compact Lie group, and let ρ be an action of G on F, namely, a unitary representation of G on H_F , such that for each $g \in G$, $\rho(g)A_F\rho(g)^* \subset A_F$, and $\rho(g)D_F\rho(g)^* = D_F$; if F is even, we moreover require the action of G to commute with the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading. Let P be a principal G-bundle over X, and let ∇^P be a connection on P. Define E and E bundle over E bundle over E and E bundle over E and E bundle over E and E bundle over E and E bundle over E bundle over

$$\mathcal{E} := S \widehat{\otimes} (\mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} H_F), \quad \mathcal{A} := \mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} A_F,$$

and let $D = \not{\!\!\!\!D}_{\mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} \mathcal{H}_F} + 1 \widehat{\otimes} D_F$, where $\not{\!\!\!\!D}_{\mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} H_F}$ is the twisted Dirac operator on the twisted spinor bundle \mathcal{E} corresponding to the connection on $\mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} H_F$ induced by $\nabla^{\mathcal{P}}$. Then

$$X \times_{(\mathcal{P}, \nabla^{\mathcal{P}})} F := (C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$$

is an almost-commutative spectral triple.

Proof. It follows immediately that $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is at least an almost-commutative spectral triple. However, since $C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}) = C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} A_F)$ acts on \mathcal{E} by

$$a(\sigma \otimes \xi) := \sigma \otimes a\xi, \quad a \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), \ \sigma \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{S}), \ \xi \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} H_F),$$

sections of A act as even bundle endomorphisms supercommuting with the Clifford action on H, so that $(C^{\infty}(X,A), L^2(X,H), D)$ is also an almost-commutative spectral triple.

We can view $X \times_{(\mathcal{P},\nabla^{\mathcal{P}})} F$ as the product of X and F twisted by $(\mathcal{P},\nabla_{\mathcal{P}})$; a concrete example of this construction has already been studied in detail by Boeijink–Van Suijlekom [5] in connection with the Yang-Mills theory. It is also worth noting that the data $(\mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} H_F, \nabla^{\mathcal{P} \times_{\rho} H_F}, D_F)$ can be viewed as defining a non-trivial morphism $X \times_{(\mathcal{P},\nabla^{\mathcal{P}})} F \to X$ in the category of spectral triples proposed by Mesland [52].

6.2 A reconstruction theorem

Now, we shall give an abstract definition of almost-commutative spectral triple, which shall depend upon an abstract definition of commutative spectral triple, identical to that proposed by Connes [24, 27], except for a weakening of the orientability condition.

Now, let $(C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ be a concrete almost-commutative spectral triple. We may just as well consider it as being composed of two pieces:

- 1. a concrete commutative spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$.
- 2. an algebra bundle \mathcal{A} , together with a monomorphism $\mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E})$ of algebra bundles over X, such that sections of \mathcal{A} acts as even operators that commute with the Clifford action on \mathcal{E} .

In order to obtain an abstract definition of almost-commutative spectral triple, it therefore suffices to translate these two components into the language of noncommutative geometry. We already know how to translate the first component via Corollary 4.2.7, our refinement of Connes's reconstruction theorem: $(C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is simply a commutative spectral triple of metric dimension dim X. So, it remains only to characterise the second component.

Now, what we would like to use is some suitable refinement of Serre–Swan for algebra bundles. Such a refinement does indeed exist, if for a slightly weaker notion of algebra bundle:

Definition 6.2.1 (cf. [5, Def. 3.1]). A weak algebra bundle is a complex vector bundle $\mathcal{A} \to X$, together with the following data:

- a morphism of complex vector bundles $\mu : \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ over Id_X , such that $\mu \circ (\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mu) = \mu \circ (\mu \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}})$,
- a section $1_{\mathcal{A}} \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})$, such that $\mu(\bullet \otimes 1_{\mathcal{A}}) = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}} = \mu(1_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \bullet)$,
- a fibre-wise conjugate-linear morphism of real vector bundles $J: A \to A$ over Id_X , such that $J^2 = \mathrm{Id}_A$ and

$$\forall a_1, a_2 \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), \quad J \circ \mu(a_1 \otimes a_2) = \mu(Ja_2 \otimes Ja_1).$$

in other words, a weak algebra bundle over X is a unital *-algebra in the category of complex vector bundles over X.

Moreover, the category $\mathsf{WAlgB}(X)$ is the category whose objects are weak algebra bundles and whose morphisms are vector bundle morphisms $\phi: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}'$ over Id_X such that

$$\phi \circ \mu_{\mathcal{A}} = \mu_{\mathcal{A}'} \circ (\phi \otimes \phi), \quad \phi(1_{\mathcal{A}}) = 1_{\mathcal{A}'}, \quad \phi \circ J_{\mathcal{A}} = J_{\mathcal{A}'} \circ \phi.$$

It follows immediately that an algebra bundle is necessarily a weak algebra bundle. However, a weak algebra bundle need not be an algebra bundle, for there is no a priori reason why (A_x, μ_x, J_x) and (A_y, μ_y, J_y) should be isomorphic as *-algebras for $x \neq y$. However, since we are concerned specifically with algebra bundles A admitting Clifford A-modules, the following lemma guarantees that the distinction between algebra bundles and weak algebra bundles is irrelevant for our purposes:

Lemma 6.2.2. Let $A \to X$ be a weak algebra bundle, and suppose that there exists an injective morphism $\iota : A \to \mathcal{B}$ of weak algebra bundles for some algebra bundle $\mathcal{B} \to X$. Then A is an algebra bundle.

Proof. By the hypothesis, we may treat \mathcal{A} as a weak algebra sub-bundle of \mathcal{B} . However, since \mathcal{B} is an algebra bundle, i.e., a locally trivial bundle of finite-dimensional C^* -algebras, \mathcal{A} is precisely a vector sub-bundle of \mathcal{B} , such that for each $x \in X$, the unital *-algebra structure of \mathcal{A}_x is precisely that of \mathcal{A}_x as a vector subspace of the finite-dimensional C^* -algebra \mathcal{B}_x closed under the multiplication and *-operation of \mathcal{B}_x and containing the unit of \mathcal{B}_x . Since the transition functions of \mathcal{A} are simply the restrictions of the transition functions of \mathcal{B} , which are fibrewise *-automorphisms, it follows that the weak algebra structure of \mathcal{A} is precisely the structure of a locally trivial bundle of finite-dimensional C^* -algebras inherited from \mathcal{B} , as required.

We have already seen, via the Serre–Swan theorem, that vector bundles over X correspond to finitely generated projective modules over $C^{\infty}(X)$. Let us now see what weak algebra bundles correspond to:

Definition 6.2.3. Let B be a commutative *-algebra. Then a B-module *-algebra is a finitely generated projective B-module A together with the following data:

- an A-module morphism $m: A \otimes_B A \to A$ such that $m \circ (\mathrm{Id}_A \otimes m) = m \circ (m \otimes \mathrm{Id}_A)$,
- an element $1_A \in A$ such that $m \circ (\bullet \otimes 1_A) = \mathrm{Id}_A = m \circ (1_A \otimes \bullet)$,
- a map $*: A \to A$ such that $*^2 = \mathrm{Id}_A$ and

$$\forall a_1, a_2 \in A, b \in B, (ba_1 + a_2)^* = b^*a_1^* + a_2^*, m(a_1 \otimes a_2)^* = m(a_2^* \otimes a_1^*);$$

in other words, a B-module algebra is a unital *-algebra in the category of finitely generated projective B-modules. Moreover, the category $\mathsf{ModAlg}(B)$ is the category whose objects are B-module algebras and whose morphisms are morphisms of B-modules $\phi: A \to A'$, such that

$$\phi \circ m_A = m_{A'} \circ \phi, \quad \phi(1_A) = 1_{A'}, \quad \phi \circ *_A = *_{A'} \circ \phi.$$

If $A \to X$ is a weak algebra bundle with multiplication μ , unit 1_A , and involution J, then $A = C^{\infty}(X, A)$ has the structure of a $C^{\infty}(X)$ -module *-algebra with multiplication m, unit $1_A := 1_A$, and involution *, where

$$\forall a, b \in A \ m(a \otimes b) := \mu(a \otimes b), \quad a^* := J(a).$$

That, conversely, any $C^{\infty}(X)$ -module *-algebra is isomorphic to $C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})$ for some weak algebra bundle $\mathcal{A} \to X$ is, then, guaranteed by the following refinement of the Serre–Swan theorem for weak algebra bundles:

Theorem 6.2.4 (Boeijink–Van Suijlekom [5, Thm. 3.8]). Let X be a compact manifold. Then the map $A \mapsto C^{\infty}(X, A)$ defines an equivalence of categories $\mathsf{WAlgB}(X) \to \mathsf{ModAlg}(C^{\infty}(X))$.

As a result, a concrete almost-commutative spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ can be broken down into two constituents:

- 1. a commutative spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$,
- 2. a $C^{\infty}(X)$ -module subalgebra $C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})$ of $\operatorname{End}_{C^{\infty}(X)}(C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E})) = C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}))$ whose elements are even (if the spectral triple is even) and commute with the Clifford action on \mathcal{E} , i.e., [[D, b], a] = 0 for all $b \in C^{\infty}(X)$ and $a \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})$.

Thus, the basic structure of $(C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{A}),L^2(X,\mathcal{E}),D)$ is encapsulated by the following proposed definition:

Definition 6.2.5 ([9, Def. 2.16]). Let (A, H, D) be a spectral triple, let B be a central unital *-subalgebra of A, and let $p \in \mathbb{N}$. We call (A, H, D) a p-dimensional almost-commutative spectral triple with base B if the following conditions hold:

- 1. (B, H, D) is a p-dimensional commutative spectral triple;
- 2. A is a B-module subalgebra of $\operatorname{End}_B(H^{\infty})$.
- 3. [[D, b], a] = 0 for all $a \in A, b \in B$.

Our proposed reconstruction theorem for almost-commutative spectral triples is therefore as follows:

Theorem 6.2.6 ([9, Thm. 2.17]). Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional almost-commutative spectral triple with base B. Then there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X, a bundle of algebras $A \to X$, and a Clifford A-module $\mathcal{E} \to X$, such that $B \cong C^{\infty}(X)$ and $(A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X, A), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, where D is identified with an essentially self-adjoint Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

Proof. First, by Corollary 4.2.7 applied to (B, H, D), there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X and a self-adjoint Clifford module bundle $\mathcal{E} \to X$, such that $B = C^{\infty}(X)$, $H = L^2(X, \mathcal{E})$, and D is an essentially self-adjoint Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

Next, condition (2), together with Theorem 6.2.4, implies that $\mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})$ for \mathcal{A} a weak algebra bundle over X.

Finally, condition (3) for almost-commutative spectral triples, together with the fact that D is a Dirac-type operator on the Clifford module bundle \mathcal{E} , implies that \mathcal{A} can be identified as a weak algebra sub-bundle of $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E})$, whose sections act as even operators (if our spectral triple is even), commuting with the Clifford action on \mathcal{E} induced by D. Hence, by Lemma 6.2.2, \mathcal{A} is in fact an algebra bundle and, hence, \mathcal{E} is a Clifford \mathcal{A} -module.

6.3 Real structures

At last, let us consider real structures on almost-commutative spectral triples, both concrete and abstract. To see what a real structure looks like on a concrete almost-commutative spectral triple, it suffices to consider the traditional Cartesian product construction. Let us therefore recall the construction of a product of real spectral triples as formulated by Dąbrowski–Dossena, after Vanhecke [66]:

Theorem 6.3.1 (Dąbrowski–Dossena [32, §4]). For i = 1, 2, let $X_i = (A_i, H_i, D_i, J_i)$ be a real spectral triple of KO-dimension $n_i \mod 8$. Then $X_1 \times X_2$ can made into a real spectral triple of KO-dimension $n_1 + n_2 \mod 8$ with real structure J defined as follows:

- 1. If n_1 and n_2 are both even, then $J_{\pm} := (J_1)_{\pm \varepsilon''(n_1)} \otimes (J_2)_{\pm}$;
- 2. If n_1 is even and n_2 is odd, then $J := (J_1)_{\varepsilon'(n_1+n_2)} \otimes J_2$;
- 3. If n_1 is odd and n_2 is even, then $J := J_1 \otimes (J_2)_{\varepsilon'(n_1+n_2)}$;
- 4. If n_1 and n_2 are both odd, then $J_{\pm} := J_1 \otimes J_2 \otimes M_{\pm}K$, for K the complex conjugation on \mathbb{C}^2 and (M_+, M_-) chosen as follows, with rows indexed by n_1 and columns indexed by n_2 :

	1	3	5	7
1	$(i\sigma_2,\sigma_1)$	(σ_3,σ_0)	$(i\sigma_2,\sigma_1)$	(σ_3,σ_0)
3	(σ_0,σ_3)	$(\sigma_1, i\sigma_2)$	(σ_0,σ_3)	$(\sigma_1, i\sigma_2)$
5	$(i\sigma_2,\sigma_1)$	(σ_3,σ_0)	$(i\sigma_2,\sigma_1)$	(σ_3,σ_0)
7	(σ_0,σ_3)	$(\sigma_1,i\sigma_2)$	(σ_0,σ_3)	$(\sigma_1,i\sigma_2)$

Now, let $X := (C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{S}), \not{\mathbb{D}}, C)$ be the canonical spectral triple of a compact spin n_1 -manifold X with fixed spin structure, and let $F = (A_F, H_F, D_F, J_F)$ be a finite real spectral triple of KO-dimension n_2 mod 8. Ignoring the real structures, one has that $X \times F$ takes the form $(C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, where, in particular, $\mathcal{A} := X \times A_F$ is an algebra bundle, \mathcal{E} , formed from \mathcal{S} and H_F , is a Clifford \mathcal{A} -module with Clifford action defined by c(df) := [D, f] for $f \in C^{\infty}(X)$, and \mathcal{A} -module structure induced by the representation of A_F on H_F , and D, formed from $\not{\mathbb{D}}$ and D_F ,

is a Dirac-type operator on the Clifford module \mathcal{E} . Now, since X and F are real spectral triples, by the above theorem, $X \times F$ is a real spectral triple with real structure J. Taking this into account, we see that \mathcal{E} is a Clifford $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^o$ -module with $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^o$ -module structure defined by

$$(a \otimes b^o)\xi := aJb^*J^*\xi, \quad a, b \in C^\infty(X, \mathcal{A}), \ \xi \in C^\infty(X, \mathcal{E}),$$

that D therefore satisfies the addition constraint that

$$[[D, a], b^o] = 0, \quad a, b \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}),$$

and, hence, that J is an antiunitary bundle endomorphism on \mathcal{E} , satisfying

$$Jc(\omega^* \otimes a^* \otimes (b^*)^o)J^* = c(\tau_{\varepsilon'}(\omega) \otimes b \otimes a^o), \quad \omega \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{C}l(X)), \ a, b \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}).$$

Thus, the additional structure provided by the real structure J is encoded in the following definition:

Definition 6.3.2. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, let $\mathcal{A} \to X$ be an algebra bundle, and let $\mathcal{E} \to X$ be a Clifford $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^o$ -module, which may or may not be \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded. Let J be an antiunitary bundle automorphism on \mathcal{E} , and let $n \in \mathbb{Z}_8$. We call (\mathcal{E}, J) a real Clifford \mathcal{A} -bimodule of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ if \mathcal{E} is \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading γ when n is even, and J satisfies the following:

- 1. $J^2 = \varepsilon \operatorname{Id}_{\varepsilon}$,
- 2. for all $\omega \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathbb{C}l(X))$ and $a, b \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})$,

$$J(c(\omega^* \otimes a^* \otimes (b^*)^o)J^* = c(\tau_{\varepsilon'}(\omega) \otimes b \otimes a^o),$$

3. $J\gamma = \varepsilon''\gamma J$ if n is even,

where $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon', \varepsilon'') \in \{\pm 1\}^3$ is determined by $n \mod 8$ according Table 2.2.1.

Remark 6.3.3. Once more, just as before, if n is even, then we can replace J with $J\gamma$ to go reversibly between the "conventional" KO-dimension n_+ and the "exotic" KO-dimension n_- .

Remark 6.3.4. Condition (2) in the above definition can be viewed as specifying the compatibility of J with the Clifford A-bimodule structure on \mathcal{E} , for J, a priori, defines a \mathbb{C} -linear anti-involution $T \mapsto JT^*J^*$ on $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E})$.

Compatibility of the Dirac-type operator D with the real Clifford A-bimodule (\mathcal{E}, J) is then encoded in the following definition:

Definition 6.3.5. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, let $A \to X$ be a bundle of algebras, and let (\mathcal{E}, J) be a real Clifford A-bimodule of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$. Let D be a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} . We say that D is (A, J)-compatible if it is J-compatible, and if

$$[[D, a], b^o] = 0, \quad a, b \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}).$$

Thus, if (\mathcal{E}, J) is a real Clifford \mathcal{A} -bimodule of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ over X, and D is a Diractype operator on \mathcal{E} , then $(C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$ defines a real spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ if and only if D is (\mathcal{A}, J) -compatible. Indeed, one can therefore give the following definition, generalising the example of the product of a spin manifold with a finite real spectral triple:

Definition 6.3.6. A concrete real almost-commutative spectral triple is a real spectral triple of the form $(C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{A}), L^2(X,\mathcal{E}), D, J)$, where X is a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, $\mathcal{A} \to X$ is an algebra bundle, (\mathcal{E}, J) is a real Clifford \mathcal{A} -bimodule, and D is a (\mathcal{A}, J) -compatible Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

In fact, in light of this more general definition, we can take any concrete real commutative spectral triple $V := (C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{V}), D_{\mathcal{V}}, J_{\mathcal{V}})$ of KO-dimension n_{1} mod 8 and any finite real spectral triple F of KO-dimension n_{2} mod 8 to form the concrete real almost-commutative spectral triple $V \times F$ of KO-dimension $n_{1} + n_{2}$ mod 8. Applying this to Example 4.3.5, we immediately obtain the following

Proposition 6.3.7. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. Then for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}_8$ there exists a concrete real almost-commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, namely, $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \wedge T_{\mathbb{C}}^*X), d + d^*, (-1)^{|\cdot|}, K) \times F$ for any finite real spectral triple F of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, and, hence, a concrete real commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$.

Given a real Clifford A-bimodule (\mathcal{E}, J) , one can again ask, just as in the commutative case, if a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} compatible with its Clifford action and the bimodule structure is necessarily (A, J)-compatible. Once more, the answer is yes, up to perturbation by a symmetric bundle endomorphism:

Proposition 6.3.8. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, let (\mathcal{E}, J) be a real Clifford module on X of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, and let D be a Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} , satisfying

$$[[D, a], b^o] = 0, \quad a, b \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}).$$

Then there exists a unique symmetric bundle endomorphism M on \mathcal{E} , such that D-M is an (\mathcal{A}, J) compatible Dirac-type operator, and $MJ = -\varepsilon'JM$.

Now, let us derive the corresponding abstract definition of real almost-commutative spectral

triple, so that we can get the appropriate refinement of the reconstruction theorem for almost-commutative spectral triples.

Let $(A, H, D, J) := (C^{\infty}(X, A), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$ be a concrete real almost-commutative spectral triple. On the one hand, (A, H, D) is, in particular, an almost-commutative spectral triple with base (viz, distinguished central unital *-subalgebra of A) $B := C^{\infty}(X)$. On the other hand, by Lemma 4.3.2, A contains a canonical central unital *-subalgebra \tilde{A}_{J} , which, moreover, contains B precisely because J is, in particular, an antilinear bundle endomorphism of \mathcal{E} . It has already been observed in specific examples (e.g., the noncommutative-geometric Standard Model [18, Lemma 3.2])that B and \tilde{A}_{J} are, in fact, equal—as it turns out, this is a completely general phenomenon.

Proposition 6.3.9. Let $(C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$ be a concrete real almost-commutative spectral triple. Then $\widetilde{C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})}_I = C^{\infty}(X)1_{\mathcal{A}}$.

This result is an immediate corollary of the following algebraic observation, applied pointwise:

Lemma 6.3.10. Let A_F be a finite C^* -algebra over $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} . Then

$$\{a \in A_F \mid a \otimes 1 = 1 \otimes a \in A_F \otimes_{\mathbb{K}} A_F\} = \mathbb{K}1_{A_F}.$$

Proof. By Wedderburn's theorem for finite-dimensional C^* -algebras, write

$$A_F = \bigoplus_{k=1}^N M_k(\mathbb{K}_k),$$

where $\mathbb{K}_k \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{H}\}$ if $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$, and $\mathbb{K}_k = \mathbb{C}$ if $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. By construction, then,

$$\{a \in A_F \mid a \otimes 1 = 1 \otimes a \in A_F \otimes_{\mathbb{K}} A_F\} \subset Z(A_F) \cong \bigoplus_{k=1}^N \mathbb{K}'_k,$$

where $\mathbb{K}'_k := \mathbb{C}$ if $\mathbb{K}_k = \mathbb{C}$, and $\mathbb{K}'_k := \mathbb{R}$ otherwise, so that

$$Z(A_F) \otimes_{\mathbb{K}} Z(A_F) = \bigoplus_{k,l=1}^N \mathbb{K}'_k \otimes_{\mathbb{K}} \mathbb{K}'_l.$$

Now, let $a \in Z(A_F)$, which we identify with $(\lambda_k)_{k=1}^N \in \bigoplus_{k=1}^N \mathbb{K}'_k$. Then

$$a \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes a = (\lambda_k \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes \lambda_l)_{k,l=1}^N,$$

so that $a \otimes 1 = 1 \otimes a$, if and only if $\lambda_k \otimes 1 = 1 \otimes \lambda_k$ for all $1 \leq k, l \leq N$. We have two cases. First, suppose that $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$. It therefore follows that $a \otimes 1 = 1 \otimes a$, if and only if $\lambda_k = \lambda_l$ for all k, l, if and only if $a \in \mathbb{C}1_{A_F}$. Now, suppose that $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$. Then, similarly, $a \otimes 1 = 1 \otimes a$, if and only if $\lambda_k = \lambda_l \in \mathbb{R}$ for all k, l, if and only if $a \in \mathbb{R}1_{A_F}$.

Our observations motivate the following definition:

Definition 6.3.11. Let (A, H, D, J) be a real spectral triple. We call (A, H, D, J) a real almost-commutative spectral triple if (A, H, D) is an almost-commutative spectral triple with base \tilde{A}_J .

We have just seen that every concrete real almost-commutative spectral triple is a real almost-commutative spectral triple; the reconstruction theorem for almost-commutative spectral triples readily implies the converse.

Theorem 6.3.12. Let (A, H, D, J) be a real almost-commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ and metric dimension p. Then there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X, a bundle of algebras $A \to X$, and a Clifford A-bimodule $\mathcal{E} \to X$, such that $\tilde{A}_J \cong C^{\infty}(X)$ and

$$(A, H, D, J) \cong (C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J),$$

where, viewing D and J as operators on \mathcal{E} , (\mathcal{E}, J) is a real Clifford A-bimodule of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, and D is a (\mathcal{A}, J) -compatible essentially self-adjoint Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} .

Proof. First, by Theorem 6.2.6, there exist a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold X, an algebra bundle $\mathcal{A} \to X$, and a Clifford \mathcal{A} -module $\mathcal{E} \to X$, such that $\tilde{A}_J \cong C^\infty(X)$ and $(A, H, D) \cong (C^\infty(X, \mathcal{A}), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, where D, viewed as an operator on \mathcal{E} , is an essentially self-adjoint Diractype operator. Viewing J as an operator on $L^2(X, \mathcal{E})$, in light of Proposition 4.3.12, we therefore have that $(C^\infty(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$ is a real Dirac-type commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, and hence that (\mathcal{E}, J) is a real Clifford module of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$. Finally, the conditions for a real spectral triple imply that (\mathcal{E}, J) is a real Clifford \mathcal{A} -bimodule, with $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^o$ -module structure given by

$$(a \otimes b^o)\xi := aJb^*J^*\xi, \quad a, b \in C^\infty(X, \mathcal{A}), \ \xi \in C^\infty(X, \mathcal{E}),$$

and that D is (A, J)-compatible, as required.

6.4 Twistings

We have already seen how to generalise the conventional definition of real almost-commutative spectral triple into a form suited to a reconstruction theorem. For physical applications, however, it is useful to consider a more conservative generalisation, where we take the product of a concrete real commutative spectral triple not with a single finite real spectral triple, but with a family of such spectral triples, equipped with suitable connection:

Definition 6.4.1. Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold. A real family of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ over X is a quintuple of the form $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}})$, where:

- 1. $A \to X$ is an algebra bundle;
- 2. $\mathcal{F} \to X$ is an $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^o$ -module endowed, if n is even, with a \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading $\gamma_{\mathcal{F}}$, commuting with all sections of $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^o$;
- 3. $\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}$ is a self-adjoint connection on \mathcal{F} , odd if n is even, such that the induced connection on $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{F})$ restricts to connections on \mathcal{A} and on \mathcal{A}^o ;
- 4. $D_{\mathcal{F}}$ is a symmetric bundle endomorphism on \mathcal{F} , odd if n is even, satisfying

$$[[D_{\mathcal{F}}, a], b^o] = 0, \quad a, b \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}),$$

and anticommuting with $\gamma_{\mathcal{F}}$ if n is even;

- 5. $J_{\mathcal{F}}$ is an antiunitary bundle endomorphism on \mathcal{F} such that
 - (a) $J_{\mathcal{F}}^2 = \varepsilon \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{F}}$,
 - (b) $D_{\mathcal{F}}J_{\mathcal{F}} = \varepsilon' J_{\mathcal{F}}D_{\mathcal{F}}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}} \circ J_{\mathcal{F}} = J_{F} \circ \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, \text{ and } J_{\mathcal{F}}a^{*}J_{\mathcal{F}}^{*} = a^{o} \text{ for all } a \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}),$
 - (c) $\gamma_{\mathcal{F}} J_{\mathcal{F}} = \varepsilon'' J_{\mathcal{F}} \gamma_{\mathcal{F}}$, if n is even,

where $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon', \varepsilon'') \in \{\pm 1\}^3$ depend on $n \mod 8$ according to Table 2.2.1 (or, equivalently, according to Table 2.2.2).

Remark 6.4.2. For each $x \in X$, $(A_x, \mathcal{F}_x, (D_{\mathcal{F}})_x, (J_{\mathcal{F}})_x)$ is a finite real spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, and the real family can be viewed as a family $(A, \mathcal{F}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}})$ of finite real spectral triples over X together with Bismut superconnection $D_{\mathcal{F}} + \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}$.

If $F = (A_F, H_F, D_F, J_F)$ is a single finite real spectral triple of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, and X is a compact oriented Riemannian manifold, then for $\mathcal{A} := X \times A_F$, we can define a real family of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ by

$$(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}}) := (X \times A_F, X \times H_F, d, \operatorname{Id}_X \times D_F, \operatorname{Id}_X \times J_F).$$

More generally, let G be a compact Lie group acting on F, in the sense that there exists a unitary representation $U: G \to U(H_F)$ such that for all $g \in G$,

$$U(g)A_FU(g)^* \subset A_F, \quad [U(g), D_F] = 0, \quad [U(g), J_F] = 0,$$

with each U(g) even if n is even, and let $\mathcal{P} \to X$ be a principal G-bundle with connection $\nabla^{\mathcal{P}}$. Then we can define a real family of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$ by

$$(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}}) := (\mathcal{P} \times_G A_F, \mathcal{P} \times_G H_F, \nabla^{\mathcal{P} \times_G H_F}, \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{P}} \times D_F, \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{P}} \times J_F),$$

with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading, if n is even, given by $\gamma_{\mathcal{F}} := \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{P}} \times \gamma_F$ for γ_F the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading of F.

In light of Definition 6.1.1 and Theorem 6.3.1, one therefore defines the twisting of a concrete real commutative spectral triple by a real family as follows:

Definition 6.4.3. Let $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{V}), D_{\mathcal{V}}, J_{\mathcal{V}})$ be a concrete real commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension m mod 8 and metric dimension p, with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading $\gamma_{\mathcal{V}}$ if m is even, and let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}})$ be a real family of KO-dimension n mod 8, with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading $\gamma_{\mathcal{F}}$ is n is even. Then the twisting of $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{V}), D_{\mathcal{V}}, J_{\mathcal{V}})$ by $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}})$ is the concrete real almost-commutative spectral triple

$$(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}}) \times (C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{V}), D_{\mathcal{V}}, J_{\mathcal{V}}) := (C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J),$$

of KO-dimension $m+n \mod 8$ and metric dimension p, where \mathcal{E} , D and J are defined as follows:

1. If m and n are both even, then

$$\mathcal{E} := \mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{F}, \quad D := D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes_{\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}} 1 + \gamma_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes D_{\mathcal{F}}, \quad J := (J_{\mathcal{V}})_{\varepsilon''(m)} \otimes J_{\mathcal{F}},$$

with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading $\gamma := \gamma_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes \gamma_{\mathcal{F}}$.

2. If m is even and n is odd, then

$$\mathcal{E} := \mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{F}, \quad D := D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes_{\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}} 1 + \gamma_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes D_{\mathcal{F}}, \quad J := (J_{\mathcal{V}})_{\varepsilon'(m+n)} \otimes J_{\mathcal{F}}.$$

3. If m is odd and n is even, then

$$\mathcal{E} := \mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{F}, \quad D := D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes_{\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}} \gamma_{\mathcal{F}} + 1 \otimes D_{\mathcal{F}}, \quad J := J_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes (J_{\mathcal{F}})_{\varepsilon'(m+n)}.$$

4. If m and n are both odd, then

$$\mathcal{E} := \mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathbb{C}^2, \quad D := D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes_{\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}} 1 \otimes \sigma_1 + 1 \otimes D_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \sigma_2, \quad J := J_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes J_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes MK,$$

with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading $\gamma := 1 \otimes 1 \otimes \sigma_3$, where K is the complex conjugation on \mathbb{C}^2 , and $M := M_+$ is given by Table 6.3.1.

In the expressions above, if T=1 or $\gamma_{\mathcal{F}}$, then $D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes_{\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}} T$ is defined locally by

$$(D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes_{\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}} T)(\eta \otimes \xi) := (D_{\mathcal{V}} \eta) \otimes \xi + \sum_{i} (c(e^{i})\eta) \otimes \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}_{e_{i}}(T\xi), \quad \eta \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{V}), \ \xi \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{F}),$$

where $\{e_i\}$ is a local vielbein on TX.

The essential point in checking that this definition makes sense is checking that one does, indeed, get a concrete almost-commutative spectral triple.

Remark 6.4.4. Let $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{V}), D_{\mathcal{V}}, J_{\mathcal{V}})$ be a concrete real commutative spectral triple and let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}})$ be a real family; for simplicity, suppose that both are of even KO-dimension. Then $(C(X, \mathcal{F}), D_{\mathcal{F}}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}})$ can be viewed as an unbounded $(C(X, \mathcal{A}), C(X))$ -bimodule in the sense of Mesland, and the twisting

$$(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}}) \times (C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{V}), D_{\mathcal{V}}, J_{\mathcal{V}}) =: (C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D, J)$$

can be viewed as an unbounded Kasparov product, that is,

$$(L^2(X,\mathcal{E}),D) \cong (C(X,\mathcal{F}),D_{\mathcal{F}},\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}) \times (L^2(X,\mathcal{V}),D_{\mathcal{V}}),$$

and, hence, $(\mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}})$ defines a morphism

$$(C(X,\mathcal{F}),D_{\mathcal{F}},\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}):(C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{A}),L^{2}(X,\mathcal{E}),D)\to(C^{\infty}(X),L^{2}(X,\mathcal{V}),D_{\mathcal{V}})$$

in Mesland's category of spectral triples.

Finally, let us record the consequences of this construction for the structure of inner fluctuations of the metric:

Proposition 6.4.5. Let $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{V}), D_{\mathcal{V}}, J_{\mathcal{V}})$ be a concrete real commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension $m \mod 8$ and let $(\mathcal{AF}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}}, D_{\mathcal{F}}, J_{\mathcal{F}})$ be a real family of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$. Let

$$(C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{A}),L^{2}(X,\mathcal{E}),D,J):=(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{F},\nabla^{\mathcal{F}},D_{\mathcal{F}},J_{\mathcal{F}})\times(C^{\infty}(X),L^{2}(X,\mathcal{V}),D_{\mathcal{V}},J_{\mathcal{V}}),$$

which is a concrete real almost-commutative spectral triple of KO-dimension $m+n \mod 8$. Let $\mathbb{A} \in C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}))$ be an inner fluctuation of the metric on the twisting, i.e., symmetric and of the form $\mathbb{A} = \sum_i a_i[D, b_i]$ for $a_i, b_i \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})$, and let

$$\omega_{\mathbb{A}} := \sum_{i} \left(a_{i} \wedge (\nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_{i}) - (\nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_{i}^{o}) \wedge a_{i}^{o} \right) \in \Omega^{1}(X, \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{o}),$$

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{A}} := \sum_{i} \left(a_{i}[D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_{i}] - [D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_{i}^{o}] a_{i}^{o} \right) \in C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{F})).$$

Then $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}, D_{\mathcal{F}} + \Phi_{\mathbb{A}}, J_{\mathcal{F}})$ is a real family of KO-dimension $n \mod 8$, such that

$$(C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{A}), L^{2}(X,\mathcal{E}), D + \mathbb{A} + \varepsilon' J \mathbb{A} J^{*}, J)$$

$$= (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{F}, \nabla^{\mathcal{F}} + \omega_{\mathbb{A}}, D_{\mathcal{F}} + \Phi_{\mathbb{A}}, J_{\mathcal{F}}) \times (C^{\infty}(X), L^{2}(X, \mathcal{V}), D_{\mathcal{V}}, J_{\mathcal{V}}).$$

Proof. For simplicity, let us work in the case where m and n are even; the other cases will follow mutatis mutandis. Let $\mathbb{A} = \sum_i a_i[D, b_i]$ for $a_i, b_i \in C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A})$, and suppose that \mathbb{A} is self-adjoint, so that

$$\sum_{i} a_{i}[D, b_{i}] = \mathbb{A} = \mathbb{A}^{*} = -\sum_{i} [D, b_{i}^{*}] a_{i}^{*}.$$

Now, let us work on a coordinate patch $U \subset X$ with local vielbein $\{e_k\}$, so that

$$D = D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes 1 + \sum_{k} c(e^{k}) \otimes \nabla_{e_{k}}^{\mathcal{F}} + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes D_{\mathcal{F}}.$$

On the one hand, then,

$$\mathbb{A} = \sum_{i} a_{i} \left[D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes 1 + \sum_{k} c(e^{k}) \otimes \nabla_{e_{k}}^{\mathcal{F}} + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_{i} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{i} (1 \otimes a_{i}) \left(\sum_{k} c(e^{k}) \otimes \nabla_{e_{k}}^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_{i} + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes [D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_{i}] \right)$$

$$= c \left(\sum_{i} a_{i} \wedge \nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_{i} \right) + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \left(\sum_{i} a_{i} [D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_{i}] \right),$$

whilst on the other hand,

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon' J \mathbb{A} J^* &= \varepsilon' J \left(-\sum_i [D, b_i^*] a_i^* \right) J^* \\ &= -\sum_i [D, J b_i^* J^*] J a_i^* J^* \\ &= -\sum_i [D, b_i^o] a_i^o \\ &= -\sum_i \left[D_{\mathcal{V}} \otimes 1 + \sum_k c(e^k) \otimes \nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}}_{e_k} + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_i^o \right] a_i^o \\ &= -c \left(\sum_i \nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_i^o \wedge a_i^o \right) + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \left(\sum_i [D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_i^o] a_i^o \right). \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\mathbb{A} + \varepsilon' J \mathbb{A} J^* = c \left(\sum_{i} a_i \wedge \nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_i \right) + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \left(\sum_{i} a_i [D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_i] \right) \\
- c \left(\sum_{i} \nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_i^o \wedge a_i^o \right) + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \left(\sum_{i} [D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_i^o] a_i^o \right) \\
= c \left(\sum_{i} \left(a_i \wedge \nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_i - \nabla^{\operatorname{End} \mathcal{F}} b_i^o \wedge a_i^o \right) \right) + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \left(\sum_{i} \left(a_i [D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_i] - [D_{\mathcal{F}}, b_i^o] a_i^o] \right) \right) \\
= c(\omega_{\mathbb{A}}) + \chi_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \Phi_{\mathbb{A}},$$

as required. \Box

Thus, for a real almost-commutative spectral triple formed by the twisting of a concrete real commutative spectral triple by a real family, inner fluctuations of the metric are are effected at the level of the real family, so that the concrete real commutative spectral triple may be viewed strictly as background data. For a general, KK-theoretic discussion of this kind of phenomenon, see [7].

6.5 Applications to the spectral action

Let us illustrate the potential of our manifestly global-analytic approach to almost-commutative spectral triples with an application to noncommutative-geometric mathematical physics, and in particular, to certain computations by Teh of the spectral action on quotients of S^3 by finite subgroups of $S^3 \cong SU(2)$. This work was the author's contribution to [11].

In what follows, let \mathcal{L} denote the Laplace transform, and let $\mathcal{S}(0,\infty) = \{\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}) \mid \phi(x) = 0, x \leq 0\}$. Let us begin by recalling the definition of spectral action, together with its basic features.

Proposition 6.5.1. Let (A, H, D) be a spectral triple of metric dimension p, and let $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be even. If $|f(x)| = O(|x|^{-\alpha})$ as $x \to \infty$, for some $\alpha > p$, then for any $\Lambda > 0$, $f(D/\Lambda) = f(|D|/\Lambda)$ is trace-class. If, in addition, $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$ for some measurable $\phi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{C}$, then

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D/\Lambda)\right) = \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-sD^2/\Lambda^2}\right)\phi(s)ds. \tag{6.5.1}$$

The quantity $\operatorname{Tr} f\left(D/\Lambda\right)$ is then called the spectral action on (A, H, D) with cutoff function f and energy scale $\Lambda > 0$.

Proof. Fix $\Lambda > 0$. Let μ_k denote the k-th eigenvalue of D^2 in increasing order, counted with multiplicity; since (A, H, D) has metric dimension p, $(\mu_k + 1)^{-p/2} = O(k^{-1})$ as $k \to \infty$, and, hence, for $k > \dim \ker D$, $\mu_k^{-1} = O(k^{-2/p})$ as $k \to \infty$. By our hypothesis on f, then, for $k > \dim \ker D$,

$$|f(\mu_k^{1/2}/\Lambda)| = O(k^{-\alpha/p}), \ k \to \infty;$$

since $2\alpha/p > 1$, this implies that $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f(\mu_k^{1/2}/\Lambda)$ is absolutely convergent, as required.

Now, suppose, in addition, that $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$ for some measurable $\phi: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$\operatorname{Tr}(f(D/\Lambda)) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{L}[\phi](\mu_k/\Lambda^2)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_0^{\infty} e^{-s\mu_k/\Lambda^2} \phi(s) ds$$
$$= \int_0^{\infty} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} e^{-s\mu_k/\Lambda^2} \right] \phi(s) ds$$

$$= \int_0^\infty \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-sD^2/\Lambda^2}\right)\phi(s)ds,$$

as was claimed. \Box

The above result raises the question of when a function $\phi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{C}$ defines a function $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$, such that $f(D/\Lambda)$ is trace-class; a sufficient condition is given by the following lemma.

Lemma 6.5.2. If $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(0,\infty)$, then $\mathcal{L}[\phi](s) = O(s^{-k})$ as $s \to +\infty$, for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Since $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(0,\infty)$, $\phi^{(k)}$ is a bounded function with $\phi^{(k)}(0) = 0$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and hence $s^n \mathcal{L}[\phi](s) = \mathcal{L}[\phi^{(n)}](s)$ too is bounded, as required.

Now, suppose that $(C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{A}), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is a concrete almost-commutative spectral triple. Since we can write

$$\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tD^2}) = \int_X \operatorname{tr}(K(t, x, x)) \, d\operatorname{vol}(x), \quad t > 0,$$

for K(t, x, y) the heat kernel of D^2 , it follows that for f of the form $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(0, \infty)$,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D/\Lambda)\right) = \int_0^\infty \left[\int_M \operatorname{tr}\left(K(s/\Lambda^2, x, x)\right) d\operatorname{vol}(x) \right] \phi(s) ds, \quad \Lambda > 0.$$
 (6.5.2)

Now, conventionally, the spectral action on almost-commutative spectral triples has been computed only asymptotically, using the Seeley–De Witt asymptotic expansion of the heat trace of a generalised Laplacian. However, Chamseddine–Connes were able to make the following non-asymptotic computation by means of an explicit Dirac spectrum and the Poisson summation formula:

Theorem 6.5.3 (Chameseddine–Connes [17, §2.2]). Let S^3 denote the round sphere with trivial spin structure, and let $\not D$ be the corresponding Dirac operator. Let $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be of the form $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(0,\infty)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Tr} f(\mathcal{D}/\Lambda) = \Lambda^3 \widehat{f}^{(2)}(0) - \frac{1}{4} \Lambda \widehat{f}(0) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}),$$

where $\widehat{f}^{(2)}$ denotes the Fourier transform of $u \mapsto u^2 f(u)$.

Teh's aim, then, was to apply the methods of Chameseddine–Connes to the spectral action on quotients of S^3 by finite subgroups of SU(2). He carried this out, case by case, over the course of several papers [50, 51, 65], using explicit Dirac spectral and the Poisson summation formula, culminating in the following result:

Theorem 6.5.4 (Teh [65]). Let S^3 denote the round sphere with trivial spin structure, let $\Gamma < SU(2) \cong S^3$ be finite, therefore acting on S^3 by orientation-preserving isometries, and let $\not \!\!\!D^\Gamma$ denote

the Dirac operator of S^3/Γ acting on the spinor bundle $S \to S^3/\Gamma$. Let $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be of the form $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$ for $\phi \in S(0,\infty)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Tr} f(\mathcal{D}^{\Gamma}/\Lambda) = \frac{1}{\#\Gamma} \left(\Lambda^3 \widehat{f}^{(2)}(0) - \frac{1}{4} \Lambda \widehat{f}(0) \right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}),$$

where $\hat{f}^{(2)}$ denotes the Fourier transform of $u \mapsto u^2 f(u)$.

More recently, Teh generalised these computations to more general almost-commutative spectral triples over a quotient S^3/Γ , allowing for twisting (in the sense of Lemma 6.1.9) by a unitary representation of Γ . Again, use was made of explicit Dirac spectra, which had been computed for precisely the relevant twisted Dirac operators on finite quotients of S^3 by Cisneros-Molina [19].

Theorem 6.5.5 (Teh [11, Thm. 1.1]). Let S^3 denote the round sphere with trivial spin structure, let $\Gamma < \mathrm{SU}(2) \cong S^3$ be finite, therefore acting on S^3 by orientation-preserving isometries, and let $\mathcal{S} \to S^3/\Gamma$ be the resulting spinor bundle of S^3/Γ . Let $\alpha : \Gamma \to U(N)$ be a unitary representation, let $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha} = S^3 \times_{\alpha} \mathbb{C}^N$ be the resulting flat bundle, and let $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{\Gamma}$ denote the twisted Dirac operator on the twisted spinor bundle $\mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{V}_{\alpha} \to S^3/\Gamma$ corresponding to the canonical flat connection on \mathcal{V} . Then

$$\operatorname{Tr} f(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{\Gamma}/\Lambda) = \frac{N}{\#\Gamma} \left(\Lambda^{3} \widehat{f}^{(2)}(0) - \frac{1}{4} \Lambda \widehat{f}(0) \right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}),$$

where $\widehat{f}^{(2)}$ denotes the Fourier transform of $u^2 f(u)$.

Let us now treat these considerations in a fully general, manifestly global-analytic light. Let $\widetilde{X} \to X$ be a finite normal Riemannian covering with \widetilde{X} and X compact, connected and oriented, and let Γ be the deck group of the covering. Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}} \to \widetilde{X}$ be a Γ -equivariant Clifford module, and let \widetilde{D} be a Γ -invariant symmetric Dirac-type operator on $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$. We can therefore form the quotient Clifford module bundle $\mathcal{E} := \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}/\Gamma \to \widetilde{X}/\Gamma =: X$, with \widetilde{D} descending to a symmetric Dirac-type operator D on \mathcal{E} ; under the identification $L^2(X,\mathcal{E}) \cong L^2(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{\mathcal{E}})^{\Gamma}$, we can identify D with the restriction of \widetilde{D} to $C^{\infty}(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{\mathcal{E}})^{\Gamma}$, where the unitary action $U:\Gamma \to U(L^2(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}))$ is given by $U(\gamma)\xi(\widetilde{x}) := \xi(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1})\gamma$.

Our first goal is to prove the following result, relating the spectral action of D to the spectral action of \widetilde{D} in the high energy limit; in particular, it immediately implies Theorem 6.5.4 as a corollary of Theorem 6.5.3.

Theorem 6.5.6. Let $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be of the form $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(0, \infty)$. Then for $\Lambda > 0$,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D/\Lambda)\right) = \frac{1}{\#\Gamma}\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(\widetilde{D}/\Lambda)\right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}), \quad as \ \Lambda \to +\infty. \tag{6.5.3}$$

Remark 6.5.7. Theorem 6.5.6 continues to hold even when inner fluctuations of the metric are introduced, since for $A \in C^{\infty}(X, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V}))$ symmetric, D + A on \mathcal{E} lifts to $\widetilde{D} + \widetilde{A}$ on $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$, where \widetilde{A} is the lift of A to $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$.

To prove this result, we shall need a couple of lemmas. First, we have the following well-known general fact:

Lemma 6.5.8. Let Γ be a finite group acting unitarily on a Hilbert space H, and let A be a Γ -invariant self-adjoint trace-class operator on H. Let H^{Γ} denote the subspace of H consisting of Γ -invariant vectors. Then the restriction $A \mid H^{\Gamma}$ of A to H^{Γ} is also trace-class, and

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(A \mid H^{\Gamma}\right) = \frac{1}{\#G} \sum_{g \in G} \operatorname{Tr}\left(gA\right).$$

Proof. This immediately follows from the observation that $\frac{1}{\#G} \sum_{g \in G} g$ is the orthogonal projection onto H^G .

Now, we can compute the heat kernel trace of D using the heat kernel for \widetilde{D} :

Lemma 6.5.9. For t > 0,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-tD^{2}}\right) = \frac{1}{\#\Gamma}\operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-t\widetilde{D}^{2}}\right) + \frac{1}{\#\Gamma}\sum_{\gamma\in\Gamma\backslash\{e\}}\int_{\widetilde{X}}\operatorname{tr}\left(\rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1})\widetilde{K}(t,\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1},\widetilde{x})\right)d\operatorname{vol}(\widetilde{x}), \quad (6.5.4)$$

where $\widetilde{K}(t,\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y})$ denotes the heat kernel of \widetilde{D}^2 , and ρ denotes the right action of Γ on the total space of $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$.

Proof. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Then for any $\xi \in C^{\infty}(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{\mathcal{E}})$,

$$\begin{split} \left(U(\gamma)e^{-t\widetilde{D}^2}\right)\xi(\widetilde{x}) &= U(\gamma)\left(\int_{\widetilde{X}}\widetilde{K}(t,\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y})\xi(\widetilde{y})d\operatorname{vol}(\widetilde{y})\right) \\ &= \rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1})\left(\int_{\widetilde{X}}(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1})\widetilde{K}(t,\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1},\widetilde{y})\xi(\widetilde{y})d\operatorname{vol}(\widetilde{y})\right) \\ &= \int_{\widetilde{X}}\rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1})\widetilde{K}(t,\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1},\widetilde{y})\xi(\widetilde{y})d\operatorname{vol}(\widetilde{y}) \end{split}$$

so that the operator $U(\gamma)e^{-t\widetilde{D}^2}$ has the integral kernel

$$(t, \widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y}) \mapsto \rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1})\widetilde{K}(t, \widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1}, \widetilde{y}).$$

Since $L^2(X,\mathcal{E}) \cong L^2(\widetilde{X},\widetilde{\mathcal{E}})^{\Gamma}$, we can therefore apply Lemma 6.5.8 to obtain the desired result. \square

Finally, we can proceed with our proof:

Proof of Theorem 6.5.6. By our earlier observation and Lemma 6.5.9, it suffices to show that for $\gamma \in G \setminus \{e\}$,

$$\int_0^\infty \left[\int_{\widetilde{X}} \operatorname{tr} \left(\rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1}) \widetilde{K}(s/\Lambda^2, \widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1}, \widetilde{x}) \right) d\operatorname{vol}(\widetilde{x}) \right] \phi(s) ds = O(\Lambda^{-\infty}),$$

as $\Lambda \to \infty$.

Now, since \widetilde{X} is compact, and since the finite group Γ acts freely and properly,

$$\inf_{(\widetilde{x},\gamma)\in\widetilde{X}\times\Gamma}d(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1},\widetilde{x})=\min_{(\widetilde{x},\gamma)\in\widetilde{X}\times\Gamma}d(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1},\widetilde{x})>0.$$

Hence, by [45, Prop. 3.24], there exist constants C > 0, c > 0 such that

$$\sup_{\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}} \|\widetilde{K}(t, \widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1}, \widetilde{x})\|_2 \le Ce^{-c/t}, \quad t > 0,$$

for $\|\cdot\|_2$ the fibre-wise Hilbert-Schmidt norm; this implies, in turn, that for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a constant $C_n > 0$, such that

$$\sup_{\widetilde{x}\in\widetilde{X}}\|\widetilde{K}(t,\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1},\widetilde{x})\|_{2} \leq C_{n}t^{n}, \quad t>0.$$

Hence, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\begin{split} &\left| \int_0^\infty \left[\int_{\widetilde{X}} \operatorname{tr} \left(\rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1}) \widetilde{K}(s/\Lambda^2, \widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1}, \widetilde{x}) \right) d\operatorname{vol}(\widetilde{x}) \right] \phi(s) ds \right| \\ & \leq \int_0^\infty \operatorname{vol}(X) \left(\sup_{\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}} \| \rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}) \|_2 \right) \left(\sup_{\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}} \| \widetilde{K}(s/\Lambda^2, \widetilde{x}\gamma^{-1}, \widetilde{x}) \|_2 \right) |\phi(s)| ds \\ & \leq \operatorname{vol}(X) \cdot \left(\sup_{\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}} \| \rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}) \|_2 \right) \cdot C_n \int_0^\infty (s/\Lambda^2)^n |\phi(s)| ds \\ & = \left(\operatorname{vol}(X) \cdot \left(\sup_{\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}} \| \rho(\gamma)(\widetilde{x}) \|_2 \right) \cdot C_n \cdot \int_0^\infty s^n |\phi(s)| ds \right) \Lambda^{-2n}, \end{split}$$

yielding the desired result.

Now, let $\alpha: \Gamma \to \operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbb{C})$ be a representation of Γ ; by endowing \mathbb{C}^N with a Γ -invariant inner product, we take $\alpha: \Gamma \to U(N)$. Since $\widetilde{X} \to X$ is a principal Γ -bundle, we form the associated Hermitian vector bundle $\mathcal{F} := \widetilde{X} \times_{\alpha} \mathbb{C}^X \to M$; since Γ is finite, we endow \mathcal{F} with the trivial flat connection d. We can therefore form the Clifford module $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F} \to X$, which admits the symmetric Dirac-type operator D_{α} obtained from D by twisting by d, that is,

$$D_{\alpha} = D \otimes 1 + c(1 \otimes d),$$

where c denotes the Clifford action on $\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{F}$.

We now obtain the following generalisation of Theorem 6.5.6, which explains the factor of $N/\#\Gamma$ appearing in Theorem 6.5.5 above:

Theorem 6.5.10. Let $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be of the form $f(x) = \mathcal{L}[\phi](x^2)$ for $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(0, \infty)$. Then for $\Lambda > 0$,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D_{\alpha}/\Lambda)\right) = \frac{N}{\#\Gamma}\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(\widetilde{D}/\Lambda)\right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}), \quad as \ \Lambda \to +\infty.$$
 (6.5.5)

Remark 6.5.11. This result is again compatible with inner fluctuations of the metric, insofar as if $A \in C^{\infty}(M, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E}))$ is symmetric, then $D_{\alpha} + A \otimes 1$ on $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}$ is induced from $\widetilde{D} + \widetilde{A}$ on $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$, where \widetilde{A} is A viewed as a Γ -invariant element of $C^{\infty}(\widetilde{X}, \operatorname{End}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}))$.

Proof of Theorem 6.5.10. On the one hand, consider the trivial bundle $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}} := \widetilde{X} \times \mathbb{C}^N$ over \widetilde{X} , together with the trivial flat connection d. Then for the action $(\widetilde{x}, v)\gamma := (\widetilde{x}\gamma, \alpha(\gamma^{-1})v)$, $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ is a Γ -equivariant Hermitian vector bundle, and d is a Γ -equivariant Hermitian connection on $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$. Then, by taking the tensor product of Γ -actions, we can endow $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ with the structure of a Γ -equivariant Clifford module, admitting the Γ -invariant symmetric Dirac-type operator $\widetilde{D}_{\alpha} = \widetilde{D} \otimes 1 + c(1 \otimes d)$. As a vector bundle, however, we may simply identify $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ with $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}^{\oplus N}$, in which case we may identify \widetilde{D}_{α} with $\widetilde{D} \otimes 1_N$.

On the other hand, by construction, the bundle \mathcal{F} defined above is the quotient of $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ by the action of Γ . Hence, under the action of Γ , the quotient of $\widetilde{\mathcal{V}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ is the Clifford module $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}$, with $\widetilde{D_{\alpha}}$ descending to the operator $D \otimes 1 + c(1 \otimes d) = D_{\alpha}$.

Finally, by Theorem 6.5.6 and our observations above,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D_{\alpha}/\Lambda)\right) = \frac{1}{\#\Gamma} \operatorname{Tr}\left(f(\widetilde{D}_{\alpha}/\Lambda)\right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty})$$

$$= \frac{1}{\#\Gamma} \operatorname{Tr}\left(f(\widetilde{D}/\Lambda) \otimes 1_{N}\right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty})$$

$$= \frac{N}{\#\Gamma} \operatorname{Tr}\left(f(\widetilde{D}/\Lambda)\right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}), \quad \text{as } \Lambda \to +\infty,$$

as was claimed. \Box

One can apply these results to give a quick second proof of Theorem 6.5.5.

Second proof of Theorem 6.5.5. Recall that $\Gamma \subset \mathrm{SU}(2)$ is a finite group acting by isometries on S^3 , identified with SU(2) endowed with the round metric, and that $\alpha : \Gamma \to U(N)$ is a representation. Since S^3 is parallelizable and Γ acts by isometries, the spinor bundle $\mathbb{C}^2 \to \mathcal{S}_{S^3} \to S^3$ and the Dirac operator D_{S^3} are trivially Γ -equivariant. Then, by construction, the Dirac-type operator D_{α}^{Γ} on $\mathcal{S}_{S^3} \otimes \mathcal{V}_{\alpha}$ is precisely the induced operator D_{α} corresponding to $\widetilde{D} = D_{S^3}$, so that by Theorem 6.5.10,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D_{\alpha}/\Lambda)\right) = \frac{N}{\#\Gamma}\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(\not\!\!D_{S^3}/\Lambda)\right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}), \quad \text{as } \Lambda \to +\infty.$$

However, by Theorem 6.5.3, one has that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D\!\!\!/_{S^3}/\Lambda)\right) = \Lambda^3\widehat{f^{(2)}}(0) - \frac{1}{4}\Lambda\widehat{f}(0) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}),$$

where $\widehat{f^{(2)}}$ denotes the Fourier transform of $u^2f(u)$. Hence,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(D_{\alpha}/\Lambda)\right) = \frac{N}{\#\Gamma}\left(\Lambda^{3}\widehat{f^{(2)}}(0) - \frac{1}{4}\Lambda\widehat{f}(0)\right) + O(\Lambda^{-\infty}),$$

as required. \Box

Chapter 7

Toric noncommutative manifolds

I don't care how God-damn smart these guys are: I'm bored.

It's been raining like hell all day long and there's nothing to do.

— R. Brautigan, At the California Institute of

Technology

Finally, we describe progress towards a reconstruction theorem for the other noncommutative class of spectral triples closest to the commutative case, toric noncommutative manifolds. These are spectral triples formed from torus-equivariant commutative spectral triples via a deformation quantisation (in the sense of Rieffel [60]) of the algebra along the torus action, that is, by a ConnesLandi deformation or isospectral deformation.

Our account is based on Yamashita's noncommutative generalisation [69] of Connes-Landi's original construction [29], though we generalise further to allow \mathbb{T}^N -actions for $N \geq 2$; another, equivalent approach to toric noncommutative manifolds is outlined in the preprint by Brain-Landi-Van Suijlekom [6].

7.1 Strict deformation quantisation

Let us begin with the basic construction of the deformed product on suitable bounded operators on a Hilbert space with a strongly continuous unitary action of \mathbb{T}^N .

In what follows, let H be a Hilbert space together with a strongly continuous unitary action $U: \mathbb{T}^N \to B(H)$ of \mathbb{T}^N on H. Then for each $r \in \mathbb{Z}^N$,

$$H_r := \left\{ \xi \in H \mid \forall t \in \mathbb{T}^N, \ U_t \xi = e^{2\pi i r \cdot t} \xi \right\}$$

is a closed subspace of H, and

$$H = \bigoplus_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} H_r;$$

for each $r \in \mathbb{Z}^N$, let P_r then be the orthogonal projection onto H_r . Moreover, for each $r \in \mathbb{Z}^N$,

$$B(H)_r := \left\{ T \in B(H) \mid \forall t \in \mathbb{T}^N, \ U_t T U_t^* = e^{2\pi i r \cdot t} \right\}$$

is a closed subspace of H, and for all $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}^N$,

$$(B(H)_r)^* \subset B(H)_{-r}, \quad B(H)_r B(H)_s \subset B(H)_{r+s};$$

one can also readily check that for $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}^N$, if $T \in B(H)_r$ then $TH_s \subset H_{r+s}$, so that $TP_s = P_{r+s}TP_s$. Finally, note that

$$B^{\infty}(H) := \{ T \in B(H) \mid t \mapsto U_t T U_t^* \text{ is smooth in the weak topology on } B(H) \}$$

is a unital *-subalgebra of B(H); for each $1 \leq k \leq N$, let ∂_k denote the derivation $\partial_k : B^{\infty}(H) \to B^{\infty}(H)$ defined for $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$ by

$$\forall \xi, \ \eta \in H, \quad \langle \partial_k T \xi, \eta \rangle := \lim_{s \to 0} \frac{\langle U_{se_k} T U_{se_k}^* \xi, \eta \rangle - \langle \xi, \eta \rangle}{s}.$$

Now, in what follows, let $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(N,\mathbb{R})$ be a fixed skew-symmetric real $N \times N$ matrix; let χ_{θ} : $\mathbb{Z}^N \times \mathbb{Z}^N \to U(1)$ be the bicharacter defined as follows:

$$\forall r, s \in \mathbb{Z}^N, \quad \chi(r, s) := e^{\pi i r \cdot \theta s}.$$

Let us first define a key technical tool for the construction of the deformed product.

Lemma 7.1.1. Let $r \in \mathbb{Z}^N$. Then $V_r^{\theta} := \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \chi_{\theta}(r,s) P_s$ is strongly convergent in B(H) with $\|V_r^{\theta}\| = 1$ and $U_t V_r^{\theta} U_t^* = V_r^{\theta}$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, and is unitary with $(V_r^{\theta})^* = V_r^{-\theta} = V_{-r}^{\theta}$. Moreover, for $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}^N$, $V_r^{\theta} V_s^{\theta} = V_{r+s}^{\theta}$, whilst for $T \in B(H)_s$, $V_r^{\theta} T(V_r^{\theta})^* = \chi_{\theta}(r,s)T$.

Proof. Let $\xi \in H$. Since $H = \bigoplus_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} H_s$, we have that

$$\sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \left\| \chi_{\theta}(r, s) P_s \xi \right\|^2 = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \left\| P_s \xi \right\|^2 = \left\| \xi \right\|^2,$$

so that, since $\{\chi_{\theta}(r,s)P_s\xi\}_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N}$ is orthogonal, $V_r^{\theta}\xi:=\sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N}\chi_{\theta}(r,s)P_s\xi$ converges in H, and, hence, $V_r^{\theta}=\sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N}\chi_{\theta}(r,s)P_s$ strongly converges in B(H) with $\|V_r^{\theta}\|=1$.

Next, for ξ , $\eta \in H$,

$$\left\langle V_r^{\theta}\xi,\eta\right\rangle = \sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N} \left\langle \chi_{\theta}(r,s)P_s\xi,\eta\right\rangle = \sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \left\langle \xi,\chi_{\theta}(s,r)P_s\eta\right\rangle,$$

so that $(V_r^{\theta})^* = V_r^{-\theta} V_{-r}^{\theta}$, since $\chi_{\theta}(s,r) = \chi_{\theta}(-r,s) = \chi_{-\theta}(r,s)$. But now, for any $\xi \in H$,

$$V_r^{-\theta}V_r^{\theta}\xi = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} V_r^{-\theta}(\chi_{\theta}(r,s)P_s\xi) = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \chi_{-\theta}(r,s)\chi_{\theta}(r,s)P_s\xi = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} P_s\xi = \xi,$$

so that $V_r^{-\theta}V_r^{\theta}=1$; replacing θ by $-\theta$, the same calculation yields $V_r^{\theta}V_r^{-\theta}$, so that, indeed, $(V_r^{\theta})^*=V_r^{-\theta}=(V_r^{\theta})^{-1}$, as was claimed.

Next, let $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$. Then for any $\xi \in H$,

$$\begin{split} U_t V_r^{\theta} U_t^* \xi &= U_t V_r \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} e^{-2\pi i t \cdot s} P_s \xi \\ &= U_t \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \chi_{\theta}(r,s) e^{-2\pi i t \cdot s} P_s \xi \\ &= \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} e^{2\pi i t \cdot s} \chi_{\theta}(r,s) e^{-2\pi i t \cdot s} P_s \xi \\ &= V_r^{\theta} \xi, \end{split}$$

as required.

Now, let $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}^N$. Then for any $\xi \in H$,

$$V_r^{\theta}V_s^{\theta}\xi = \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}^N} V_r^{\theta}\chi_{\theta}(s,t)P_t\xi = \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \chi_{\theta}(r,t)\chi_{\theta}(s,t)P_t\xi = \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \chi_{\theta}(r+s,t)P_t\xi = V_{r+s}^{\theta}\xi,$$

as was claimed.

Finally, let $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}^N$, and let $T \in B(H)_s$. Then for all $\xi \in H$,

$$\begin{split} V_r^{\theta}TV_r^{-\theta}\xi &= \sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}^N} V_r^{\theta}\chi_{-\theta}(r,t)TP_t\xi \\ &= \sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}^N} V_r^{\theta}\chi_{\theta}(-r,t)P_{t+s}TP_t\xi \\ &= \sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N} \chi_{\theta}(r,t+s)\chi_{\theta}(r,-s)\chi_{\theta}(r,r-s)P_{r-s}TP_s\xi \\ &= \chi_{\theta}(r,s)\sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N} P_{t+s}TP_t \\ &= \chi_{\theta}(r,s)T\xi, \end{split}$$

so that $V_r^{\theta}T(V_r^{\theta})^*=\chi_{\theta}(r,s)T,$ as was claimed.

Now, let us define the deformed product (and accompanying deformed action) on homogeneous elements of B(H).

Lemma 7.1.2. For $T \in B(H)_r$, let

$$\lambda_{\theta}(T) := TV_r^{\theta}, \quad \rho_{\theta}(T) := TV_r^{-\theta} = \lambda_{\theta}(T).$$

Then the assignments $T \mapsto \lambda_{\theta}(T)$ and $T \mapsto \rho_{\theta}(T)$ define linear contractions $\lambda_{\theta}, \rho_{\theta} : B(H)_r \to B(H)_r$, such that for any $T \in B(H)_r$, $\lambda_{\theta}(T)^* = \lambda_{\theta}(T^*) \in B(H)_{-r}$ and $\rho_{\theta}(T)^* = \rho_{\theta}(T^*) \in B(H)_{-r}$.

Moreover, if $T \in B(H)_r$ and $T' \in B(H)_s$, then

$$\lambda_{\theta}(T)\lambda_{\theta}(T') = \lambda_{\theta}(\chi_{\theta}(r,s)TT').$$

Proof. That λ_{θ} and ρ_{θ} are linear contractions on $B(H)_r$ follows immediately from the fact that $\|V_r^{\theta}\| = \|V_r^{-\theta}\| = 1$, and that $\lambda_{\theta}^{-1} = \lambda_{-\theta}$ and $\rho_{\theta}^{-1} = \rho_{-\theta}$ follows immediately from the fact that $(V_r^{\theta})^{-1} = V_r^{-\theta}$.

Now, let $T \in B(H)_r$, and recall that $T^* \in B(H)_{-r}$. Then by Lemma 7.1.1, $V_r^{\theta} T(V_r^{\theta})^* = \chi_{\theta}(r,r)T = T$, and hence

$$\lambda_{\theta}(T)^* = (TV_r^{\theta})^* = (V_r^{\theta}T)^* = T^*(V_r^{\theta})^* = T^*V_{-r}^{\theta} = \lambda_{\theta}(T^*);$$

replacing θ with $-\theta$ then yields $\rho_{\theta}(T)^* = \rho_{\theta}(T^*)$.

Finally, let $T \in B(H)_r$ and $T' \in B(H)_s$. Then by Lemma 7.1.1,

$$\lambda_{\theta}(T)\lambda_{\theta}(T') = TV_r^{\theta}T'V_s^{\theta} = TV_r^{\theta}T'(V_r^{\theta})^*V_r^{\theta}V_s^{\theta} = \chi_{\theta}(r,s)TT'V_{r+s}^{\theta} = \lambda_{\theta}(\chi_{\theta}(r,s)TT'),$$

as was claimed. \Box

In order to extend our deformed product to more general bounded operators on B(H), we must first show how to canonically decompose a bounded operator into homogeneous components.

Lemma 7.1.3. Let $r \in \mathbb{Z}^N$. If $T \in B(H)$, then

$$T_r := \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} P_{r+s} T P_s$$

strongly converges in B(H) to an element of $B(H)_r$, and the assignment $T \mapsto T_r$ defines a linear contraction $B(H) \to B(H)_r$, such that $(T_r)^* = (T^*)_{-r}$ for all $T \in B(H)$. Moreover, if $T \in B(H)_{r'}$, then $T_r = \delta_{rr'}T$.

Proof. First, let $T \in B(H)$. Let $\xi \in H$. Then

$$\sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^{N}} \|P_{r+s} T P_{s} \xi\|^{2} \leq \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^{N}} \|T P_{s} \xi\|^{2} \leq \|T\|^{2} \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^{N}} \|P_{s} \xi\|^{2} = \|T\|^{2} \|\xi\|^{2},$$

so that since $\{P_{r+s}TP_s\xi\}_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N}$ is orthogonal, $T_r\xi:=\sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N}P_{r+s}TP_s\xi$ converges in H, and, hence, $T_r:=\sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^N}P_{r+s}TP_s$ converges strongly in B(H) with $\|T_r\|\leq \|T\|$. Moreover, if $t\in\mathbb{T}^N$, then for any $\xi\in H$,

$$U_{t}T_{r}U_{t}^{*}\xi = U_{t}\sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^{N}} P_{r+s}TP_{s}U_{t}^{*}\xi$$

$$= \sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^{N}} (U_{t}P_{r+s})T(U_{-t}P_{s})\xi$$

$$= \sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^{N}} e^{2\pi it\cdot(r+s)}e^{2\pi i(-t)\cdot s}P_{r+s}TP_{s}\xi$$

$$= e^{2\pi ir\cdot t}\sum_{s\in\mathbb{Z}^{N}} P_{r+s}TP_{s}\xi$$

$$= e^{2\pi ir\cdot t}T_{r}\xi.$$

so that $T_r \in B(H)_r$. Once can readily check that $T \mapsto T_r$ is linear in T, so that $T \mapsto T_r$ does indeed define an linear contraction $B(H) \to B(H)_r$.

Now, for any ξ , $\eta \in H$,

$$\langle T_r^* \xi, \eta \rangle = \langle \xi, T_r \eta \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \langle \xi, P_{r+s} T P_s \eta \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \langle P_s T^* P_{r+s} \xi, \eta \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{s' \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \langle P_{-r+s'} T^* P_{s'} \xi, \eta \rangle$$

$$= \langle (T^*)_{-r} \xi, \eta \rangle,$$

so that $(T_r)^* = (T^*)_{-r}$.

Finally, suppose that $T \in B(H)_{r'}$. Then

$$T_r = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} P_{r+t} T P_t = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} P_{r+s} P_{r'+s} T P_s = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \delta_{rr'} P_{r'+t} T P_t = \delta_{rr'} T,$$

as was claimed. \Box

Let us now characterise those bounded operators on B(H) that admit a well-behaved decompo-

sition into homogeneous components. We first shall need the following definition:

Definition 7.1.4. We define a rapidly decreasing sequence in $B^{\infty}(H)$ to be a sequence $\{T_{\sigma}\}_{{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}^N}$ in $B^{\infty}(H)$ with $T_{\sigma}\in B(H)_{\sigma}$ for each $\sigma\in\mathbb{Z}^N$, such that for all $k\in\mathbb{N}$,

$$\sup_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} (1 + \sigma \cdot \sigma)^{k/2} \|T_{\sigma}\| < \infty.$$

Now we can characterise the domain of our deformed product:

Lemma 7.1.5. If $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$, then $\{T_r\}_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N}$ is rapidly decreasing. Conversely, if $\{T_r\}_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \subset B^{\infty}(H)$ is rapidly decreasing, then $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} T_{\sigma}$ converges in norm to an element $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$. In particular, then, if $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$, then $T = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} T_{\sigma}$ and $\partial_m T = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} 2\pi i \sigma_k T_{\sigma}$ for each $1 \leq m \leq N$, with convergence in norm.

To prove this, we shall need the following ancillary lemma:

Lemma 7.1.6 ([69, Proof of Lemma 1]). Let $T \in B(H)$, and suppose that

$$\partial_k T := \text{w-lim}_{s \to 0} \frac{1}{s} \left(U_{se_k} T U_{se_k}^* - T \right)$$

exists. Then for any $r \in \mathbb{Z}^N$,

$$(\partial_k T)_r = 2\pi i r_k T_r, \quad 1 \le k \le N.$$

Proof. First, if $\xi \in H_s$, $\eta \in H_t$, then

$$\langle \xi, \partial_k T \eta \rangle = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h} \left(\langle \xi, U_{he_k} T U_{he_k}^* \eta \rangle - \langle \xi, T \eta \rangle \right)$$
$$= \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h} (e^{2\pi i h e_k \cdot (s-t)} - 1) \langle \xi, T \eta \rangle$$
$$= 2\pi i (s-t)_k \langle \xi, T \eta \rangle,$$

and, hence,

$$\begin{split} \langle \xi, (\partial_k T)_r \eta \rangle &= \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \langle \xi, P_{r+\sigma} \partial_k T P_\sigma \eta \rangle \\ &= \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} 2\pi i (s-t)_k \langle P_{r+\sigma} \xi, T P_\sigma \eta \rangle \\ &= \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \delta_{r+\sigma,s} \delta_{\sigma,t} 2\pi i (s-t)_k \langle \xi, T \eta \rangle \\ &= \delta_{s,r+t} 2\pi i r_k \langle \xi, T \eta \rangle \\ &= 2\pi i r_k \langle \xi, T_r \eta \rangle \,. \end{split}$$

Since the algebraic direct sum of the H_{σ} is dense in $H = \bigoplus_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} H_{\sigma}$, it therefore follows that $(\partial_k T)_r = 2\pi i r_k T_r$, as was claimed.

Proof of Lemma 7.1.5. First, let $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$. Then by Lemma 7.1.6, for any $r \in \mathbb{Z}^N$, $(\Delta T)_r = -4\pi^2 r \cdot rT_r$, and, hence,

$$(1+r\cdot r)^k T_r = \left(\left(1-\frac{1}{4\pi^2}\Delta\right)^k T\right)_r.$$

Thus, for any $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$,

$$(1+r\cdot r)^{k/2} \|T_r\| \le (1+r\cdot r)^k \|T_r\| = \left\| \left(\left(1 - \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \Delta\right)^k T \right)_r \right\| \le \left\| \left(1 - \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \Delta\right)^k T \right\|,$$

so that $\{T_r\}$ is indeed rapidly decreasing.

Now, let $\{T_r\}_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^N}\subset B^\infty(H)$ be rapidly decreasing. In particular, then,

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \|T_r\| \le \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} (1 + r \cdot r)^{-(N+1)/2} \sup_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} (1 + \sigma \cdot \sigma)^{-(N+1)/2} \|T_\sigma\| < \infty,$$

so that $\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^N} T_r$ converges in norm to some $T\in B(H)$. Moreover, for each $m\in\mathbb{N}$ and each $\{k_1,\ldots,k_m\}\in\{1,\ldots,N\}^m$,

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^{N}} \| (2\pi i r)_{k_{1}} \cdots (2\pi i r)_{k_{m}} T_{r} \| \leq \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^{N}} (2\pi)^{m} (1 + \sigma \cdot \sigma)^{m/2} \| T_{r} \| \\
\leq \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^{N}} (2\pi)^{m} (1 + r \cdot r)^{-(N+1)/2} \sup_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^{N}} (1 + \sigma \cdot \sigma)^{(N+m+1)/2} \| T_{\sigma} \| \\
< \infty,$$

so that

$$T^{k_1,\dots,k_m} := \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} (2\pi i r)_{k_1} \cdots (2\pi i r)_{k_m} T_r$$

converges in norm to an element of B(H); we shall prove by induction on m that $T^{k_1,\dots,k_m} = \partial_{k_1}\dots\partial_{k_m}T$. Let $\{k_0,\dots,k_m\}\in\{1,\dots,N\}^{m+1}$, and suppose by induction that $T^{k_1,\dots,k_m} = \partial_{k_1}\dots\partial_{k_m}T$. Then for any $\xi\in H_s$, $\eta\in H_t$, by the proof of Lemma 7.1.6, on the one hand,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(\left\langle U_{\varepsilon e_{k_0}} \partial_{k_1} \cdots \partial_{l_m} T U_{\varepsilon e_{k_0}}^* \xi, \eta \right\rangle - \left\langle \partial_{k_1} \cdots \partial_{k_m} T \xi, \eta \right\rangle \right) = -2\pi i (s - t)_{k_0} \left\langle \partial_{k_1} \cdots \partial_{k_m} \xi, \eta \right\rangle,$$

whilst on the other,

$$\langle T^{k_0,\dots,k_m}\xi,\eta\rangle = \sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^N} (-2\pi ir)_{k_0} \cdots (-2\pi ir)_{k_m} \langle T_r\xi,\eta\rangle$$
$$= \sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^N} (-2\pi ir)_{k_0} \cdots (-2\pi ir)_{k_m} \langle P_{r+s}T_rP_s\xi,\eta\rangle$$

$$= -2\pi i (s-t)_{k_0} \langle (\partial_{k_1} \cdots \partial_{k_m} T)_{s-t} \xi, \eta \rangle;$$

since

$$\left\langle T^{k_0,\dots,k_m}\xi,\eta\right\rangle=\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^N}\left\langle (T^{k_0,\dots,k_m})_r\xi,\eta\right\rangle=\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^N}\left\langle P_{r+s}T^{k_0,\dots,k_m}\xi,\eta\right\rangle=\left\langle (T^{k_0,\dots,k_m})_{s-t}\xi,\eta\right\rangle,$$

it therefore follows that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(\left\langle U_{\varepsilon e_{k_0}} \partial_{k_1} \cdots \partial_{l_m} T U_{\varepsilon e_{k_0}}^* \xi, \eta \right\rangle - \left\langle \partial_{k_1} \cdots \partial_{k_m} T \xi, \eta \right\rangle \right) = \left\langle T^{k_0, \dots, k_m} \xi, \eta \right\rangle.$$

Since the algebraic direct sum of the H_{σ} is dense in H, this implies that

$$\text{w-lim}_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(U_{\varepsilon e_{k_0}} \partial_{k_1} \cdots \partial_{k_m} T U_{\varepsilon e_{k_0}}^* - \partial_{k_1} \cdots \partial_{k_m} T \right) = T^{k_0, \dots, k_m},$$

as required.

Finally, let $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$; all that remains to be shown is that $T = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} T_r$ in B(H). Since $\{T_r\}$ is rapidly decreasing, we certainly know that $\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} T_r$ converges in norm to some $T' \in B^{\infty}(H)$. But then, if $\xi \in H_s$, $\eta \in H_t$ for $s, t \in \mathbb{Z}^N$, then

$$\langle T'\xi, \eta \rangle = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \langle T_r \xi, \eta \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \langle P_{r+\sigma} T P_{\sigma} \xi, \eta \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \delta_{\sigma,s} \delta_{r+\sigma,t} \langle T\xi, \eta \rangle$$

$$= \langle T\xi, \eta \rangle;$$

since the algebraic direct sum of the H_{σ} is dense in H, it follows that T = T', as was claimed. \square

We now construct the deformed action of $B^{\infty}(H)$ on H that will induce the deformed product on $B^{\infty}(H)$.

Lemma 7.1.7 ([69, Lemma 1]). If $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$, then

$$\lambda_{\theta}(T) := \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \lambda_{\theta}(T_r), \quad \rho_{\theta}(T) := \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \rho_{\theta}(T_r)$$

converge in the operator norm in B(H), and the assignments $T \mapsto \lambda_{\theta}(T)$, $T \mapsto \rho_{\theta}(T)$ define invertible \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant linear contractions λ_{θ} , $\rho_{\theta} : B^{\infty}(H) \to B^{\infty}(H)$, such that for any $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$, $\lambda_{\theta}(T)^* = \lambda_{\theta}(T^*)$ and $\rho_{\theta}(T)^* = \rho_{\theta}(T^*)$, with inverses $\lambda_{\theta}^{-1} = \lambda_{-\theta}$ and $\rho_{\theta}^{-1} = \rho_{-\theta}$. Moreover, for any

$$S, T \in B^{\infty}(H)$$
 with $[S, T] = 0, [\lambda_{\theta}(S), \rho_{\theta}(T)] = 0.$

Proof. By Lemma 7.1.5, $T = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} T_r$ is absolutely convergent in B(H), so that

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \|\lambda_{\theta}(T_r)\| \le \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \|T_r\| < \infty,$$

and, hence, $\lambda_{\theta}(T) := \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \lambda_{\theta}(T_r)$ converges absolutely in B(H); by replacing θ with $-\theta$, we get the same claim for $\rho_{\theta}(T)$. It then follows that the properties of $\lambda_{\theta} : B^{\infty}(H) \to B(H)$ (and, hence, also of $\rho_{\theta} : B^{\infty}(H) \to B(H)$) follow from Lemma 7.1.3.

Next, since all the P_r and V_s^{θ} commute with the action of \mathbb{T}^N on H, it follows that if $T \in B^{\infty}(H)$, then for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $U_t \lambda_{\theta}(T) U_t^* = \lambda_{\theta}(U_t T U_t^*)$, so that $\lambda_{\theta}(B^{\infty}(H)) \subset \lambda_{\theta}(B^{\infty}(H))$, and $\lambda_{\theta}: B^{\infty}(H) \to B^{\infty}(H)$ is \mathbb{T}^N equivariant; by replacing θ with $-\theta$, we prove the same for ρ_{θ} . It then follows from Lemma 7.1.3 and a direct computation that $\lambda_{\theta}^{-1} = \lambda_{-\theta}$ and $\rho_{\theta}^{-1} = \rho_{-\theta}$ in this more general context.

Finally, suppose that $S, T \in B^{\infty}(H)$ commute. First, since the various P_{σ} commute amongst themselves, it follows that S_r and T_s commute for all $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}^N$. But then, for each $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}^N$,

$$\lambda_{\theta}(S_r)\rho_{\theta}(T_s) - \rho_{\theta}(T_s)\lambda_{\theta}(S_r) = S_r V_r^{\theta} T_s V_s^{-\theta} - T_s V_s^{-\theta} S_r V_r^{\theta}$$

$$= \chi_{\theta}(r, s) S_r T_s V_{r-s}^{\theta} - \chi_{-\theta}(s, r) T_s S_r V_{r-s}^{\theta}$$

$$= \chi_{\theta}(r, s) [S_r, T_s] = 0.$$

It then follows from the construction of $\lambda_{\theta}(S)$ and $\rho_{\theta}(T)$ that they commute, as was claimed. \square

Remark 7.1.8. If $T \in B(H)_0$, i.e., if $U_t T U_t^* T = T$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, then $\lambda_{\theta}(T) = \rho_{\theta}(T) = T$.

Putting everything together, we see that we have constructed our deformed product on $B^{\infty}(H)$ as follows:

Theorem 7.1.9 (Rieffel, cf. [60]). For $S, T \in B^{\infty}(H)$, let $S \star_{\theta} T := \lambda_{\theta}^{-1}(\lambda_{\theta}(S)\lambda_{\theta}(T))$. Then $(B^{\infty}(H), \star_{\theta})$ is a unital *-algebra for the involution * inherited from B(H), and

$$\forall S, T \in B^{\infty}(H), \quad \lambda_{\theta}(S \star_{\theta} T) = \lambda_{\theta}(S)\lambda_{\theta}(T).$$

Moreover, if $S \in B(H)_0$ or $T \in B(H)_0$, then $S \star_{\theta} T = ST$.

Remark 7.1.10. In light of Lemmas 7.1.5 and 7.1.7, the algebraic properties of $(B^{\infty}(H), \star_{\theta})$ can be checked on homogeneous elements of $B^{\infty}(H)$.

7.2 Connes-Landi deformations

Let us now proceed to the construction of Connes-Landi deformations of torus-equivariant spectral triples. Just what we mean by a torus-equivariant spectral triple is given by the following definition:

Definition 7.2.1. We say that a regular spectral triple (A, H, D) is \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant if there exist a smooth isometric action $\sigma : \mathbb{T}^N \to A$ of \mathbb{T}^N on A and a strongly continuous action $U_{\bullet} : \mathbb{T}^N \to U(H)$ of \mathbb{T}^N on H satisfying the following:

- 1. For all $a \in A$, for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $U_t a U_t^* = \sigma_t(a)$.
- 2. For all $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $U_t D U_t^* = D$.
- 3. If (A, H, D) is even with \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading γ , then for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $U_t \gamma U_t^* = \gamma$.
- 4. If (A, H, D) is two-sided, then for all $a \in A$, for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $U_t a^o U_t^* = \sigma_t(a)^o$.

If (A, H, D) is regular and \mathbb{T}^N -equivarant, then we take A to be a Fréchet pre- C^* -algebra with seminorms, for $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^N$,

$$\nu_{k,\alpha}(a) := \|(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k (\partial_{\alpha}a)\| + \|(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k ([D,\partial_{\alpha}a])\|, \quad a \in A.$$

Remark 7.2.2. If (A, H, D) is a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant regular spectral triple, then for all $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $U_t H^\infty \subset H^\infty$, since by \mathbb{T}^N -invariance of D, $[|D|, U_t] = 0$, and, hence, $U_t \in \cap_k \text{Dom}(\text{ad } |D|)^k$, which guarantees that $U_t H^\infty \subset H^\infty$, as was claimed.

Given this, we define the Connes–Landi deformation of a torus-equivariant spectral triple as follows:

Definition 7.2.3 (Yamashita [69], after Connes–Landi [29]). Let (A, H, D) be a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant regular spectral triple, so that $A \subset B^{\infty}(H)$, let $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(N)$, and let $A_{\theta} := (A, \star_{\theta})$. Then (A_{θ}, H, D) is the Connes–Landi deformation of (A, H, D) with deformation parameter θ .

Remark 7.2.4. Since $\lambda_{\theta'} \circ \lambda_{\theta} = \lambda_{\theta+\theta'}$, it will follow that $((A_{\theta})_{\theta'}, H, D) = (A_{\theta+\theta'}, H, D)$; in particular, $((A_{\theta})_{-\theta}, H, D) = (A_{\theta}, H, D) = (A_{\theta}, H, D)$.

That Connes-Landi deformations are indeed well-defined are guaranteed by the following result:

Theorem 7.2.5 (Yamashita [69, Prop. 5]). Let (A, H, D) be a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant regular spectral triple, and let $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(N)$. Then (A_{θ}, H, D) is a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant regular spectral triple, even whenever (A, H, D) is, and of metric dimension p whenever (A, H, D) is.

To prove this, we shall need two ancillary lemmas. The first is a refinement of Lemma 7.1.5:

Lemma 7.2.6. Let (A, H, D) be a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant regular spectral triple. If $a \in A$, then $a_r \in A_r \subset A$ and $a = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} a_r$ converges absolutely in A. Conversely, if $\{a_r\}_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \subset A$ is rapidly decreasing in $B^{\infty}(H)$, then $a := \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} a_r$ converges in A.

Proof. First, observe that for any $a \in A$, $r \in \mathbb{Z}^N$, we can write

$$a_r = \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} e^{2\pi i r \cdot t} \sigma_t(a) d^N t \in A,$$

where the integral converges in A qua Fréchet space, since the \mathbb{T}^N -action on A is smooth and isometric.

Now, suppose that $\{a_r\}_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^N}\subset A$ is rapidly decreasing in $B^{\infty}(H)$. Then $a:=\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^N}a_r$ converges absolutely in $B^{\infty}(H)\subset B(H)$, and, hence, by \mathbb{T}^N -invariance of D, for any $c\in A$, $(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k(\partial_{\alpha}a)$, $(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k([D,\partial_{\alpha}a])\in B^{\infty}(H)$ with

$$\forall r \in \mathbb{Z}^N, \quad (\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k(\partial_{\alpha}a_r) = (\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k(\partial_{\alpha}a)_r, \quad (\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k([D,\partial_{\alpha}a_r]) = (\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k([D,\partial_{\alpha}a])_r;$$

this implies, then, that

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \nu_{k,\alpha}(a) = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \left(\left\| (\operatorname{ad} |D|)^k (\partial_{\alpha} a_r) \right\| + \left\| (\operatorname{ad} |D|)^k ([D, \partial_{\alpha} a_r]) \right\| \right)$$

$$= \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \left\| (\operatorname{ad} |D|)^k (\partial_{\alpha} a)_r \right\| + \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \left\| (\operatorname{ad} |D|)^k ([D, \partial_{\alpha} a])_r \right\|$$

$$< \infty,$$

as required.

Finally, if $a \in A$ and $a' = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} a_r$, then, in particular, $a' = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^N} a_r$ in B(H), and, hence, by Lemma 7.1.5, a = a', as required.

The second lemma is a refinement of Proposition 7.1.9:

Lemma 7.2.7 (Yamashita [69, Lemma 2]). Let (A, H, D) be a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant regular spectral triple. Then for any $a, b \in A$, $a \star_{\theta} b \in A$, and, hence, $A_{\theta} := (A, \star_{\theta})$ is a unital Fréchet pre- C^* -algebra for the same seminorms as A, with the same \mathbb{T}^N action $\sigma : \mathbb{T}^N \to \operatorname{Aut}(A_{\theta})$ and continuous \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant *-representation on A given by $A_{\theta}|_{A_{\theta}} : A_{\theta} \to B(H)$.

Proof. In light of Proposition 7.1.9, it suffices to show that for any $a, b \in A$,

$$a \star_{\theta} b = \sum_{r,s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \chi_{\theta}(r,s) a_r b_s$$

converges absolutely in the Fréchet algebra A. However, by Lemma 7.2.6, it follows that

$$ab = \sum_{r,s \in \mathbb{Z}^N} a_r b_s$$

with absolute convergence in A, so that for any k and α ,

$$\sum_{r,s\in\mathbb{Z}^N}\nu_{k,\alpha}(\chi_{\theta}(r,s)a_rb_s)=\sum_{r,s\in\mathbb{Z}^N}\nu_{k,\alpha}(a_rb_s)<\infty,$$

as required. \Box

Proof. First, since D is \mathbb{T}^N -invariant, for all $a \in A$, $[D, a] \in B^{\infty}(H)$, and, hence, $[D, \lambda_{\theta}(a)] = \lambda_{\theta}([D, a])$; since H and D are unchanged, this shows that (A_{θ}, H, D) is a spectral triple, indeed with metric dimension p if (A, H, D) has metric dimension p.

Next, again, since D is \mathbb{T}^N -invariant, for all $T \in B^{\infty}(H) \cap (\cap_k \text{Dom}(\text{ad}\,|D|)^k)$, $(\text{ad}\,|D|)^k(T) \in B^{\infty}(H)$, and, hence, $(\text{ad}\,|D|)^k(\lambda_{\theta}(T)) = \lambda_{\theta}((\text{ad}\,|D|)^k(T))$. Applying this to $T \in A + [D, A]$, we therefore find that (A, H, D) is regular; since A_{θ} is endowed with the same \mathbb{T}^N -action as A, and since $\lambda_{\theta} : A_{\theta} \to B(H)$ is \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant, it therefore follows that (A, H, D) is \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant.

Finally, if (A, H, D) is even with grading γ , since $\gamma \in B(H)_0$, it follows that for all $a \in A_\theta$, $[\lambda_\theta(a), \gamma] = \lambda_\theta([a, \gamma]) = 0$, as required.

7.3 Toric noncommutative manifolds

At last, let we are in a position to discuss toric noncommutative manifolds and a potential reconstruction theorem for such spectral triples.

Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian manifold with an orientation-preserving isometric \mathbb{T}^N action $c: \mathbb{T}^N \to \mathrm{Iso}^+(M)$, let $\mathcal{E} \to X$ be a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant Clifford module with \mathbb{T}^N action $t \mapsto (c_t, U_t)$, and let D be a \mathbb{T}^N -invariant symmetric Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} . Then $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$, in particular, is a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant regular spectral triple with \mathbb{T}^N -action on $C^{\infty}(X)$ given by

$$\forall \in C^{\infty}(X), t \in \mathbb{T}^N, \quad \sigma_t(f) := f \circ c_{-t},$$

and compatible \mathbb{T}^N action on $L^2(X,\mathcal{E})$, given by $t \mapsto U_t$, with U_t viewed as an element of $B(L^2(X,\mathcal{E}))$. Given all this, we therefore call $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X,\mathcal{E}), D)$ a concrete \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant commutative spectral triple. We can therefore define a (concrete) toric noncommutative manifold, the type of Connes—Landi deformation originally considered by Connes—Landi themselves, as follows:

Definition 7.3.1. A concrete toric noncommutative manifold is a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant spectral triple of

the form

$$(C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), L^{2}(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E}), D) := (C^{\infty}(X)_{\theta}, L^{2}(X, \mathcal{E}), D),$$

where $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is a concrete \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant commutative spectral triple.

Now, in order to obtain an abstract definition of toric noncommutative manifold, we shall need the following refinement of the definition of Dirac-type spectral triple:

Definition 7.3.2. We say that a p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple (A, H, D) is \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant if it is \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant as a regular spectral triple, and if the following also hold:

- 1. For all $a \in A$ and $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $U_t a^o U_t^* = \sigma_t(a)^o$.
- 2. The orientation cycle $c \in Z_p(A, A)$ is \mathbb{T}^N -invariant.
- 3. For any $\xi, \eta \in H^{\infty}$ and $t \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $(U_t \xi, U_t \eta) = (\xi, \eta)$.

Our proposed abstract definition of toric noncommutative manifold is therefore motivated by the following result:

Proposition 7.3.3 (Connes-Landi [29], Connes-Dubois-Violette [28]). Let X be a compact oriented Riemannian p-manifold with orientation-preserving isometric \mathbb{T}^N -action, let $\mathcal{E} \to X$ be a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant Clifford module, and let D be a \mathbb{T}^N -invariant symmetric Dirac-type operator on \mathcal{E} ; let $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(N)$. Then $(C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), L^2(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple with right $C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})$ -action defined by ρ_{θ} .

Proof. First, we have that $(C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), L^{2}(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is regular and of metric dimension p by Theorem 7.2.5. Indeed, it is two-sided for the right action $\lambda_{\theta}(a)^{o} := \rho_{\theta}(a)$; on the one hand, by \mathbb{T}^{N} -invariance of D, $(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^{k}(\lambda_{\theta}(a))^{o} = \rho_{\theta}((\operatorname{ad}|D|)^{k}(a))$, so that $\lambda_{\theta}(a)^{o}H^{\infty} \subset H^{\infty}$ for all $a \in C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})$, and on the other hand, since $C^{\infty}(X)$ is commutative, $[\lambda_{\theta}(a), \rho_{\theta}(b)] = 0$ by Lemma 7.1.7. Moreover, by \mathbb{T}^{N} -equivariance of ρ_{θ} , it follows that

$$\forall a \in C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), \ t \in \mathbb{T}^{N}, \quad U_{t}\lambda_{\theta}(a)^{o}U_{t}^{*} = U_{t}\rho_{\theta}(a)U^{*} = \rho_{\theta}(\sigma_{t}(a)) = \lambda_{\theta}(\sigma_{t}(a))^{o}.$$

Let us now check the conditions for a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple one by one:

- 1. As we have already seen, $(C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), L^{2}(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E}), D)$ has metric dimension p.
- 2. Since [[D, a], b] = 0 for all $a, b \in C^{\infty}(X)$, we have that

$$[[D, \lambda_{\theta}(a)], \lambda_{\theta}(b)^{\circ}] = [[D, \lambda_{\theta}(a)], \rho_{\theta}(b)] = [\lambda_{\theta}([D, a]), \rho_{\theta}(b)] = 0$$

by \mathbb{T}^N -invariance of D and Lemma 7.1.7.

3. Recall that $\cap_k \operatorname{Dom} D^k = C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E})$. Since $\mathcal{E} \to X$ is \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant, it follows [6, Lemma 3.3] that there exists a finite-dimensional \mathbb{T}^N -module V, such that \mathcal{E} is \mathbb{T}^N -equivariantly a direct summand of $X \times V$, and, hence, we have a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant identification $C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E})_{C^{\infty}(X)} \cong pC^{\infty}(X)^N$ for some \mathbb{T}^N -invariant orthogonal projection $p \in M_N(C^{\infty}(X))$. By \mathbb{T}^N -equivariance of this identification and \mathbb{T}^N -invariance of p, it therefore follows that we have a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant identification

$$C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E})_{C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})} := C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E})_{C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})} \cong pC^{\infty}(X_{\theta})^{N},$$

immediately implying finiteness for the deformed spectral triple.

4. By invertibility of λ_{θ} and Lemma 7.1.7, we can readily check that $\operatorname{End}_{C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})^{\circ}}(C^{\infty}(X_{\theta},\mathcal{E})) = \lambda_{\theta} \left(\operatorname{End}_{C^{\infty}(X)}(C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{E})) \right)$, so that $\operatorname{End}_{C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})^{\circ}}(C^{\infty}(X_{\theta},\mathcal{E})) \subset \cap_{k} \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^{k}$, since

$$\operatorname{End}_{C^{\infty}(X)}(C^{\infty}(X,\mathcal{E})) \subset \cap_k \operatorname{Dom}(\operatorname{ad}|D|)^k.$$

Thus, strong regularity holds.

- 5. The orientation cycle $c \in Z_p(C^{\infty}(X), C^{\infty}(X))$ of $(C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is given by the \mathbb{T}^N -invariant volume form on X. Hence, by the proof of [28, Theorem 13.9], it follows that the corresponding cycle $c_{\theta} \in Z_p(C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}))$ yields the desired antisymmetric \mathbb{T}^N -invariant orientation cycle for the deformed spectral triple.
- 6. Going back to the proof of finiteness, one can observe that \mathcal{E} is a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariantly a direct summand of $X \times V$ as a Hermitian vector bundle. Thus $C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E})_{C^{\infty}(X)} \cong pC^{\infty}(X)^N$ as \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant right pre-Hilbert $C^{\infty}(X)$ -modules, and, hence, $C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E})_{C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})} \cong pC^{\infty}(X_{\theta})^N$ as \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant right pre-Hilbert $C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})$ -modules; in particular, \mathbb{T}^N -invariance of the Hermitian metric on $C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E})$, obtained from the Hermitian metric on $C^{\infty}(X, \mathcal{E})$, implies that it takes its values in $C^{\infty}(X_{\theta})_0 = C^{\infty}(X)_0$, so that absolute continuity is indeed preserved

Thus, $(C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), L^{2}(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E}), D)$ is indeed a \mathbb{T}^{N} -equivariant p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple.

Example 7.3.4. If $(C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N), L^2(\mathbb{T}^N, \mathcal{S}), \not{\mathbb{D}})$ is the canonical spectral triple of \mathbb{T}^N with a given spin structure, then $(C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N_{\theta}), L^2(\mathbb{T}^N_{\theta}, \mathcal{S}), D)$ is the corresponding *noncommutative N-torus*.

In light of Proposition 7.3.3, we define an abstract toric noncommutative manifold as follows:

Definition 7.3.5. Let (A, H, D) be a \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant p-dimensional Dirac-type spectral triple, and let $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(N)$. We call (A, H, D) a p-dimensional toric noncommutative manifold with deformation parameter θ if

$$\forall a \in A, \quad a^0 := \lambda_{-2\theta}(a).$$

Our progress towards a reconstruction theorem, then, is summarised in the following theorem:

Theorem 7.3.6. Let (A, H, D) be a p-dimensional toric noncommutative manifold with deformation parameter $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(N)$, and suppose, moreover, that the orientation cycle $c \in Z_p(A, A)$ corresponds to a \mathbb{T}^N -invariant antisymmetric cycle $c_{\theta} \in Z_p(A_{-\theta}, A_{-\theta})$, such that $\pi_D(c) = \pi_D(c_{\theta})$. Then there exists a concrete \mathbb{T}^N -equivariant commutative spectral triple, such that

$$(A_{-\theta}, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X), L^2(X, \mathcal{E}), D), \quad (A, H, D) \cong (C^{\infty}(X_{\theta}), L^2(X_{\theta}, \mathcal{E}), D),$$

i.e., (A, H, D) is unitarily equivalent to a concrete p-dimensional toric noncommutative manifold.

Proof. In light of Proposition 7.3.3, it suffices to show that $(A_{-\theta}, H, D)$ is a p-dimensional commutative spectral triple, for then by Corollary 4.2.7, we can reconstruct X, \mathcal{E} , and D, and from there reconstruct the \mathbb{T}^N -action on X and on \mathcal{E} from $t \mapsto \sigma_t$ and $t \mapsto U_t$, respectively.

Now, let $a, b \in A$. Then, in particular, $\rho_{-\theta}(b^o) = \lambda_{\theta}(b^o) = \lambda_{\theta}(\lambda_{-2\theta}(b)) = \lambda_{-\theta}(b)$, so that by Lemma 7.1.7,

$$[\lambda_{-\theta}(a), \lambda_{-\theta}(b)] = [\lambda_{-\theta}(a), \rho_{-\theta}(b^o)] = 0,$$

and, similarly,

$$[[D, \lambda_{-\theta}(a)], \lambda_{-\theta}(b)] = [\lambda_{-\theta}([D, a]), \rho_{-\theta}(b^o)] = 0.$$

The rest then follows from the proof of Proposition 7.3.3, *mutatis mutandis*, together with the explicit orientability-related hypothesis; in patricular, to prove finiteness and absolute continuity, one needs the noncommutative generalisation [4, Prop. 11.2.3] of [6, Lemma 3.3].

In fact, in light of the proof of Proposition 7.3.3, one could take Theorem 7.3.6 as a working reconstruction theorem for abstract noncommutative toric manifolds. However, the additional orientability-related hypothesis is decidedly awkward, indeed unnatural, and its removal is an immediate research priority. However, the author expects that this may well be somewhat tricky, given the delicacy of working with the Hochschild homology of deformation quantisations, including even the noncommutative 2-torus.

Bibliography

Le bibliografie sono necessarie sì, ma come i cimiteri.

— C. Dionisotti apud M. Durante apud M. Weiss,

Outline of the historical and comparative grammar of

Latin

- J. W. Barrett, Lorentzian version of the noncommutative geometry of the Standard Model of particle physics, J. Math. Phys. 48 (2007), no. 1, 012303, 7.
- [2] N. Berline, E. Getzler, and M. Vergne, Heat kernels and Dirac operators, Grundlehren Text Editions, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. Corrected reprint of the 1992 original.
- [3] M. Š. Birman, L. S. Koplienko, and M. Z. Solomjak, Estimates of the spectrum of a difference of fractional powers of selfadjoint operators, Izv. Vysš. Učebn. Zaved. Matematika 3(154) (1975), 3–10.
- [4] B. Blackadar, K-theory for operator algebras, 2nd ed., Mathematical Sciences Research Institute Publications, vol. 5, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [5] J. Boeijink and W. D. van Suijlekom, The noncommutative geometry of Yang-Mills fields, J. Geom. Phys. 61 (2011), no. 6, 1122-1134.
- [6] S. Brain, G. Landi, and W. D. van Suijlekom, Moduli spaces of instantons on toric noncommutative manifolds (2012), available at arXiv:1204.2148v1[math-ph].
- [7] S. Brain, B. Mesland, and W. D. van Suijlekom, Gauge theory and the unbounded Kasparov product. (in preparation).
- [8] B. Ćaćić, Moduli spaces of Dirac operators for finite spectral triples, Quantum groups and noncommutative spaces
 (M. Marcolli and D. Parashar, eds.), Aspects Math., vol. 41, Vieweg + Teubner, Wiesbaden, 2011, pp. 9–68.
- [9] B. Ćaćić, A reconstruction theorem for almost-commutative spectral triples, Lett. Math. Phys. 100 (2012), no. 2, 181–202, available at arXiv:1101.5908v4[math-ph].
- [10] B. Ćaćić, Real structures on almost-commutative spectral triples, Lett. Math. Phys. (in press).
- [11] B. Ćaćić, M. Marcolli, and K. Teh, Coupling of gravity to matter, spectral action and cosmic topology, J. Non-commut. Geom. (in press).
- [12] A. Carey and J. Phillips, Unbounded Fredholm modules and spectral flow, Canad. J. Math. 50 (1998), no. 4, 673–718
- [13] A. Carey, J. Phillips, and A. Rennie, Spectral triples: examples and index theory, Noncommutative geometry and physics: renormalisation, motives, index theory, ESI Lect. Math. Phys., Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2011, pp. 175–265.

- [14] P. S. Chakraborty and V. Mathai, The geometry of determinant line bundles in noncommutative geometry, J. Noncommut. Geom. 3 (2009), no. 4, 559–578.
- [15] A. H. Chamseddine and A. Connes, The spectral action principle, Comm. Math. Phys. 186 (1997), no. 3, 731–750.
- [16] A. H. Chamseddine and A. Connes, Inner fluctuations of the spectral action, J. Geom. Phys. 57 (2006), no. 1, 1–21
- [17] A. H. Chamseddine and A. Connes, The uncanny precision of the spectral action, Comm. Math. Phys. 293 (2010), no. 3, 867–897.
- [18] A. H. Chamseddine, A. Connes, and M. Marcolli, Gravity and the standard model with neutrino mixing, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 11 (2007), no. 6, 991–1089.
- [19] J. L. Cisneros-Molina, The η -invariant of twisted Dirac operators of S^3/Γ , Geom. Dedicata 84 (2001), no. 1-3, 207–228.
- [20] A. Connes, Noncommutative differential geometry, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 62 (1985), 257–360.
- [21] A. Connes, The action functional in noncommutative geometry, Comm. Math. Phys. 117 (1988), no. 4, 673–683.
- [22] A. Connes, Geometry from the spectral point of view, Lett. Math. Phys. 34 (1995), no. 3, 203–238.
- [23] A. Connes, Noncommutative geometry and reality, J. Math. Phys. 36 (1995), no. 11, 6194-6231.
- [24] A. Connes, Gravity coupled with matter and the foundation of non-commutative geometry, Comm. Math. Phys. 182 (1996), no. 1, 155–176.
- [25] A. Connes, Noncommutative geometry and the standard model with neutrino mixing, J. High Energy Phys. 11 (2006), 081, 19 pp. (electronic).
- [26] A. Connes, The spectral characterization of manifolds, Distinguished Lecture, Thematic Program on Operator Algebras (Fields Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada, May 28, 2008).
- [27] A. Connes, On the spectral characterization of manifolds, J. Noncommut. Geom. 7 (2013), no. 1, 1–82.
- [28] A. Connes and M. Dubois-Violette, Noncommutative finite-dimensional manifolds. I. Spherical manifolds and related examples, Comm. Math. Phys. 230 (2002), no. 3, 539–579.
- [29] A. Connes and G. Landi, Noncommutative manifolds, the instanton algebra and isospectral deformations, Comm. Math. Phys. 221 (2001), no. 1, 141–159.
- [30] A. Connes and M. Marcolli, Noncommutative geometry, quantum fields and motives, American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 55, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2008.
- [31] A. Connes and H. Moscovici, The local index formula in noncommutative geometry, Geom. Funct. Anal. 5 (1995), no. 2, 174–243.
- [32] L. Dąbrowski and G. Dossena, Product of real spectral triples, Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 8 (2011), no. 8, 1833–1848.
- [33] K. van den Dungen and W. D. van Suijlekom, Particle physics from almost-commutative spacetimes, Rev. Math. Phys. 24 (2012), no. 9, 1230004, 105.
- [34] I. M. Gel'fand and M. A. Naĭmark, On the embedding of normed rings into the ring of operators in Hilbert space, Mat. Sbornik 12 (1943), no. 2, 197–213.
- [35] P. B. Gilkey, Invariance theory, the heat equation, and the Atiyah-Singer index theorem, 2nd ed., Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1995.
- [36] J. M. Gracia-Bondía, J. C. Várilly, and H. Figueroa, Elements of noncommutative geometry, Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basler Lehrbücher, Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 2001.

- [37] N. Higson, The residue index theorem of Connes and Moscovici, Surveys in noncommutative geometry (N. Higson and J. Roe, eds.), Clay Math. Proc., vol. 6, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2006, pp. 71–126.
- [38] Masoud Khalkhali, Basic noncommutative geometry, EMS Series of Lectures in Mathematics, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2009.
- [39] B. Iochum, C. Levy, and D. Vassilevich, Spectral action beyond the weak-field approximation (2011), available at arXiv:1108.3749v1[hep-th].
- [40] B. Iochum, T. Schücker, and C. A. Stephan, On a classification of irreducible almost commutative geometries, J. Math. Phys. 45 (2004), no. 12, 5003-5041.
- [41] J.-H. Jureit and C. A. Stephan, On a classification of irreducible almost commutative geometries, a second helping, J. Math. Phys. 46 (2005), no. 4, 043512, 6.
- [42] J.-H. Jureit, T. Schücker, and C. A. Stephan, On a classification of irreducible almost commutative geometries III, J. Math. Phys. 46 (2005), no. 7, 072303, 9.
- [43] J.-H. Jureit and C. A. Stephan, On a classification of irreducible almost commutative geometries IV, J. Math. Phys. 49 (2008), no. 3, 033502, 11.
- [44] J.-H. Jureit and C. A. Stephan, On a classification of irreducible almost commutative geometries, V, J. Math. Phys. 50 (2009), no. 7, 072301, 15.
- [45] A. Kahle, Superconnections and index theory, Ph.D. dissertation, University of Texas at Austin, 2008.
- [46] T. Krajewski, Classification of finite spectral triples, J. Geom. Phys. 28 (1998), no. 1-2, 1-30.
- [47] N. P. Landsman, Notes on noncommutative geometry (May 2010), available at http://www.math.ru.nl/~landsman/ncg2010.pdf.
- [48] H. B. Lawson Jr. and M.-L. Michelsohn, Spin geometry, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1989.
- [49] S. Lord, A. Rennie, and J. C. Várilly, Riemannian manifolds in noncommutative geometry, J. Geom. Phys. 62 (2012), no. 7, 1611–1638.
- [50] M. Marcolli, E. Pierpaoli, and K. Teh, The spectral action and cosmic topology, Comm. Math. Phys. 304 (2011), no. 1, 125–174.
- [51] M. Marcolli, E. Pierpaoli, and K. Teh, The coupling of topology and inflation in noncommutative cosmology, Comm. Math. Phys. 309 (2012), no. 2, 341–369.
- [52] B. Mesland, Unbounded bivariant K-theory and correspondences in noncommutative geometry, J. Reine Angew. Math. (in press).
- [53] U. Otgonbayar, Local index theorem in noncommutative geometry, Ph.D. dissertation, The Pennsylvania State University, 2009.
- [54] R. J. Plymen, Strong Morita equivalence, spinors and symplectic spinors, J. Operator Theory 16 (1986), no. 2, 305–324.
- [55] M. Paschke and A. Sitarz, Discrete spectral triples and their symmetries, J. Math. Phys. 39 (1998), no. 11, 6191–6205.
- [56] I. Prokhorenkov and K. Richardson, Perturbations of Dirac operators, J. Geom. Phys. 57 (2006), no. 1, 297–321.
- [57] M. Reed and B. Simon, Methods of modern mathematical physics. II. Fourier analysis, self-adjointness, Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1975.
- [58] M. Reed and B. Simon, Methods of modern mathematical physics. IV. Analysis of operators, Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1978.

- [59] A. Rennie and J. C. Várilly, Reconstruction of manifolds in noncommutative geometry (2006), available at arXiv:math/0610418v4[math.OA].
- [60] M. A. Rieffel, Deformation quantization for actions of R^d, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 106 (1993), no. 506.
- [61] J. Roe, Elliptic operators, topology and asymptotic methods, 2nd ed., Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series, vol. 395, Longman, Harlow, 1998.
- [62] G. Roepstorff and C. Vehns, An introduction to Clifford supermodules (1999), available at arXiv:math-ph/9908029v2.
- [63] G. Roepstorff and C. Vehns, Generalized Dirac operators and superconnections (1999), available at arXiv: math-ph/9911006v1.
- [64] R. G. Swan, Vector bundles and projective modules, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 105 (1962), 264–277.
- [65] K. Teh, Nonperturbative spectral action of round coset spaces of SU(2), J. Noncommut. Geom. (in press).
- [66] F. J. Vanhecke, On the product of real spectral triples, Lett. Math. Phys. 50 (1999), no. 2, 157-162.
- [67] J. C. Várilly, Dirac operators and spectral geometry, with notes taken by P. Witkowski (January 2006), available at http://toknotes.mimuw.edu.pl/sem3/files/Varilly_dosg.pdf.
- [68] J. C. Várilly, An introduction to noncommutative geometry, EMS Series of Lectures in Mathematics, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2006.
- [69] M. Yamashita, Connes-Landi deformation of spectral triples, Lett. Math. Phys. 94 (2010), no. 3, 263-291.
- [70] D. Zhang, Projective Dirac operators, twisted K-theory and local index formula, Ph.D. dissertation, California Institute of Technology, 2011.